

Copyright © and Moral Rights for this thesis are retained by the author and/or other copyright owners. A copy can be downloaded for personal non-commercial research or study, without prior permission or charge. This thesis cannot be reproduced or quoted extensively from without first obtaining permission in writing from the copyright holder(s). The content must not be changed in any way or sold commercially in any format or medium without the formal permission of the copyright holders.

Note if anything has been removed from thesis.

Illustrations p25, 28, 48, 72 and 79

When referring to this work, the full bibliographic details must be given as follows:

Ranawana, D. V. (2011). The influence of the physical state and habitual mastication on the glycaemic response and satiety. PhD Thesis, Oxford Brookes University.

## THE INFLUENCE OF THE PHYSICAL STATE AND HABITUAL MASTICATION ON THE GLYCAEMIC RESPONSE AND SATIETY

**VIREN RANAWANA** 

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements of Oxford Brookes University for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

July 2011

#### Abstract

The escalating levels of obesity highlight the need to better understand the mechanisms underlying energy intake and energy regulation. The blood glucose response (GR) has been shown to significantly influence short term food intake and therefore energy balance. Regulating the GR is also important in diabetes and impaired glucose tolerance; conditions which are also closely linked with obesity. Poor glycaemic control has moreover been shown to increase risks of other chronic diseases such as cardiovascular disease (CVD). Factors affecting the GR will therefore impact both on energy regulation and chronic diseases. A large number of factors influence the GR. A complete understanding of all these variables is essential if successful regulation of the GR is to be achieved.

The studies presented in this thesis focused on two factors affecting the GR that have hitherto received little research attention. These are the physical state (liquid-sold nature) of food and habitual mastication (ingested particle size). The first study investigated the effects of the physical state and showed that it affected the shape and amplitude of the GR and insulin response (IR) curves but not the total metabolic response. The response pattern implied that liquids were satiating for a shorter length of time compared to solids. The subsequent study then investigated the effect of carbohydrate-based energy containing beverages on satiety and short-term food intake and found that they were detected by the physiological energy regulatory systems and suitably compensated for. However, there was a notable gender-wise variation in compensation efficiency. Whilst consuming a carbohydrate beverage does not

appear to affect short-term energy balance of males it could induce a positive energy balance in females.

Using both *in vitro* and *in vivo* models, other studies forming this thesis showed that the degree of particle size breakdown during habitual mastication influenced the magnitude and pattern of the GR. Therefore, habitual mastication appears to be a significant contributor to between-individual variations in the GR. It was noted, however, that these effects were only observed with rice but not spaghetti. The thesis also showed that salivary  $\alpha$ -amylase could potentially be a significant contributor to the GR, at least in those who spend a longer time masticating. The final study in the thesis showed further that the particle size of ingested food correlated inversely with the GR, IR and rate of gastric emptying. Differences in between-individual variations in the GR, IR, gastric emptying and post-gastric digestive aspects when ingesting food with varying particle sizes are also discussed.

#### Publications arising from the thesis

- Ranawana V & Henry CJ (2011). Liquid and solid carbohydrate foods: comparative effects on glycemic and insulin responses, and satiety. *Int J Food Sci Nutr* **62(1)**, 71-81. (Chapter 3)
- Ranawana DV & Henry CJ (2010). Are caloric beverages compensated for in the short-term by young adults? An investigation with particular focus on gender differences. *Appetite* **55**, 137-146. (Chapter 4)
- Ranawana V, Monro JA, Mishra S & Henry CJ (2010). Degree of particle size breakdown during mastication may be a possible cause of interindividual glycemic variability. *Nutr Res* **30**, 246-254. (Chapter 5)
- Ranawana V, Henry CJ & Pratt M (2010). Degree of habitual mastication seems to contribute to interindividual variations in the glycemic response to rice but not to spaghetti. *Nutr Res* **30**, 382-391. (Chapter 6)
- Ranawana DV & Henry CJK (2010). Degree of habitual mastication may be a possible cause of inter-individual variation in *in vivo* glycaemic response to whole cereals. *Proc Nutr Soc* **69(OCE6)**, E407. (Chapter 6)
- Ranawana V, Clegg M & Henry CJ (2011). The influence of post-masticatory factors on glycaemic variability. *Nutr Res* (accepted for publication and in press) (Chapter 7)

#### **Acknowledgments**

My heartfelt gratitude to Professor Jeya Henry without whom nothing would have been possible. Thank you Sir for helping, supporting and guiding me throughout and for being the best supervisor one could ask for. I'm also sincerely thankful to Dr Helen Lightowler for all her support and guidance.

I'm especially grateful to Dr Joan Gandy for kindly volunteering to undertake the tedious task of correcting the thesis. Thank you for your meticulous and constructive editing, your contribution made all the difference. My sincere thanks to Dr John Monro for his help and guidance with the *in vitro* studies.

Thank you so much to my lovely parents and brother for their complete and unconditional love and support throughout and to Mihiri for being there during the latter period of writing and making it a tolerable and pleasant period.

A huge thank you to my friends and colleagues at the Functional Food Centre at Oxford Brookes for their help, and for making the past three years an enjoyable experience full of good times (and good food!). I'm especially grateful to Megan Pratt and to Dr Miriam Clegg for their sincere help and support. I also appreciate the kind help extended to me by Dr Neil Heppell and Dr Patrick Esser.

Thank you to all the participants in the studies who uncomplainingly endured all that was thrown at them (and taken from them!), and to YouTube for keeping me company on many a gloomy day!

### Table of contents

Abstract	2
Publication	s arising from the thesis4
Acknowled	gments5
List of figur	res11
List of table	es14
Abbreviatio	ons15
Introductio	n 18
Chapter 1:	Literature review19
1.1	The obesity epidemic and its consequences
1.2	Energy balance22
1.2.1	Energy expenditure22
1.2.2	Energy Intake23
1.3	Short-term food intake regulation24
1.4	Food intake control in the brain29
1.5	Endocrine control of satiety29
1.5.1	The physiology of insulin and its role in glucose homeostasis and
	satiety32
1.6	Measuring satiety and food intake35
1.7	Blood glucose homeostasis40
1.8	The glycaemic response45
1.8.1	Impact on satiety45
1.8.2	Determinants of the glycaemic response50
1.9	The effect of the physical state of food and its impact on satiety
	and the glycaemic response55
1.9.1	The effect of liquid calories on satiety and food intake58
1.9.2	Effect of the physical state on the glycaemic response62
1.10	Food particle size and effects on the glycaemic response and
	satiety63
1.11	Mastication of foods, its measurement and effects on physiology
	and satiety65
1.11.1	Measurement of mastication71
1.11.2	Secretion and functions of saliva and its role in carbohydrate
	digestion72

1.12	Gastric emptying and its effects on satiety, glycaemic response	Э
	and insulin response74	4
Aims and O	bjectives80	D
Chapter 2:	Materials and Methods8	3
2.1	Introduction83	3
2.2	Section 1: Common methodologies83	3
2.2.1	Participant recruitment and preparation83	3
2.2.1.1	Anthropometric, body composition and blood pressure	е
	measurements85	5
2.2.1.2	Questionnaires used to vet participants86	6
2.2.2	Ethical approval86	6
2.2.3	Measurement of in vitro glycaemic potency	7
2.2.3.	1 Obtaining masticated rice samples for <i>in vitro</i> digestion8	7
2.2.3.	2 In vitro digestion8	7
2.2.3.	3 Analysis of sugar content in sample aliquots89	9
2.2.4	Measurement of the <i>in vivo</i> blood glucose response90	C
2.2.5	Measurement of the <i>in vivo</i> blood insulin response	2
2.2.6	Measurement of gastric emptying92	2
2.2.7	Measurement of subjective feelings of hunger and satiety93	3
2.2.8	Measurement of oral processing parameters94	4
2.2.9	Measurement of particle size distribution in masticated food9	5
2.2.10	Test food preparation9	7
2.2.10	0.1 Rice	7
2.2.10	0.2 Spaghetti95	7
2.2.11	Measurement of salivary α-amylase activity98	3
2.2.12	Statistical analyses	9
2.3	Part 2: Experiment-specific methods and protocols100	C
2.3.1	Study 1: Glycaemic response, insulin response and satiety of	of
	liquids and solids100	C
2.3.1.	1 Subjects	C
2.3.1.	2 Test foods10	1
2.3.1.	3 Study protocol102	2
2.3.1.	4 Statistical analyses103	3
2.3.2	Study 2: The effect of carbohydrate-based energy containing	g
	beverages on satiety and short term food intake103	3

2.3.2.1	I Subjects103
2.3.2.2	2 Treatment beverages104
2.3.2.3	3 Test meals106
2.3.2.4	107 Study protocol
2.3.2.5	5 Statistical analyses and data processing109
2.3.3	Study 3: In vitro studies investigating the effect of food particle
	size, salivary $\alpha\text{-amylase}$ activity and habitual mastication on
	glycaemic potency110
2.3.3.1	I In vitro digestibility of rice of different particle sizes110
2.3.3.2	2 In vitro digestibility of rice habitually masticated by individuals
	111
2.3.3.3	3 Statistical analyses112
2.3.4	Study 4: Habitual mastication and its impact on the in vivo
	glycaemic response
2.3.4.1	I Subjects113
2.3.4.2	2 Test foods113
2.3.4.3	3 Study protocol114
2.3.4.4	Statistical analyses114
2.3.5	Study 5: Between-individual variations in post-mastication
	digestion aspects and effects of ingested food particle size on
	glycaemic response, insulin response and gastric emptying 115
2.3.5.	Subjects115
2.3.5.2	2 Treatments116
2.3.5.3	3 Study protocol117
2.3.5.4	Statistical analyses118
Chapter 3:	Glycaemic response, insulin response and satiety of liquids
and solids	
3.1	Introduction
3.2	Materials and methods120
3.3	Results120
3.3.1	The glycaemic response120
3.3.2	The insulin response122
3.3.3	Subjective feelings of hunger123
3.4	Discussion and conclusion

Chapter 4:	The effect of carbohydrate-based energy containing
beverages of	on satiety and short-term food intake134
4.1	Introduction134
4.2	Materials and methods136
4.3	Results137
4.3.1	Energy intake137
4.3.2	Subjective feelings of hunger140
4.4	Discussion and conclusion142
Chapter 5:	In vitro studies investigating the effect of food particle size,
salivary α-a	amylase activity and habitual mastication on glycaemic
potency	150
5.1	Introduction150
5.2	Materials and methods152
5.3	Results152
5.3.1	Effect of rice particle size on <i>in vitro</i> digestibility152
5.3.2	Salivary $\alpha$ -amylase activity154
5.3.3	Particle size distribution in chewed rice155
5.3.4	In vitro digestibility of chewed rice157
5.4	Discussion and conclusion159
Chapter 6:	Habitual mastication and its impact on the <i>in vivo</i> glycaemic
response	
6.1	Introduction165
6.2	Materials and methods165
6.3	Results166
6.3.1	Mastication parameters166
6.3.2	Particle size distribution in masticated rice and spaghetti168
6.3.3	The glycaemic response169
6.3.4	Correlations between mastication parameters and glycaemic
	response170
6.4	Discussion and conclusion171
Chapter 7:	Between-individual variations in post-mastication digestion
aspects and	l effects of ingested food particle size on glycaemic response,
insulin resp	onse and gastric emptying178
7.1	Introduction178
7.2	Materials and methods181

7.3	Results182
7.3.1	Glycaemic response
7.3.2	Insulin response
7.3.3	Gastric emptying185
7.4	Discussion and conclusion186
Chapter 8:	Overall summary, conclusions and recommendations for
future work	
8.1	Overall summary and conclusions192
8.2	Recommendations for future work
Appendices	
Appendix 1	1: The Dutch eating behaviour questionnaire205
Appendix 2	2: The habitual physical activity questionnaire209
Appendix 3	3: The health questionnaire211
Appendix 4	4: Ethics and consent documents212
4.1.	Example of a University Research Ethics Committee (UREC)
	approval letter
Appendix 5	5: Example of visual analogue scales (VAS)214
Appendix 6	6: Details of test meals in experiment 2215
Appendix 7	7 Questionnaire for determining breakfast and snacking habits, and
	lunch preferences219
References	

## List of figures

Figure 1.1: The satiety cascade showing satiety and satiation progression over
time25
Figure 1.2: A schematic illustration of physiological signals regulating satiety 28
Figure 1.3: Schematic presentation of satiety and food intake measurement
experimental designs
Figure 1.4: Schematic presentation of a typical preload paradigm
Figure 1.5. Graphical representation of blood glucose homeostasis40
Figure 1.6: The application of the glucostatic theory to high and low GR foods
Figure 1.7: Muscles involved in mastication72
Figure 1.8: Gastric emptying time points79
Figure 2.1: The in vitro digestion system
Figure 2.2: The HemoCue® 201+ Glucose analyser and the Unistik® 3 single-
use lancing device91
Figure 2.3: Electrode placements on the cheeks for EMG measurement, and
the data acquisition unit95
Figure 2.4: Sieves used for separating masticated bolus to different size
categories96
Figure 2.5: An example of the buffet lunch presentation style107
Figure 2.6: Schematic presentation of study design108
Figure 3.1: Mean temporal blood glucose response curves for rice, spaghetti,
orange juice and the sugar-sweetened fruit drink122
Figure 3.2: Temporal insulin response curves for basmati rice, spaghetti,
orange juice and the sugar-sweetened fruit drink123

- Figure 3.3: Temporal curves for the subjective feelings of hunger, fullness, desire to eat and prospective food consumption for basmati rice, spaghetti, orange juice and the sugar-sweetened fruit drink. ......124
- Figure 4.2: Change in (mean) hunger sensations over time for each beverage.

- Figure 5.2 Particle size distribution of cooked rice masticated by 15 subjects.

- Figure 6.2 Mean particle size distribution of masticated rice and spaghetti . 169

## List of tables

Table 2.1:	Baseline measurements of participants in study 1100
Table 2.2:	Test foods used in the study investigating effects of physical state
	on glycaemia101
Table 2.3:	Baseline characteristics of participants in study 2104
Table 2.4:	Characteristics of treatment beverages in study 2105
Table 2.5:	Baseline characteristics of participants in study 3111
Table 2.6:	Baseline characteristics of participants in study 4113
Table 2.7:	Baseline characteristics of participants in study 5116
Table 3.1:	Peak and IAUC for the blood glucose and Insulin responses121
Table 3.3	Incremental areas under the curve for subjective feelings125
Table 4.1:	Energy intakes by males and females at lunch following preload
	and mean total energy intakes139
Table 5.1	Salivary $\alpha\text{-amylase}$ activity of the 15 participants154
Table 5.2	Percentage of rice particles and rapidly digestible starch content in
	each size category, in rice boluses masticated by 15 individuals to
	the point of swallowing156
Table 6.1:	Mastication dynamics data and particle size distribution of rice and
	spaghetti masticated by 11 participants168
Table 6.2:	Incremental areas under the curve (IAUC) and glycemic responses
	(GR) to rice and spaghetti170
Table 7.1:	Glycemic and insulin responses following the ingestion of large and
	small rice particles183
Table 7.2:	Gastric empting parameters for large and small rice particles186

## Abbreviations

ADP	Adenosine diphosphate
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
AUC	Area under the curve
BMI	Body mass index
ССК	Cholecystokinin
CFB	Change from baseline
CI	Confidence interval
cm	Centimeters
CNS	Central nervous system
CO <sub>2</sub>	Carbon dioxide
CV	Coefficient of variation
DNS	Dinitro salicylic
EE	Energy expenditure
EI	Energy intake
EMG	Electromyography
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organisation
g	Grams
GE	Gastric Emptying
GI	Glycaemic Index
GIP	Gastric inhibitory peptide
GLP-1	Glucagon-like peptide-1
GR	Glycaemic response
HCL	Hydrochloric acid
IAUC	Incremental area under the curve
IR	Insulin response
kcal	Kilocalories
kg	Kilograms
L	Litres
LH	Lateral hypothalamus
m	Meters
Μ	Moles
mL	Millilitres

mm	Millimeters	
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging	
MRP	Meal replacement products	
n	Number	
Na	Sodium	
NaHCO <sub>3</sub>	Sodium bicarbonate	
NaOH	Sodium hydroxide	
NHS	National Health Service	
nm	Nanometres	
OJ	Orange juice	
PYY	Peptide-YY	
r	Correlation coefficient	
R <sup>2</sup>	Regression coefficient	
RCS	Randomised control studies	
RDS	Rapidly digestible starch	
rpm	Revolutions per minute	
RTD	Ready to drink	
SAA	Salivary alpha amylase	
SD	Standard deviation	
SDS	Slowly digestible starch	
SE	Standard error	
SPSS	Statistical package for the social sciences	
SSB	Sugar-sweetened beverage	
SSS	Sensory specific satiety	
T <sub>asc</sub>	Ascension time	
T <sub>half</sub>	Half time	
T <sub>lag</sub>	Lag time	
T <sub>lat</sub>	Latency time	
U	Units	
UK	United Kingdom	
UREC	University Research Ethics Committee	
UV	Ultraviolet	
VAS	Visual Analogue Scales	
VH	Ventral hypothalamus	
WHO	World Health Organisation	

α	Alpha
μL	Microliters
μm	Micrometres
µmol	Micromoles
μU	Microunits

#### Introduction

The research work forming this thesis examined some factors influencing the glycaemic response to food in relation to satiety and energy regulation, namely the physical state (liquid-solid nature) and the effects of habitual mastication. The increasing prevalence of obesity and its unfavourable effects both at individual and population levels has prompted an increasing amount of research to focus on its causatives and control strategies. The regulation of the glycaemic response (GR) has been shown to be important both in the maintenance of energy balance and in the management of diabetes and related co-morbidities. Therefore, the findings in this thesis have practical significance in weight control, disease management and prevention.

The studies forming this thesis were carried out in the Functional Food Centre laboratories at Oxford Brookes University during the period January 2008-January 2011. The data is securely stored at the same location.

The thesis comprises of 8 chapters and begins with a literature review of the current state of the art (chapter 1). The materials, methods and protocols of all the experimental studies are described in the next chapter (2). This is followed by the five experimental study chapters (chapters 3-7) each consisting of an introduction and justification of the study, results and a detailed discussion of the results. The final chapter (8) summarises overall findings and conclusions, and lists recommendations for future work.

#### Chapter 1: Literature review

Following is a review of the available literature on the subject and begins by highlighting the increasing prevalence of obesity and its consequences on the health and well-being of the population. Since these are a result of a positive energy balance the review then deals with the intake side of the energy balance equation and the factors that influence short-term food intake. It then goes on to deal sequentially with satiety, factors affecting it, its measurement, the glycaemic response (GR), its impact on satiety and elements affecting it. The impact of the physical state of food (liquid-solid nature) and particle size on the GR and satiety are then reviewed followed by a description of the factors that affect particle size, namely, mastication and the oral processing phase. The review finally examines factors influencing gastric emptying time, its measurement and its relationship with the GR.

#### 1.1 The obesity epidemic and its consequences

In nature food is a scarce resource for all animal species, and humans are no exception. Having evolved as omnivorous hunter gatherers, humans survived in an uncertain environment where access to food was limited and depended on seasonal and climatic factors. Food availability therefore, oscillated between periods of plenty and dearth, and nutrient intake correspondingly alternated. The presence of energy storage tissue in the human body was crucial for this lifestyle, as it enabled the build-up of compensatory reserves during times of plenty, for usage during shortages. The principle challenge to survival was under-nutrition and lack of adequate food. The human body therefore is physiologically programmed to over-consume when food is abundant. Indeed,

the human body is more sensitive to energy deficits as it is the more critical condition with regards to survival (Friedman, 2008). As agriculture developed through the years food production increased markedly, making energy no longer a limited resource. Populations in developed countries consequently reached their genetic potential for linear growth and began to gain weight in relation to height (Caballero, 2007). The consumption of energy dense (the amount of energy per gram of food) foods and a more sedentary lifestyle exacerbated weight gain. The year 2000 was a landmark which saw the number of overweight individuals in the world exceed those that were underweight (Caballero, 2007).

Obesity is defined as the excess accumulation of fat in the adipose tissue to an extent where health may be adversely affected (WHO, 2000). It is characterised by a body mass index (BMI) greater than 30 kg/m<sup>2</sup> and those between 25-30 kg/m<sup>2</sup> are considered overweight (DH, 2006). The incidence of obesity and associated non-communicable diseases is increasing both around the world (James *et al.*, 2001), and in the UK (Rennie & Jebb, 2005). Although once an affliction limited to affluent countries, it is now rapidly rising in the urban sectors of low- and middle-income nations.

The global incidence of overweight and obese adults are estimated to be 1.6 billion and 400 million respectively (WHO, 2006), and these are projected to rise to 2.3 billion and 700 million by 2015. Similarly, approximately 20 million children under the age of five years are overweight or obese (WHO, 2006). Trends in the UK are no different, and prevalence has increased three fold since 1980 (Rennie & Jebb, 2005). In England, the percentage of obese adults

in 2007 was 24%, an overall increase of 15% since 1993 (NHS, 2009). In the same year 17% of boys and 16% of girls (aged 2-15 years) were also obese (NHS, 2009). Men showed a greater proclivity towards being overweight than women (41% compared to 32%). Although regional differences within England are not significant, a greater prevalence is seen in Wales and Scotland (Jebb *et al.*, 2004). The high rates of obesity also incur considerable expenses to the state, and the direct cost of its treatment in the UK in 2002 was an estimated  $\pounds$ 47 million, and an additional  $\pounds$ 1000 million for dealing with its indirect consequences (NHS, 2009).

Obesity has far-reaching consequences on health as it is associated with other co-morbidities such as diabetes, hypertension, coronary heart disease (CHD), osteoarthritis and cancer (Must *et al.*, 1999; Marks & Raskin, 2000; James *et al.*, 2001). The risks of developing type 2 diabetes mellitus increase significantly with obesity. Whilst obese women are 13 times more likely to develop diabetes, obese men are five times as likely (NHS, 2006). The incidence of diabetes is rising rapidly and global numbers which stood at 197 million in 2007 are expected to increase by over 100% to 420 million by 2025 (Hossain *et al.*, 2007). Obesity accounts for 60-90% of diabetes prevalence and is therefore the largest predictor of the latter (Anderson *et al.*, 2003). The maintenance of a stable blood glucose response (GR) and avoiding wide fluctuations is the primary objective in diabetes control and prevention (Anon., 1998). This is also the basis of all nutrition based interventions, a cornerstone in diabetes management and prevention (Kelley, 2003). Considerable research has been therefore carried out to determine food factors influencing the GR and

how they can be manipulated to achieve beneficial outcomes (Bjorck *et al.*, 1994; Vosloo, 2005).

Weight gain occurs as a result of a positive energy balance and it is therefore reasonable that any interventions must stem from the management of the intake and expenditure components of the energy balance equation.

#### 1.2 Energy balance

Energy balance is a term that encompasses the equilibrium between energy consumed and that expended. An adult is defined to be in energy balance if the difference between energy intake (EI) and expenditure (EE) is less than 150 kcal/day (Westerterp, 1994). Periods of negative and positive energy balance alternate in humans on a daily and weekly basis and these fluctuations are influenced by factors such as physical activity, number of meals, daily meal pattern, occupation, weather, hormonal cycles, food availability and seasonality (Westerterp, 1994). Humans characteristically demonstrate a sporadic eating pattern despite continuous energy expenditure, and the energy stores therefore play a crucial part in maintaining balance within this lifestyle (Strubbe, 1994).

#### 1.2.1 Energy expenditure

Energy expenditure (EE) in adults is made up of three principle components; basal metabolism, thermogenesis and physical activity (Levine, 2005), of which only the last can be voluntarily controlled.

The majority of EE goes towards basal metabolism (60-80%), which is the energy required for the body's basic physiological functions (Hill *et al.*, 2006). The second largest component is physical activity and its proportion can vary between 10-40% based on the lifestyle. The increase in EE due to food ingestion (diet induced thermogenesis [DIT]) is approximately 7-10% of the energy content of the diet (Hill *et al.*, 2006). Although growth is also considered a component of energy expenditure, it accounts for a small proportion in humans (approximately 1-2%) (FAO, 2001). The amount of energy expended by humans depend on factors such as body size and composition, age, sex, diet, climate, genetics, hormonal state, psychological state, disease and medication (FAO, 2001; Hill *et al.*, 2006).

#### 1.2.2 Energy Intake

Unlike EE which occurs through several channels EI is exclusively through food. The principal stimulus for eating is the need to maintain adequate energy pools in the body.

The precise mechanisms of long-term food intake regulation are yet to be confirmed. Several theories have been proposed and these include the energostat model, set-point hypothesis and the settling-zone theory (Polivy & Herman, 1987; Strubbe, 1994; Levitsky, 2002; Friedman, 2008). All these theories proposed mechanisms by which the body presumably regulates energy intake and safeguards against imbalances. However, the escalating levels of obesity suggest the failure or non-existence of these mechanisms.

Recent literature has placed considerable emphasis on the role of internal and external energy intake cues, also known as regulatory and non-regulatory controls of food intake respectively (Friedman, 2008). Whilst regulatory cues are associated with the internal physiological systems controlling food intake, non-regulatory cues relate to environmental factors such as food availability, palatability, and social aspects. It is speculated that non-regulatory factors take precedence over regulatory controls in the short term (Friedman, 2008). This is reasonable from an evolutionary perspective since humans evolved in an environment with scarce resources. It was essential for survival to 'feast' in times of plenty and build up stores for times of paucity. Humans therefore are programmed to overeat when food is aplenty. However, this may be a disadvantage in the present day (in high-income populations) where food is not a limited resource.

#### 1.3 Short-term food intake regulation

Short-term food intake is regulated by psycho-physiological mechanisms controlling appetite, satiety and satiation. Appetite is defined as the psychological desire to eat and is associated with the oro-sensory acceptability of a specific food (Yeomans & Bertenshaw, 2008). Eating will therefore occur only if appetising foods are available. Conversely, hunger is the subjective feeling that occurs when an individual wants to ingest food. It is the sensation that signals food deprivation to a degree that the next eating episode should be initiated. An individual will seek and eat an adequate amount of food only if both these stimuli are present.

The primary mechanisms that determine meal frequency and the quantity eaten on a daily basis are satiety and satiation. Satiety is the inhibition of the feelings of hunger and appetite in the post-meal phase (Vermunt *et al.*, 2003). Satiation in contrast is related to the termination of a meal as a result of inhibition of feelings of hunger and appetite during the meal. Therefore, satiation during a meal leads to termination of food intake and the commencement of the satiety phase. Whereas hunger and satiety are considered to be intrinsic feelings, appetite is often a learned response (Vermunt *et al.*, 2003). Both satiety and satiation are equally important, as together they determine total daily energy intake. A thorough grasp of the factors influencing these sensations is therefore required when determining strategies for managing energy intake.

Satiety and satiation are regulated by a complex series of mechanisms which begin when the food is consumed and continues after digestion and absorption. The factors determining satiety have been sequentially presented as a cascade by Blundell and colleagues (1994) (Figure 1.1). Post-meal satiety can be separated into two phases; the early and late, where the early phase is a result of sensory and cognitive factors associated with the food, and the late phase due to digestion and related biochemical signals.

Figure 1.1: The satiety cascade showing satiety and satiation progression over time (Blundell *et al.*, 1994)

Early phase satiation occurs as a response to oro-sensory stimulations to the food, the individual's current physiological state and previous experience with food (Hetherington et al., 2002). The amount eaten at a single sitting depends on many factors (Bellisle, 2003) and include the level of physical activity (King, 1998; Elder & Roberts, 2007), preference for the food that is available (Levitsky, 2008), portion size (Levitsky & Youn, 2004), size of and time from previous meal (Levitsky, 2008) and food variety (Rolls et al., 1981; Norton et al., 2006; Brondel et al., 2009). A large variety of food also minimises sensory specific satiety (SSS) and may cause overeating (Norton et al., 2006). This phenomenon (SSS) is defined as the gradual decrease in perceived pleasantness to a particular food when it is eaten continuously, which ultimately leads to the cessation of the eating episode (Rolls & McDermott, 1991). A single-dish meal therefore elicits a rapid SSS compared to courses or a buffet where the greater food variety suppresses SSS. The repeated presentation of the same food to individuals also results in a decrease in the quantity eaten at each progressive sitting, a phenomenon known as the monotony effect (Siegel & Pilgrim, 1958). Both monotony and SSS therefore reduce food intake at a meal independent of physiological hunger and satiety cues.

Psychological aspects play a significant part in food intake; emotions and moods (stress, depression, premenstrual dysphoria) have been shown to affect food intake of individuals in different ways (Gibson, 2006). Levitsky (2008) showed that social factors surrounding an eating episode such as the location and others present also affected meal size. The ambience, familiarity and comfort of the location, and the relationship with the others present determine individual consumption. Cultural acceptances also govern the quantity eaten at

meals; while some cultures encourage overeating, others dissuaded it. Similarly, some cultures regard being overweight an acceptable and sometimes desirable disposition and others frown on it. Such social ideologies will influence the quantity of food eaten by individuals.

The cognitive aspects of the satiety cascade occur predominantly due to previous experiences with food (Blundell & Tremblay, 1995). The quantity of a particular food eaten at a single sitting by an individual may be habitual i.e. as accustomed portion sizes. Brunstrom and Rogers (2009) proposed that individuals determine food portion sizes based on expected satiation, which is quantified by previous experiences. In agreement, other studies have shown that people judge the quantity they can eat based on preconceived units such as slices, bowls, glasses, unit numbers etc (Rolls *et al.*, 2004). Consuming a quantity corresponding to their 'ideal' portion size will therefore produce a feeling of complete satiation while smaller or larger portions will be psychologically perceived as under- and over-eating respectively.

Post-ingestive satiety occurs due to the presence of food in the stomach and is stimulated by gastric distension and food composition (de Graaf *et al.*, 2004). Feedback on these aspects is sent to the hypothalamus via afferent nerve pathways. The earliest work in this area was carried out by Geliebter and colleagues (1988). Using water-filled balloons inserted into the stomach, they demonstrated that gastric volume was strongly correlated to the quantity of food eaten at a meal. In agreement, recent work suggested that the volume of food consumed may be more important in inducing satiety than its energy density (Rolls & Bell, 1999; Rolls *et al.*, 1999; Flood & Rolls, 2007; Rolls, 2009).

These studies showed a proportional decrease in subsequent food intake when the volume of the iso-caloric portions increased. Santangelo *et al.* (1998) fed healthy young men iso-caloric portions of food differing in consistency and observed a greater satiety for the treatments that spent a relatively longer time in the stomach. These findings also suggest that a slower rate of gastric emptying will enhance satiety as it would increase gastric holding time. Indeed, one study found an inverse correlation between gastric emptying and satiety (Villar *et al.*, 1981).

The post-absorptive phase of satiety is the physiologically important stage as it occurs during and after digestion. It determines the long-term satiety following a meal and is the combined result of hormones, blood glucose levels, gut motility and actions of the central nervous system (Figure 1.2). These individual aspects are further discussed below. Broadly, the physiological mechanisms controlling satiety can be categorised as episodic and tonic. Episodic mechanisms produce short-term signals that occur immediately following food consumption, and tonic mechanisms generate long-term signals corresponding to body energy stores (Benelam, 2009).

Figure 1.2: A schematic illustration of physiological signals regulating satiety

Source: Benelam et al, 2009

#### 1.4 Food intake control in the brain

Feeding and satiety are primarily controlled by the hypothalamus (Benelam, 2009) in which the lateral hypothalamus (LH) is the feeding centre and the ventral hypothalamus (VH), the satiety centre (Strubbe, 1994). All food intake regulation pathways can be broadly grouped into either those that are orexigenic (induce food intake) or anorexigenic (inhibit food intake). Both pathways function through direct neuronal signals from the gastro-intestinal tract, pancreas and adipose tissue, relative concentrations of glucose, fatty acids and other metabolic fuels in blood and concentration of certain hormones (Friedman, 2008). Both tonic and episodic signals act directly though receptors in the brain, or indirectly through other appetite control areas in the brain via the nervous system (Benelam, 2009).

#### 1.5 Endocrine control of satiety

Hormones are thought to play a significant role in satiety, notably with the tonic regulation of food intake (Strader & Woods, 2005). As food enters the digestive system numerous hormones are secreted into the blood from the adipose tissue, pancreas and intestine and these include cholecystokinin (CCK), bombesin, ghrelin, insulin, Incretins (glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1), peptide YY (PYY) and gastric inhibitory peptide (GIP)), somatostatin, enterostatin, leptin, orexin, obestatin and nesfatin-1 (de Graaf *et al.*, 2004; Stanley *et al.*, 2005; Zhang *et al.*, 2005; Oh *et al.*, 2006). The hormones relatively more important in satiety regulation are believed to be leptin, insulin, ghrelin and incretins (de Graaf *et al.*, 2004).

Leptin is secreted from the adipose tissue and its plasma concentrations have been shown to inversely correlate with food intake and energy expenditure. (Trayhurn & Bing, 2006). Blood leptin concentrations correlate positively with body fat stores and therefore provide information on the magnitude of body fat reserves to the hypothalamus (de Graaf *et al.*, 2004; Stanley *et al.*, 2005). Low leptin concentrations may therefore induce greater food intake and adiposity. The episodic effects of leptin on short-term appetite and satiety however remain equivocal. One study showed that blood leptin concentrations were not correlated with appetite before and after meals in individuals in energy balance (Joannic *et al.*, 1998). Yet a strong negative correlation was observed in individuals not in energy balance (Chin-Chance *et al.*, 2000). Although leptin may be an important regulator of long-term energy balance, its role as a shortterm biomarker of satiety remains to be verified.

Ghrelin, which is secreted in the fundic region of the stomach is the only recorded episodic orexigenic agent (stimulates short-term food intake and a positive energy balance) (Gil-Campos *et al.*, 2006). Ghrelin concentrations increase before a meal and decrease afterwards, in a pattern inverse to that of other satiety hormones (Cummings *et al.*, 2001). It has also been implicated in decreasing energy expenditure and increasing adipogenesis (Cummings *et al.*, 2001). Circulating ghrelin levels are inversely correlated with adiposity and anorectic and obese individuals therefore have high and low plasma levels respectively (Stanley *et al.*, 2005). An inverse relationship between plasma glucose and ghrelin concentrations was observed by Shiiya *et al* (2002) when subjects were given glucose loads, but no change in ghrelin levels when an equal volume of water was given. This suggests that ghrelin secretion does not

occur as a result of stomach distension and is stimulated by blood glucose levels. A significant inverse correlation between ghrelin concentrations and subjective feelings of appetite has also been observed (Blom *et al.*, 2003) which suggests a notable influence of this hormone on short term energy intake.

Following observations that the insulin response to orally administered glucose was greater than to an intravenous challenge, a group of insulin secretagogues named incretins were discovered (Drucker, 2006). This group consists of GIP, GLP-1 and PYY. The first incretin to be identified was GIP and this is produced in duodenal and jejunal enteroendocrine K cells. Whilst the predominant stimulus for its secretion is food intake, lowest and highest concentrations of it are observed in the fasted and postprandial stages respectively (Drucker & Nauck, 2006). Both GLP-1 and PYY are secreted from the enteroendocrine L cells of the intestinal mucosa (Drucker & Nauck, 2006). Since the majority of the L cells are located in the distal end of the gut and GLP-1 and PYY responses are seen soon after a meal, it is speculated that the initial secretion of these hormones is neurally mediated, whilst the latter phase is stimulated by nutrients (Teff & Kapadia, 2008). Simple carbohydrates and fats are the most potent stimulators of GLP-1 and proteins appear to have little effect (Teff & Kapadia, 2008). Together, GLP-1 and GIP account for nearly half of the postprandial insulin response (De Leon et al., 2006; Drucker, 2006). Additionally, GLP-1 inhibits glucagon secretion, decreases liver glucose synthesis, slows gastric emptying, reduces appetite and induces satiety via the vagal nervous system (Drucker & Nauck, 2006; Teff & Kapadia, 2008). The hormone PYY is co-secreted with GLP-1 and concentrations of it

proportionately increase with the caloric and lipid content in the meal (Teff & Kapadia, 2008). It inhibits the release of neuropeptide Y, a strong appetite stimulant from the central nervous system (CNS) (de Graaf *et al.*, 2004). Externally administered PYY significantly reduced 24-hour food intake and proportionately affected subjective feelings of satiety and hunger (Batterham *et al.*, 2002; Batterham *et al.*, 2003) suggesting a possible role in the longer term regulation of satiety. Fasting concentrations of PYY showed a significant negative correlation with body mass index indicating a relationship of this hormone with adiposity and therefore long-term energy balance (de Graaf *et al.*, 2004). Similar to GIP and GLP-1, the relative amounts of carbohydrate, protein and fat in a meal also influence PYY secretion (Adrian *et al.*, 1985).

# 1.5.1 The physiology of insulin and its role in glucose homeostasis and satiety

Insulin is one of the most studied hormones in the context of food intake and is secreted from the  $\beta$  cells in the pancreatic islets of Langerhans. A small quantity is also produced in the brain (Gerozissis, 2008). The daily output of insulin by the pancreas is approximately 40-50 Units (15-20% of pancreatic insulin stores) (Keim *et al.*, 2006) and is secreted in response to blood glucose concentrations (Woods *et al.*, 2006) and incretin hormones (de Graaf *et al.*, 2004; Drucker, 2006) in a dose dependant manner. Carbohydrate is the most potent macronutrient secretagogue, protein and fats have mild and no influence respectively (Teff & Kapadia, 2008). Blood glucose directly stimulates the  $\beta$  cells to produce insulin in a dose dependant manner (Henquin, 2000). The glucose enters the cell by facilitated diffusion and undergoes oxidative glycolysis which increases the ATP content in the cell and therefore the

ATP:ADP ratio. A higher ratio subsequently causes the ATP-sensitive K<sup>+</sup> channels to close and the voltage-operated  $Ca^{2+}$  channels to open. The resulting increase in the intra-cellular free  $Ca^{2+}$  concentration stimulates insulin release by exocytosis (Henquin, 2000).

Insulin lowers blood glucose levels by facilitating its uptake into insulin-sensitive tissue (Keim *et al.*, 2006). It also stops the production of glucose by the liver, stimulates glycogen production and inhibits glucagon secretion. Food factors appear to influence the magnitude of the insulin response (IR). Lee and Wolever (1998) observed that the IR to glucose, sucrose, fructose and bread were similar, although as the carbohydrate portion increased, a relatively greater increase in the IR was observed compared with the blood glucose response (GR). The starch structure also influences the IR, and one study showed that amylose produces a smaller IR than amylopectin, despite both foods producing a similar GR (Behall *et al.*, 1988). Similarly Juntunen *et al.* (2002) found that the insulin responses to rye breads and pasta were lower than that observed for white wheat bread, despite all the foods eliciting a similar GR. The IR to a food therefore appears to depend more on its form and chemical structure than on fibre content or food type.

The sight and smell of food also stimulates insulin production (Sjostrom *et al.*, 1980; Powley & Berthoud, 1985; Teff, 2000), indicating the psycho-sensory aspect to its expression (cephalic phase). The cephalic phase represents physiological responses by the body to the sight, thought and smell of food, and is characterized by a rise in hormone levels, notably insulin (Teff, 2000). The insulin released during this phase (which lasts for approximately 10

minutes) is important for glucose tolerance as it prepares the body against extreme glucose excursions prior to a meal (Ahren & Holst, 2001). A strong negative correlation between cephalic phase insulin release and the initial GR has been repeatedly observed (Del Prato, 2003) which demonstrates the importance of early-phase insulin secretion on glucose homeostasis.

Insulin has also been implicated in the regulation of circulating leptin levels (Trayhurn & Bing, 2006). Reciprocally, leptin stimulates insulin secretion (Houseknecht *et al.*, 1998) and the two hormones therefore function together to regulate energy stores and balance. Since insulin levels therefore are an indirect indicator of energy stores, the brain interprets low levels as evidence of a negative energy balance and causes the activation of orexigenic mechanisms as seen in diabetes (Schwartz *et al.*, 2000).

Elevated blood insulin concentrations increase satiety and suppress food intake in the short term (Holt & Miller, 1995; de Graaf *et al.*, 2004; Stanley *et al.*, 2005; Anderson *et al.*, 2006; Woods *et al.*, 2006; Flint *et al.*, 2007). An early prospective study conducted on Pima Indians determined the relationship between insulin and weight gain over three years and found that low insulin secretion was an independent biomarker of weight gain (Schwartz *et al.*, 1995). Circulating insulin levels therefore affect both short and long term energy balance. Animal studies have shown that short term food intake is affected when insulin is injected into the portal vein (VanderWeele, 1994), brain (Gerozissis, 2004; Woods, 2009) and when insulin receptors in the brain are disrupted (Obici *et al.*, 2002). Insulin deficient animals were also observed to be hyperphagic, and small doses of insulin injected to the brain reversed this effect

(Woods *et al.*, 2003). The satiating effects of insulin therefore appear to be through its effects on the brain.

Conversely, other studies utilizing euglycaemic and hyperglycaemic clamp methods found that food intake was not influenced by insulin when blood glucose was kept constant (Chapman et al., 1998; de Graaf et al., 2004) which suggests that the blood glucose response is the principle instigator of satiety. In agreement, Rodin et al. (1985) found that hyperinsulinaemia, independent of plasma glucose, paradoxically increased food intake. However these studies were conducted using exogenous insulin and require cautious interpretation. Studies investigating the effects of endogenous insulin reported an appetitesuppressing effect in lean (de Graaf et al., 2004), but not obese (Speechly & Buffenstein, 2000; de Graaf et al., 2004; Flint et al., 2007) subjects. These findings may suggest that the satiogenic properties of insulin are dysfunctional in overweight subjects. Obese individuals however demonstrate more pronounced insulin secretion (Polonsky et al., 1988b) and subdued clearance rates (Polonsky et al., 1988a) and therefore have larger circulating levels compared to lean subjects. Obesity is also characterized by greater leptin and lower incretin levels compared to lean individuals (Schwartz et al., 2000; Verdich et al., 2001). These differences may be adversely influencing insulin induced satiety in the obese.

#### 1.6 Measuring satiety and food intake

The methods used to measure satiety and food intake have been reviewed elsewhere (Hill *et al.*, 1995; Livingstone *et al.*, 2000; Benelam, 2009). Since satiety is influenced by physiological, psychological, cultural and environmental
aspects a series of factors need consideration during its measurement. A quandary when measuring satiety is the degree of control that must be exerted in the study design (Figure 1.3). Experimental conditions must be finely controlled within a laboratory setting if specific mechanisms and small differences are to be detected. However, results of such studies have little practical significance and application. To obtain practically useful satiety data, studies must be conducted in a free living state, where the degree of control is relaxed (Hill *et al.*, 1995). The outcomes of these studies however are less reliable due to the poor levels of control. Based on the hypothesis tested therefore, the study design is usually a compromise between these two ends. The sample size required for adequate statistical power also depends on where the study lies within this range.



Figure 1.3: Schematic presentation of satiety and food intake measurement experimental designs

A within-subject crossover design is recommended for satiety studies, as the subjects then serve as their own controls, thus minimising both within-and between-individual variations (Livingstone *et al.*, 2000). In order to remove bias and preconceived expectations the subjects need to be blinded. In order to obtain a homogenous sample, the participant pool must be carefully vetted for physiological and behavioural confounders such as age, gender, body weight,

habitual diet, dietary restraint, eating disorders, psychopathology, eating attitudes, physical activity, menstrual cycle, smoking and weight control history (Livingstone *et al.*, 2000; Benelam, 2009). The design must also standardise the study setting to minimise social and environmental effects (Levitsky, 2008).

Satiety manifests both psychologically and physiologically and a good experimental design should therefore include techniques to collect data from both these aspects. This is accomplished by obtaining data on subjective feelings of satiety (psychological) and actual food intake (physiological) (Hill *et al.*, 1995). Additionally, biomarkers of satiety (hormones, plasma glucose) are measured (de Graaf *et al.*, 2004).

The standard method for measuring subjective feelings of hunger, appetite and satiety is visual analogue scales (VAS) (Raben *et al.*, 1995; Flint *et al.*, 2000; Stubbs *et al.*, 2000). This is a psychometric tool that takes the form of a straight line (100 mm) anchored at either end with opposing answers to a specific question. Corresponding to how the participants subjectively feel, they make a mark on the line. The specific questions asked include, 'how hungry do you feel?', 'how full do you feel?', 'how strong is your desire to eat?' and 'how much food do you think you can eat?' (Hill & Blundell, 1982). Advantages of VAS are that they are easy, quick and cheap to use, simple to analyse, and in a standardised format (Stubbs *et al.*, 2000). Their accuracy and reproducibility however depends on aspects such as sample size, participant training, study protocol and design, physiological and psychological variables, and external factors such as physical activity, weather, climate and previous meal characteristics (Flint *et al.*, 2000).

inevitable result of underlying physiological mechanisms, but an individual's interpretation of their sensations (introspection), a precise correlation between psychometric data and actual feeding behaviour cannot always be expected (Stubbs *et al.*, 2000). Under controlled within-subject conditions however, and when used in conjunction with other methods VAS provide useful data regarding the psychological aspects of satiety.

Conversely, observing actual food intake gives a better measure of appetite and satiety reflective of physiological cues. Food intake in humans however, is a very complex process, and as discussed earlier, is influenced by environmental, psychological and social factors. In order to correct for all these variables studies measuring food intake are usually conducted in a laboratory setting (Benelam, 2009). Within controlled conditions the subjects are given an ad libitum test meal and the choice and quantity of food eaten is covertly measured. This is managed by adopting methods like unobtrusive observation, video recording, providing fixed portions, purpose-built instruments (Universal Eating Monitor), liquid food reservoirs, pumps and food dispensing machines (Hill et al., 1995). The energy and macronutrient content in the quantity of food eaten and the percentage compensation (relative to the control) is then calculated for the different treatments (Cecil et al., 2005). A cheaper alternative to providing a test meal is the use of food diaries/records which can be used to record past food intake by recall, consumption during a meal or following a treatment (Hill et al., 1995). The obvious disadvantage of diaries and records is that the data is self-reported and therefore unreliable.

The standard study design used to measure short-term food intake regulation is based on the classical preload paradigm developed in the 1960s (Livingstone *et al.*, 2000). This involves the subject being given precisely prepared test and control foods that have been balanced in all respects (volume, texture sensory aspects, macronutrient composition) except for the attribute tested (Livingstone *et al.*, 2000; Benelam, 2009). Following the preload, data from VAS and biological samples for quantifying biomarkers are obtained at regular intervals. An *ad libitum* test meal is subsequently provided where food intake is unobtrusively recorded. The time interval between the preload and test meal, and the length of time during which measurements are obtained depend on the study objectives and previous research findings. A archetypal preload design is illustrated in Figure 1.4 and is typical of that used in the studies that make up the current thesis.



Figure 1.4: Schematic presentation of a typical preload paradigm.

\*Visual analogue scales

## 1.7 Blood glucose homeostasis

The blood glucose concentration is a dynamic but finely regulated entity in the human body. In healthy individuals the post-absorptive/fasting concentration is maintained between 4-6 mmol/L (Van den Berghe *et al.*, 2009). Both hypoand hyperglycaemia have been shown to adversely affect health and wellbeing (Davidson, 2004). Glucose is the fuel for the brain and red blood cells and a constant supply in the blood is therefore critically important. The blood glucose concentration is regulated by balancing the rate of food consumption and intestinal absorption of dietary carbohydrates, rate of removal and release of glucose by the liver, rate of uptake of glucose by peripheral tissue and rate of loss and synthesis by the kidney (Nordlie *et al.*, 1999). The apparent blood glucose concentration is therefore dependant upon all these factors (Figure 1.5).



Figure 1.5. : Graphical representation of blood glucose homeostasis

In the fasted and post-absorptive states blood glucose homeostasis is maintained by the regulation of hepatic and renal glucose production and the amount of glucose taken up predominantly by non-insulin-dependant tissue (nervous system, red blood cells, skin, smooth muscles etc) (Cherrington, 1999). In the postprandial state glucose homeostasis is maintained by controlling the rate of glucose appearance from the digestive system and the uptake by non-insulin-dependant tissue, peripheral tissue (skeletal muscle and adipocytes), kidney and the liver. In the postprandial hyperglycaemic state hepatic production ceases and tissues exclusively utilise glucose derived from the food (Moore *et al.*, 2003).

The appearance of glucose in the blood is from either exogenous (digestion of food and absorption) or endogenous (liver and kidney) sources (Stumvoll *et al.*, 1995; Corssmit *et al.*, 2001). When a carbohydrate is ingested liver glucose synthesis is suppressed and splanchnic and tissue glucose uptake is stimulated. Glucose absorbed from the intestine first travels into the liver via the portal vein where it is redistributed into storage (glycogen), energy production and release into plasma glucose (Woerle *et al.*, 2003). The apparent glucose concentrations in the plasma will therefore depend on how much is held back by the liver for glycolysis and glycogenesis (synthesis of glycogen from glucose). The quantity retained by the liver would depend on the magnitude of prevailing ATP and glycogen stores in the body. It is estimated that approximately 33% of oral glucose is retained by the liver (Cherrington, 1999; Moore *et al.*, 2003). The principle mechanisms by which the liver regulates blood glucose homeostasis are glycogenesis (storage and uptake of glucose), glycogenolysis (synthesis of glucose from glycogenesis concents) and gluconeogenesis

(synthesis of glucose from non-glycogen sources) (Nordlie *et al.*, 1999). These processes are auto-regulated by enzymes. The activity of the two enzymes specific for gluconeogenesis, phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase and fructose-1.6-biphosphatase are controlled by the glycolytic enzymes pyruvate kinase and 6-phosphofructo-1-kinase. Similarly, the activity of the glycogenolytic enzyme glycogen phosphorylase is modulated by the glycogenic enzyme glycogen synthase. Additionally, the enzyme glucose-6-phosphatase catalyses the terminal steps in gluconeogenic and glycogenolytic pathways, and its activity is controlled by the glycolytic enzyme glucokinase. The crossinteractions of all these enzymes collectively produce an auto-regulatory system for blood glucose control.

Although the liver has been largely considered the primary organ for maintaining glucose homeostasis, recent work indicates that the kidney plays an equally important role. In the post-absorptive state the kidney has been shown to account for up to 25% of systemic glucose production (Stumvoll *et al.*, 1997). The kidney produces glucose primarily via gluconeogenesis and appears to be as important as the liver in this respect. Lactate, glycerol and glutamine are the most important gluconeogenic renal precursors (Stumvoll *et al.*, 1997). Conversely the kidney is also important in the uptake of glucose and has been shown to absorb 10-20% of the circulating glucose (Stumvoll *et al.*, 1995; Cherrington, 1999). Therefore, similar to the liver, the kidney plays a significant part in post-absorptive glucose homeostasis.

Glucose in the blood is taken up by nervous tissue for meeting energy needs. Although the metabolic rate of the brain has been shown to be relatively

constant during physiological alterations of cerebral activity, the rate of energy metabolism in discrete parts of the brain may differ depending on the state of functional activity (Sokoloff, 1977; Hawkins *et al.*, 1979). Red blood cells also utilise glucose as their primary energy source. Together, the nervous system and red blood cells account for approximately 64% of glucose utilisation in the post-absorptive state (Cherrington, 1999).

Excess glucose in the plasma is taken up by peripheral skeletal and adipose tissue, the specific mechanisms by which are not yet completely understood (Moore et al., 2003). However, evidence strongly suggests that it is through the action of insulin. Insulin stimulates the translocation of the GLUT-4 glucose transporter to the muscle plasma membrane and facilitates the diffusion of glucose into the muscle. The absorbed glucose is either converted to glycogen following phosphorylation into glucose-6-phosphate or undergoes glycolysis for energy production. The majority of glucose absorption in the post-absorptive state occurs in non-insulin-dependant tissue whilst the bulk of the glucose in the post-prandial state occurs in the insulin-dependant muscles (Kelley et al., 1988). Therefore insulin plays an important role in maintaining post-prandial glucose homeostasis. Exercise induces greater glucose uptake by stimulating the translocation of GLUT-4 (Moore et al., 2003). In addition, increased Ca<sup>2+</sup> and Nitric oxide have also been proposed as mediators of exercise induced glucose uptake. The degree of physical activity will therefore influence glucose homeostasis.

Hormones play a significant role in orchestrating glucose homeostasis. As described above, insulin stimulates glucose uptake by peripheral tissues. It also

suppresses endogenous glucose production (Moore *et al.*, 2003). Conversely, glucagon which is produced in the  $\alpha$ -cells of the pancreas stimulates the conversion of glycogen to glucose during hypoglycaemic conditions. It further safeguards against hypoglycaemia by regulating gluconeogenesis (Cherrington *et al.*, 1978). Gucagon like peptide-1 has been suggested to significantly influence glucose homeostasis as it stimulates insulin secretion during hyperglycaemia, suppresses glucagon production and slows gastric emptying (Perfetti & Merkel, 2000). It has further been implicated in stimulating skeletal muscle glucose uptake (Moore *et al.*, 2003). Adrenal hormones (cortisol and adrenaline) have also been shown to increase plasma glucose levels and affect glucose metabolism (Hakanson *et al.*, 1986; Khani & Tayek, 2001). Therefore, stress and related states will influence blood glucose homeostasis.

Thus, it is evident that the regulation of the blood glucose concentration is a complex process that involves many organs, enzymes, hormones and their inter-relationships. A good understanding of the mechanisms by which the blood glucose concentration is controlled is needed when conducting GR research. Controlling for participant characteristics and adopting a within-subject controlled design could minimise the influence of these variables when conducting GR research. However, their confounding effects on treatment outcomes cannot be discounted entirely.

### 1.8 The blood glucose response

#### 1.8.1 Impact on satiety

The GR refers to the changes that can be observed in the blood glucose concentration following the consumption of a carbohydrate food. The earliest recorded classification of carbohydrates was as simple (mono- and disaccharides) and complex (polysaccharides), and work in the early 1920s showed that the former induced hyperglycaemia at a faster rate than polysaccharides in dogs (Allen, 1920). Later studies confirmed that equal portions of different types of carbohydrates influenced the GR in different ways (Crapo et al., 1977; Schauberger et al., 1977). Although it was earlier thought that these differential effects were due to fibre (Wolever, 2006) subsequent studies showed that other factors (independent of the fibre content) were also responsible for these differences (Jenkins et al., 1981b). Since glucose is the primary form of energy for the brain it is one of the most precisely regulated substrates in the human body. A steady concentration of it is maintained in the blood throughout the day by managing exogenous (food) and endogenous (liver) sources of carbohydrate (Keim et al., 2006). Blood glucose concentrations rise above normal levels following a carbohydrate-containing meal and are rapidly cleared by the action of insulin. The rise in glucose following a meal also causes endogenous glucose production to cease (Keim et al, 2006).

According to the energostatic theory, meal initiation occurs when the brain perceives an energy deficit (Friedman, 2008). This was first observed as a decline in blood glucose levels, leading Mayer (1953) to propose the glucostatic theory. It stated that hunger resulted when critical areas in the brain reduced

their glucose utilisation, and that, increased glucose utilisation by these same critical brain areas led to satiation and cessation of eating. Mayer suggested that decreased glucose utilisation (metabolic hypoglycaemia), or "the point at which peripheral arteriovenous differences in blood glucose becomes negligible and glucose is no longer entering metabolisable cells," was the cue for food intake. Since then considerable research has been carried out to examine the validity of the hypothesis (Stunkard & Wolff, 1956; Van Itallie, 1990). More recent work on the effect of blood glucose on food intake has been carried out by Campfield and colleagues (Smith & Campfield, 1993; Campfield et al., 1996; Campfield & Smith, 2002). Using a cholinergic agonist to induce declines in blood glucose in rats, Smith and Campfield (1993) continuously recorded blood glucose and insulin levels, and spontaneous food intake. The authors observed a pattern where spontaneous food intake consistently occurred following a brief dip and subsequent rise in blood glucose. This was then evaluated in humans (Campfield et al, 1996). Using healthy subjects blinded from food and time cues the authors observed spontaneous food intake following brief transient declines in blood glucose similar to that observed in rats. These trends were confirmed in healthy subjects in other studies which observed blood glucose response patterns and spontaneous eating following carbohydrate and fat preloads (Melanson et al., 1999c) and fat, sugar and aspartame preloads (Melanson et al., 1999b).

The above authors went on to investigate these patterns under exercise conditions and found that meal initiation occurred with transient declines in blood glucose only if subjects were not glycogen depleted (Melanson *et al.*, 1999a). Similar outcomes were observed in another study where no patterns

between blood glucose and time-blinded food intake were observed in overweight men in negative energy balance (Kovacs *et al.*, 2002). This suggests that glucostatic mechanisms function only in a normal physiological state.

However, these findings do not definitively confirm a causal relationship between the GR and food intake. Indeed it may be other factors stimulated by the GR that eventually impact on food intake. In a meta-analysis of seven studies Flint *et al.* (2007) found that insulin but not glucose was associated with short-term appetite regulation in normal subjects. However, since the blood glucose response is the single largest stimulator of insulin secretion it is also the primary instigator for these subsequent metabolic reactions.

Food intake occurs due to a transient decrease in the GR, and therefore maintaining consistent and elevated blood glucose levels following a meal delays the time until the next meal and extends satiety (Chaput & Tremblay, 2009). This was demonstrated by Anderson *et al.* (2002) who observed food intake 60 minutes after the ingestion of iso-carbohydrate (75 g) portions of glucose, polycose<sup>TM</sup>, sucrose, amylopectin, fructose-glucose and amylose. They reported a lower subsequent food intake following the drinks eliciting a greater GR (glucose, polycose and sucrose). Recently, Bornet *et al.* (2007) reviewed 32 studies investigating the impact of the GR on satiety and concluded that foods with a low GR were more satiating than those with a high GR. Although this observation appears to disagree with that of Anderson *et al.* (2002), both reports showed that an elevated GR did induce satiety. The differences were based on the pattern of the GR curve (Figure 1.5). A highly digestible

carbohydrate food causes a large initial blood glucose peak and an accompanying insulin surge which subsequently causes a rapid reversion of the blood glucose level back to baseline. A slowly digestible carbohydrate conversely produces a lower GR and IR but also one that sustains above baseline for a longer time period. Based on the glucostatic hypothesis therefore, these low GR foods maintain satiety for a longer time (Figure 1.5). A high GR food, due to its greater initial glucose response will in comparison suppress food intake at first, but lose its satiating properties rapidly. Whilst a high GR food therefore is more satiating in the short-term (60 minutes or less) (Anderson *et al.*, 2002), a low GR food remains satiating for longer (Bornet *et al.*, 2007).

Figure 1.6: The application of the glucostatic theory to high and low GR foods (Bornet *et al.*, 2007)

The satiating effects of carbohydrates have been consistently demonstrated in previous studies (Feinle et al., 2002). Compared to a carbohydrate-free control Blundell et al. (1994) observed a decrease in food intake following a soup containing maltodextrin. Similarly, Rogers and Blundell (1989) found that food intake one hour after glucose or starch supplemented yogurts was lesser than that following unsweetened and artificially-sweetened controls. Intra-gastric infusion of dextrose also reduced food intake 30 minutes later compared to a saline control which had no effect on food intake (Shide et al., 1995). The same study also observed that food intake was not affected when the same treatments were administered intravenously and this was later confirmed in another study (Lavin et al., 1996). Therefore the satiating effects of carbohydrates appear to be mediated through the gastro-intestinal tract. Cecil and colleagues (1998) showed that appetite suppression after soup preloads was greatest when consumed orally, followed by when infused into the stomach and small intestine respectively. This confirms that satiety sensations are generated throughout the digestive system as food passes through. A protracted digestion time will therefore consequently also lengthen satiety duration.

A large volume of recent work on the GR was carried out in the context of the glycaemic index (GI). The GI concept, first proposed in 1981 (Jenkins *et al.*, 1981a) is a physiological measurement of the blood glucose raising potential of a carbohydrate food. It is defined as the blood glucose response elicited by a 50 g available carbohydrate portion of a food, expressed as a percentage of the response following 50 g of a reference (anhydrous glucose or white bread) when taken by the same subject (Wolever, 2006). Since the GI is a ratio

between two blood glucose responses, the physiological principles pertaining to it are similar to those of the GR. A high GI food causes the GR to rise rapidly and subsequently fall below baseline as a result of rapid counter-regulatory hormonal responses. Low GI foods in comparison produce a low, stable and positive blood glucose level for a longer time period. Low GI foods therefore also prolong satiety and increase the interval between meals (Wolever, 2006). In a review, Roberts (2003) summarised studies comparing food GI and satiety and concluded that energy intake after a high GI food was 81% greater than after a low GI food.

# 1.8.2 Food-associated determinants of the blood glucose response, and its variations

Glucose appearance rate in the blood following a meal depends on the digestion and absorption rate. Factors influencing the digestibility of carbohydrates will therefore also impact on the GR. Food factors affect the GR by either slowing transit time or limiting starch accessibility to digestive enzymes (Fardet *et al.*, 2006). Different carbohydrates impact on the GR in different manners; glucose elicits the greatest response compared to disaccharides and polysaccharides as it does not require digestion, and is therefore rapidly absorbed (Lee & Wolever, 1998). In comparison fructose produces a relatively lower GR as it is poorly absorbed in the intestine (Lee & Wolever, 1998). In the case of disaccharides, sucrose and maltose elicit similar responses whilst lactose produces a relatively smaller GR (Vosloo, 2005).

The GR of polysaccharides depend on their digestibility which is in turn dictated by their chemical and physical characteristics. The principle digestible polysaccharide in the human diet is starch and this is made up of amylose and

amylopectin. The relative amounts of these two components determine the GR of starch. Amylose has been consistently shown to elicit a smaller GR than amylopectin (Behall *et al.*, 1988; Behall *et al.*, 1989; Ranawana *et al.*, 2009), possibly because the long chains of amylose are more resistant to digestion (Benmoussa *et al.*, 2007). Amylose also reacts with other food components such as lipids and forms complexes that are impervious to digestion (Holm *et al.*, 1983). Different varieties/strains within a single crop type therefore elicit different GRs due to differences in the amylose:amylopectin ratio (eg: wheat, rice) (Vosloo, 2005; Ranawana *et al.*, 2009).

The presence of other macronutrients reduces the GR of a carbohydrate food (Thorne *et al.*, 1983; Spiller *et al.*, 1987; Gatti *et al.*, 1992; Vosloo, 2005; Henry *et al.*, 2006), through changing chyme viscosity and creating an enzyme resistant barrier around the carbohydrate molecules (Henry *et al.*, 2006). Fibre influences the GR through similar mechanisms (Bjorck *et al.*, 1994). However, the effects of fibre depends on its type (soluble and insoluble) and origin (natural or added) (Wolever & Miller, 1995). Whilst soluble fibre has a significant effect when externally added, insoluble fibre influences the GR only when naturally present. This suggests that insoluble fibre influences the GR through its effects on food structure. Soluble fibre affects digestion by slowing gastric emptying and sugar absorption through increasing chyme viscosity (Vosloo, 2005). The presence of other compounds in the food such as polyphenols in legumes (Thompson *et al.*, 1984), phytates in wheat (Yoon *et al.*, 1983) and organic acids such as propionates in bread (Todesco *et al.*, 1991) also reduces the GR. Similarly, the addition of salt has also been shown

to significantly increase plasma glucose and insulin responses (Thorburn *et al.*, 1986).

The digestibility of a carbohydrate food is directly affected by the degree of cooking and gelatinisation. Hydration due to exposure to wet heat makes the starch structure more accessible to amylase (Bjorck *et al.*, 1994). Studies with rice showed that a longer cooking time elicited a higher GR due to a greater degree of starch gelatinisation (Panlasigui *et al.*, 1991; Ranawana *et al.*, 2009). However, subsequent cooling and prolonged storage of gelatinised starch causes it to re-crystallise and retrograde, leading to the formation of resistant starch (RS) (Mitra *et al.*, 2007) which is conversely poorly digested by amylase (YoungHee & SeungHo, 2004). Retrograded starch therefore lowers GR as evident in parboiled rice (Ranawana *et al.*, 2009).

The degree of milling and particle size of the carbohydrate food has also been repeatedly shown to have an inverse correlation with digestibility, and therefore the GR (Thorne *et al.*, 1983; Bjorck *et al.*, 1994; Vosloo, 2005). Using rice as the model O'dea *et al.* (1980) demonstrated that the ground form elicited a greater GR and IR compared to the whole grains. The authors asserted that particle size is more important towards the GR than fibre content. Similar results were also observed with other cereals (Heaton *et al.*, 1988). The increased surface area of small particles provides greater access for enzyme activity and therefore faster digestion.

The degree of processing also affects digestibility, and one study showed that instant rice, rice bubbles, corn chips, cornflakes and instant potato elicited

greater glycaemic responses compared to whole rice, corn and potato (Brand *et al.*, 1985). A greater degree of processing makes the starch more digestible through gelatinisation, weakening the structure and reducing particle size. In the case of liquids the volume affects the GR. One study investigated the effects of 25 g of glucose, fructose and sucrose on the GR when dissolved in volumes of water ranging between 200-600 ml, and found a volume dependant increase in the GR (Sievenpiper *et al.*, 1998). A higher dilution produces a more hypotonic solution that is easily absorbed compared to a low-volume hypertonic solution.

The above discussed factors are all associated with the food and are therefore external variables that influence the GR. Even when all these factors are controlled for, a notable degree of variation can be observed in the GR even when the same food is given to a cohort of healthy individuals matched for age, BMI, health status, physical activity, lifestyle etc. Between-individual variations can be considerably large and account for 20-80% of the total variation observed during GR testing and have a co-efficient of variation (CV) as high as 55% (Vega-Lopez et al., 2007; Wolever et al., 2008). A study that repeatedly measured the GR of rice, spaghetti and bread found that between-individual variations accounted for 62% of the total variation and was thus the greatest contributor to it (Wolever et al., 1990). Likewise, the within-subject variability, i.e. the variations observed when the same food is given repeatedly to the same person under standardised conditions can also be considerable. In the study by Wolever et al. (1990) this component accounted for 16% while in another study, normal subjects showed inter- and intra-individual variations of 26 and 25% respectively in response to repeated challenges of 50 g of glucose

(Wolever & Jenkins, 1985). A similar study compared the within-individual variations to a liquid (75 g glucose) and solid (mixed test meal bar) challenge and found them to be 39 and 31% respectively (Wolever, 2006). Within-individual variations in the insulin response were also measured in this study, and these amounted to 21 and 20% for the liquid and solid respectively.

Explanations for these variations are limited, although time of day, nature of the previous meal consumed, between-meal time gap, physical activity and length of fasting have been suggested (Wolever, 2006). However, Campbell et al. (2003) comparatively observed the effects of the previous meal, physical activity and the fasting period on the GR and found that these factors do not significantly contribute to within-individual variations. Armario et al. (1996) showed that blood glucose concentrations were positively correlated with biomarkers of stress which suggests that the psychological state also affects plasma glucose levels. Differing psychological states in individuals could therefore contribute to GR variations. Using an insulin clamp Chiu et al. (2000) demonstrated that insulin sensitivity differed between ethnic groups (Asian, African, Caucasian, Mexican), which suggest possible ethnicity-based differences in glucose homeostasis. Using an ethnically mixed cohort of subjects could therefore also contribute to GR variations. Gastro-intestinal motility and absorption rates have also been suggested to differ between individuals and thereby contribute to between-individual variations in the GR (Wolever, 2006).

Methodological aspects associated with GR testing also contribute to data variations. The time taken to consume the test food has been shown to affect

the GR; a study by Heine et al. (1983) demonstrated a 50% reduction in the GR when glucose or hydrolysed starch was consumed in one minute compared to 10 minutes. It is therefore advocated that the eating time be standardised during GR testing (Wolever, 2006). The source of blood sampling could also contribute to differences between individuals. Measuring glucose concentrations in venous blood was associated with a greater random error and intra-individual variation compared to capillary blood (Wolever & Bolognesi, 1996; Wolever et al., 2003). Also, smaller changes in plasma glucose concentrations were more rapidly detected in capillary blood (Granfeldt et al., 1995). Capillary blood is therefore recommended for GR determinations (Wolever, 2006). In conclusion, the above discussion illustrates the complexities surrounding the GR and the number of internal, external and methodological factors influencing it. Therefore, it is imperative that all these factors are considered as practically possible when conducting GR studies.

# 1.9 The effect of the physical state of food and its impact on satiety and the glycaemic response

It has been speculated that energy delivered in liquid form may not trigger satiety mechanisms (DiMeglio & Mattes, 2000; St-Onge *et al.*, 2004) and that the body's regulatory systems are stimulated mainly by the physical form (liquid or solid) of the substrate in which it is provided (Mattes, 1996; Mattes, 2006a; Mattes, 2006b). Energy consumed in a liquid medium is believed to be less efficiently detected by the physiological compensatory systems in the body and thus lead to a passive overconsumption of energy (Gibson & Neate, 2007). Zijlstra *et al.* (2008) observed differences in eating rates between liquids, semi-

solids and solids. They demonstrated that the consumption rate of a liquid was 14 and 30% higher compared to a nutrient-matched semi-solid and solid respectively. More liquid can therefore be consumed within a defined time period compared to a solid or viscous food due to the absence of an oral processing phase.

Several studies have investigated the comparative effects of liquid and solid iso-caloric foods on satiety, and found that the solids elicited a greater degree of fullness. Using liquid and semi-solid dairy products, one study showed that participants consumed significantly more of the liquid compared to the semi-solid to achieve the same degree of satiation (de Wijk *et al.*, 2008). Therefore, the higher consumption rate of liquids will result in a greater energy intake compared to solids independent of satiety cues.

Preload studies have also shown that solids are better compensated for than liquids. This has been demonstrated using isocaloric portions of jellybeans and liquids (DiMeglio and Mattes, 2000), solid, gel and liquid forms of sucrose (Lavin *et al.*, 2002), solid and liquid forms of nutrient matched meal replacement products (MRP) (Tieken *et al.*, 2007; Stull *et al.*, 2008), pureed and whole forms of carrot (Moorehead *et al.*, 2006) and the pureed, whole and juiced forms of fruits (Haber *et al.*, 1977; Bolton *et al.*, 1981; Flood-Obbagy & Rolls, 2009). These findings were confirmed in a series of experiments conducted by Tournier and Louis-Sylvestre (1991) which collectively showed that subsequent food intake was greater following a liquid lunch preload compared to a solid of similar composition. Another study comparatively observed hunger ratings for 3.5 hours following a liquid preload, and the same

after solidifying with gelatine and locust-bean gum, and found that the solid forms suppressed hunger more than the liquid (Hulshof *et al.*, 1993). Therefore, there is convincing evidence to suggest that solids are more satiating than liquids and are better compensated for in the short term.

However, there is also evidence to indicate that liquids and solids do not impact differentially on satiety (Almiron-Roig *et al.*, 2003). The same group in one study compared hunger ratings and food intake (either 120 or 20 minutes after the preload) following the consumption of iso-caloric (300 kcal) portions of either a cola drink or cookies and found that the physical form had no effect on hunger and food intake (Almiron-Roig *et al.*, 2004). Energy intakes were however relatively less when lunch was consumed 20 minutes after the preload, suggesting that the time between preload and next meal may be more important than the physical form.

The time lapse till onset of hunger following a meal has on the other hand, been shown to correlate with the viscosity of food (Kissileff, 1985; Mattes & Rothacker, 2001). A more viscous/solid food appears to elicit a greater degree of fullness, and this may be due to feedback signals arising from oral processing. Indeed, Zijlstra and colleagues (2008) observed longer oral processing times with more viscous foods and this resulted in greater satiety and lesser food intake. The absence of chewing also results in decreased pancreatic exocrine and endocrine responses associated with hunger and satiety (Almiron-Roig *et al.*, 2003). Mars and others (2009) showed that greater viscosities led to longer oro-sensory stimulation and resultant learned satiation

which suggests that semi-solid and solid foods are also psychologically perceived as more satiating.

Other studies have however reasoned that food volume may play a greater role in satiety than viscosity. Russell and Delahunty (2004) used rice milk beverages adjusted to two volumes and viscosities and showed a significant reduction in hunger and a longer time to lunch following the higher volume treatment, but no effect of viscosity. This is in agreement with work done by Rolls and colleagues who showed that volume has a larger influence on satiety than most other factors (Rolls *et al.*, 1998; Rolls *et al.*, 1999; Flood & Rolls, 2007; Rolls, 2009). However, although a higher volume will elicit a greater postingestive satiety, the long-term satiety effects mediated by post-absorptive factors will depend on other characteristics of the food such as composition, texture and digestibility.

In summary, results from past studies suggest that liquids are less satiating than solids and this may be due to psychological preconceptions, poorer physiological responses and differences in viscosity. However, the presence of contradicting findings highlights the need for more research.

### 1.9.1 The effect of liquid calories on satiety and food intake

The debate on sugar-sweetened beverages (SSB) and their implication as instigators of passive over consumption of energy (Gibson & Neate, 2007) is largely fuelled by the outcomes of prospective and cross-sectional studies, and bolstered by population statistics. A five fold increase in soft drink consumption (from 180ml per week in 1975 to 976ml per week in 2000) was reported in the

UK (UKSA, 2008) and a similar trend was observed in the US where the contribution from soft drinks to total daily calorie intake increased by 135% between 1977 and 2001 (Nielsen & Popkin, 2004). Since the rise in soft drink consumption and obesity rates occurred in tandem, caloric beverage consumption has been implicated as a cause of the obesity epidemic (Malik *et al.*, 2006).

The literature on SSBs and their effects on energy balance have been previously reviewed (Anderson & Woodend, 2003a; Vermunt *et al.*, 2003; Bawa, 2005; Anderson, 2006; Bachman *et al.*, 2006; Malik *et al.*, 2006; Pereira, 2006). The majority of cross-sectional and longitudinal studies suggest a positive relationship between SSB consumption and both weight gain (Ludwig *et al.*, 2001; Giammattei *et al.*, 2003; Mrdjenovic & Levitsky, 2003; Nicklas *et al.*, 2003; Berkey *et al.*, 2004; Schulze *et al.*, 2004; Bes-Rastrollo *et al.*, 2006; Striegel-Moore *et al.*, 2006; Harrington, 2008), and incidence of chronic diseases (WHO, 2003; Apovian, 2004). However, outcomes of cross-sectional and longitudinal studies do not confirm direct causal effects. These can be determined only through randomised-control studies. Indeed, SSB consumption has been associated with lifestyle factors such as high fat and energy consumption and low physical activity, (Almiron-Roig *et al.*, 2003; Gibson, 2008) and these aspects could have substantially contributed to the relationships reported in the observational studies.

Short-term randomised control studies investigating the acute effects of SSBs on food intake and satiety have shown mixed results. There is some evidence to show that energy-containing drinks are compensated for at the following

meal. Woodend and Anderson (2001) found a dose dependant reduction in food intake at a pizza lunch 60 minutes following liquid sucrose preloads (25-75 g) by young males. Similarly, Holt and colleagues (2000) observed nonsignificant differences in total energy intakes following sucrose, sugar-free and mineral water preloads, suggesting that sugar-rich drinks elicited a higher level of compensation compared to the sugar-free alternatives. Another study reported that sucrose containing drinks significantly reduced the desire to eat compared to water and artificially sweetened drinks (Canty & Chan, 1991). Pure glucose and fructose preloads were also found to decrease food intake at the subsequent meal, suggesting a calorie compensatory effect for liquid calories irrespective of the chemical form of the carbohydrate (Spitzer & Rodin, 1987; Rodin *et al.*, 1988; Rogers *et al.*, 1988; Rodin, 1990; Anderson, 2002). Therefore, there is convincing evidence to show that carbohydrate-based caloric liquids are detected by the physiological regulatory systems and compensated for in the short term.

However, other studies have shown no compensation for liquid calories at the subsequent *ad libitum* meal provided 30-240 minutes later (Anderson *et al.*, 1989; Rolls *et al.*, 1990; Almiron-Roig & Drewnowski, 2003; DellaValle *et al.*, 2005). Rolls *et al.* (1990) compared the effects of sucrose (20 and 40 g) and aspartame sweetened lemonade on food intake when taken with the meal, and 30 or 60 minutes before, and found food intake to be equal after all the treatments. Similarly, Almiron-Roig and Drewnowski (2003) observed no difference in food intake 135 minutes after the consumption of iso-caloric (248 kcal) portions of orange juice, cola, low-fat milk and water.

Studies with children have also shown a good level of compensation for caloric drinks in the short term. Anderson (1995) observed a 68% and 63% reduction in food intake by 9-10 year old children, 30 minutes following the consumption of a 300ml drink containing 45 and 90g of sucrose respectively. A similar study observed a significant reduction in food intake by children (pre-school age) 30 and 60 minutes following caloric drinks (Birch *et al.*, 1989). Children may be better able at compensating for calories due to their limited experience with external stimuli and greater dependence on internal signals. Adults may be less responsive to internal physiological cues due to stronger environmental stimulants.

The above findings provide evidence both supporting and disproving the hypothesis that energy provided in a liquid media is detected and compensated for. However, closer examination of the studies shows that the observation of a compensatory effect appears to depend on the study design. The time interval between preload and test meal, and the caloric content of the preload have significant influences on the observation of compensatory effects. Those with preloads having a relatively large energy content (>150 kcal) and time gaps less than 60 minutes between preload and test meal consistently showed good levels of compensation compared to studies with smaller energy preloads and time gaps greater than 60 minutes. This suggests that energy in liquids are detected and compensated for within a specific time window. The length of the time window and magnitude of compensation is dictated by the energy content in the preload and physiological aspects (Almiron-Roig *et al.*, 2003). The results of short-term randomised experiments therefore do not support the conclusions reached by the majority of the observational studies that SSBs are a significant

cause of passive overeating and obesity. More data from well designed studies are however required before firm conclusions can be reached.

#### 1.9.2 Effect of the physical state on the glycaemic response

Limited research has comparatively observed the GR of liquids and solids. Doyle *et al.* (1997) observed the GR and insulin response (IR) to liquid, solid and gel forms of a carbohydrate and found no significant differences. However, they obtained measurements for a brief time period (90 minutes); GR measurements should be obtained for a minimum period of 120 minutes if the entire response is to be observed (Wolever, 2006). Several studies observed the GR to the solid and juiced forms of fruits. Haber *et al.* (1977) compared the GR and IR to whole apple and its juiced and pureed forms and found that the latter two elicited greater glycaemic and insulin responses than the former. They also observed a striking rebound fall after the GR peak for the juice which was absent with the whole apple and concluded that the liquid form decreased satiety, disturbed glucose homeostasis and favoured over-nutrition. Another study observed similar patterns when whole oranges and orange juice were compared (Bolton *et al.*, 1981).

While there is some evidence therefore to suggest that the physical state affects the GR there is inadequate data to establish firm conclusions. Although the above studies have observed the GR after changing the phase of the same food, no studies have within a single design comparatively investigated the GR of foods naturally differing in their physical state. This aspect requires investigation.

# 1.10 Food particle size and effects on the glycaemic response and satiety

The particle size of food demonstrates an inverse relationship with digestibility. Small particles have a larger surface area: starch ratio which results in greater accessibility of the digestive enzymes to the starch (O'Dea et al., 1980). Particle size therefore is a rate-limiting factor in the digestion of solid carbohydrates. Through its effects on digestion rate food particle size also influences the GR (Bjorck et al., 1994; Vosloo, 2005). While large particles produce a lower GR small particles show a relatively larger response. O'Dea et al. (1980) observed the effect of whole and ground forms of polished and brown rice on the GR and IR. The authors found that the peak GR and IR for ground rice were significantly higher than that for the whole rice, as was the total area under the curve (AUC) for the initial 60 minutes. However, the AUC for the total 240 minutes was not significantly different for the two treatments, suggesting that the particle size had a significant influence only during the initial response phase. A significant and sustained increase in the IR was observed with ground rice compared to whole rice, which indicated that particle size also affected insulin secretion. Similar results were found in a study which compared the GR and IR to whole and ground rice (Collier & O'Dea, 1982). The authors reported that both parameters demonstrated significantly lower responses for whole compared to ground rice. Heaton et al. (1988) evaluated the GR and IR of whole and cracked grains, and course and fine flour of wheat maize and oats. The IR for the test foods increased in the order; whole grains, cracked grains, course flour, fine flour. The peak to nadir rebound was also more striking with the flour than the whole and cracked grains, which implied that the

pattern and rate of change in magnitude of the response were both affected by particle size.

Behall and colleagues (1999) fed participants breads made using conventionally milled white and whole-grain flour, and ultra-fine whole-grain wheat flour, and measured the GR and IR for the subsequent 180 minutes. Contrary to the findings in the above studies the GR and IR were not significantly different between the treatments. However, the particle size in the treatments was considerably small (ranged between 37-150 µm) and may have not been sufficiently large enough to affect digestion rate. This view is supported by another report that showed no significant differences in the GR between ground rice and pure glucose (Collier & O'Dea, 1982) which suggests that the digestibility of cereals ground to a flour is maximal and particle size is not a rate limiting factor for them.

The relationship between particle size and digestibility may be more important in foods where the starch resides within cells. In support of this Tovar *et al.* (1992) found that the GR of milled and cooked bean flour (rich in free starch) was greater than that of boiled and milled flour (rich in cell enclosed starch). Studies with fruit also showed that the disintegration of the structural and cellular integrity increased its digestibility and therefore the GR (Haber *et al.*, 1977; Bolton *et al.*, 1981). The particle size may not be as important in foods produced with highly processed grains and flour, where the majority of the starch is in its free form. Brand and colleagues (1985) demonstrated that the digestibility of instant rice, rice bubbles, cornflakes, instant potato and potato crisps was greater than that of boiled rice, sweet corn and potato. Whilst

milling, beating, shearing, refining and other processing methods affect cell and granule integrity, they also promote water absorption and gelatinisation which subsequently increases starch digestibility (Vosloo, 2005). Highly processed and milled carbohydrate foods therefore produce greater GRs than the whole forms.

A limited number of studies have attempted to discern food particle size effects on satiety. The significant effects of particle size on the GR suggest that it has the potential to influence satiety through glucostatic mechanisms (Bornet *et al.*, 2007). Additionally, Holt and Miller (1994) evaluated appetite following the ingestion of whole, cracked, coarse and finely milled wheat and found that satiety increased with particle size. Similarly, French and Booth (1991) fed subjects meat chunks of different sizes and showed that satiety increased with particle size. No other studies have addressed this aspect and data from more experiments are required before firm deductions can be made.

# 1.11 Mastication of foods, its measurement and effects on physiology and satiety

Mastication is the process of chewing food, and involves taking food into the mouth and crushing it to form a bolus (Hanawa *et al.*, 2007). The primary objective of mastication is the breakdown of food into small particles that will form a smooth cohesive bolus suitable for deglutition (van der Bilt *et al.*, 2006). Mastication occurs as a sequence which begins with the introduction of the food into the mouth and finishes with swallowing (Woda *et al.*, 2006a). The sequence consists of a succession of individual chewing cycles, each of which

comprises one jaw opening movement and closing movement. During chewing the food is mixed with saliva to moisten it and salivary mucins bind the food particles together to form a cohesive bolus. The formation of a smooth bolus acts as the cue for the initiation of voluntary swallowing (van der Bilt *et al.*, 2006).

Since mastication consists of a regular succession of chewing cycles rhythm is a principle characteristic and this is governed by a brain stem controlled central pattern generator and regulated by feedback systems (Woda *et al.*, 2006a). The masticatory system is a functional unit and consists of the teeth, their supporting structures, the jaws, tempero-mandibular joints, masticatory muscles (masseter and temporal), and the vascular and nervous systems supplying to these tissues (Soboleva *et al.*, 2005). Mastication is also the first step in the digestion process. Whilst the food is crushed and broken down,  $\alpha$ amylase and lipase in saliva begin breaking down carbohydrates and fats respectively (Humphrey & Williamson, 2001).

When given equal quantities of the same food, individuals chew it to different degrees before swallowing (Jiffry, 1981; Peyron *et al.*, 2004). Engelen *et al* (2005) observed habitual chewing rates of 266 dentate individuals when they were given a variety of foods (peanuts, toast, cheese, carrot and cake). They found a significant inter-individual variation in the number of chews taken before swallowing. Another study observed masticatory rates for gram and soy beans, and reported that the number of chewing cycles individuals' used varied between 9-15 and 10-18 respectively per unit weight of food (Jiffry, 1981). The number of chewing cycles per mouthful is however relatively

constant within a person for a particular food (van der Bilt *et al.*, 2006; Woda *et al.*, 2006a). The study by Engelen and colleagues (2005) also found that participants utilising a small number of chews for one type of food consistently also used small numbers for other foods. This suggests that all individuals can be broadly categorised as either high or low masticators.

One objective of chewing is the physical breakdown of food. Mastication efficiency can therefore be quantified by the particle size distribution in the chewed food (van der Bilt *et al.*, 2006; Gambareli *et al.*, 2007). The final degree of breakdown has been reported to depend on chewing parameters such as the number of cycles, chewing strength and chewing time, all of which vary between individuals (Lassauzay *et al.*, 2000).

When eating the same food van der Bilt *et al.* (2006) found that the particle size distribution in the chewed bolus varied between individuals. Whilst some broke down the food to a greater degree others swallowed relatively larger particles. This observation was confirmed in other studies (Jiffry, 1981; Jiffry, 1983). The particle size distribution in food ingested following habitual mastication therefore varies between subjects.

A large between-individual variation in particle size distribution was also seen when the same food is masticated for a standard number of chewing cycles by different individuals. Fontijn-Tekamp *et al.* (2004) gave 6 mm cubes of a Silicon based test material to a group of 87 dentate individuals and found that the median particle size ranged between 1.60-5.27 mm after 15 chewing cycles. The number of chewing cycles therefore does not appear to predict the degree

of breakdown during mastication. Instead, it suggests that the intensity of chewing varies significantly between individuals.

Mastication efficiency depends on several intrinsic (body) and extrinsic (food) factors. Intrinsic factors include the intensity of mastication which has been shown to differ between males and females (Woda *et al.*, 2006b) although the total number of cycles used to prepare a food for swallowing are comparable (Lassauzay *et al.*, 2000). Males demonstrate a greater intensity of mastication due to their relatively larger jaws and associated muscles. Mastication efficiency also decreases with age due to loss of masticatory muscle mass. The consequent decrease in bite force results in the total number of chewing cycles increasing with age (Woda *et al.*, 2006a). The number of teeth and the quality of the contact surfaces significantly influence mastication efficiency and a diminished performance has been observed in individuals with dental malocclusions, tempero-mandibular disorders and missing teeth (Woda *et al.*, 2006a).

The eating rate has been shown to also differ between lean and obese individuals (Bellisle & Le Magnen, 1981). Compared to lean subjects those obese demonstrated shorter chewing times and intra-meal pauses when presented with palatable foods. Therefore, overweight individuals appear to eat faster and chew less.

The degree of mastication is also affected by the level of saliva secretion. Saliva production rate varies between individuals and Engelen *et al.* (2005) showed that those secreting more saliva used a lesser number of chewing

cycles before swallowing. Saliva production is influenced by many factors which include hydration status, smoking, medications, cephalic phase responses, size of salivary glands, body weight, physical activity, alcohol and age (de Almeida *et al.*, 2008). Other studies have however shown that saliva flow rate correlates weakly with the swallowing threshold and explains only 2% of the variance in the swallowing threshold (van der Bilt *et al.*, 2006). Therefore variations in saliva secretion may not be significantly influencing between-individual variations in mastication.

The extrinsic factors influencing masticatory performance are those associated with the food such as texture, flavour, size, shape, hardness, water content and macronutrient composition (van der Bilt *et al.*, 2006; Woda *et al.*, 2006a). The principal food attributes affecting mastication however are hardness and dryness, both of which are positively correlated with chewing time. A study comparing the number of mastication cycles taken to swallow a variety of different foods reported a greater degree of chewing for hard (carrot and peanuts) and dry (melba toast and toast) compared to soft and moist (cake and cheese) foods (Engelen *et al.*, 2005). Similar observations were made elsewhere using nuts and vegetables (Peyron *et al.*, 2004). Food hardness also affects mastication force, jaw muscle activity and mandibular jaw movements (van der Bilt *et al.*, 2006).

The amount of food taken in a mouthful has been shown to influence the degree of mastication (van der Bilt *et al.*, 2006; Woda *et al.*, 2006a; Zijlstra *et al.*, 2009). Fontijn-Tekamp *et al.* (2004) fed 87 dentate subjects peanuts, cheese and carrots and found that the number of mastication cycles increased

linearly with food volume per mouthful. These findings were confirmed in another study using peanuts (Lucas & Luke, 1984), and the authors also showed that the particle size of swallowed food increased as food volume increased.

Mastication has also been shown to affect the digestive process through several modes. Hoebler and colleagues (1998) found significant physical and chemical transformations in food as a result of mastication and therefore concluded that oral digestion influenced the subsequent digestion process to a considerable extent. The cephalic phase (physiological reactions occurring in the body before consuming a meal as a response to sensory stimulations) can also significantly affect digestive outcomes by stimulating early phase hormonal responses especially insulin (Teff, 2000). Since the length of the cephalic phase is influenced by the time spent masticating, the degree of oral processing may have indirect effects on food intake and satiety by altering hormonal responses (Powley & Berthoud, 1985). This concurs with the concept of 'Fletcherism' coined by Horace Fletcher (1849-1919) (Christen & Christen, 1997), who advocated deliberate and extended mastication until the 'food swallowed itself'. He believed that prolonged chewing resulted in less overeating and reduced overall food intake. In agreement with this Zijlstra and colleagues (2009) observed an inverse relationship between food intake and oral processing time.

Read *et al.* (1986) showed that the GR was greater when subjects masticated food thoroughly compared to when they swallowed them without chewing. However, no work has been carried out to observe how the habitual degree of

chewing affects the GR. Since individuals habitually masticate to different degrees, differences in the degree of breakdown may be contributing to the between-individual variations observed in the GR. On the other hand, the GR also affects satiety through glucostatic mechanisms. The degree of habitual mastication may therefore also impact on satiety through particle size effects and the GR. The influence of the habitual degree of mastication on the GR and satiety requires investigation in future work.

#### 1.11.1 Measurement of mastication

The most widely used method for measuring mastication is electromyography (EMG) (Mioche & Martin, 1998; Kemsley *et al.*, 2002; van der Bilt *et al.*, 2006; Woda *et al.*, 2006a). The use of EMG to characterise chewing behaviour was first proposed by Brown (1994). Using chewing gum as the model Brown showed that EMG measurements can be effectively used to observe variations in chewing between individuals. The method records bioelectrical activities taking place in the principle mastication related muscles (left and right side masseter and temporalis muscles) during an eating episode (Woda *et al.*, 2006a) (Figure 1.6). Since data is collected via electrodes mounted on the skin surface it is a non-invasive method that does not interfere with the eating process and can therefore be used to measure habitual eating patterns. A series of parameters pertaining to mastication can be measured with EMG and include the number of chewing cycles, muscular work, masticatory frequency, mastication time, opening and closing durations, vertical and lateral amplitudes and opening and closing velocities (Lassauzay *et al.*, 2000).
Figure 1.7: Muscles involved in mastication (Source: www. srgholisticdentist.com)

Mastication efficiency can be quantified by measuring the particle size distribution of the masticated food bolus. This is accomplished by instructing subjects to chew a standard amount of a test food to the point where they feel the need to swallow and then getting them to expectorate into a container. The particle size distribution in the resulting sample is determined by washing through a series of sieves (Jiffry, 1981; Jiffry, 1983; Fontijn-Tekamp *et al.*, 2004; Peyron *et al.*, 2004; Gambareli *et al.*, 2007; McKiernan & Mattes, 2010). The dry weight of particles collected on each sieve is expressed as a percentage of the entire sample. The use of sieves is simple, inexpensive and requires little skill. The particle size distribution can also be determined using optical scanning (laser diffraction) methods (Hoebler *et al.*, 2000). Although this is a method that provides accurate data it is expensive and requires skill. Gambarelli *et al.* (2007) assert that optical methods are better when particles are large, and sieves when the particles are small.

### 1.11.2 Secretion and functions of saliva and its role in carbohydrate digestion

Saliva is predominantly water (99%) and contains in addition to enzymes, inorganic and organic constituents such as bicarbonates, sodium, calcium,

potassium and proteins (Dodds *et al.*, 2005). A healthy individual produces 1-1.5 L of saliva per day (de Almeida *et al.*, 2008). In response to neurotransmitter stimulations, saliva is secreted into the oral cavity from acinar cells located in three salivary glands; the parotid, submandibular and sublingual glands (Baum, 1993; de Almeida *et al.*, 2008). Whilst the latter two make up the bulk of un-stimulated saliva, the parotid gland contributes more than 50% of the stimulated form (Rohleder & Nater, 2009). The main functions of saliva are lubrication and food bolus formation, buffering of oral cavity pH, maintenance of tooth integrity, antibacterial activity, taste and digestion (Humphrey & Williamson, 2001).

Alpha-amylase is the principle starch digestion enzyme in saliva and this cleaves starch into maltoses (Pedersen *et al.*, 2002). More than 80% of the  $\alpha$ -amylase is produced in the parotid gland and factors such as age, smoking, alcohol, prescription drugs, caffeine, physical activity and somatic and psychiatric diseases affect its concentrations in saliva (Rohleder & Nater, 2009). Gender does not influence salivary  $\alpha$ -amylase concentrations (Rohleder & Nater, & Nater, 2009). The most widely used unit for measuring  $\alpha$ -amylase activity is enzyme units per millilitre (U/ml). An enzyme unit is defined as the quantity that catalyses the conversion of 1 µmol of substrate per minute (Rohleder & Nater, 2009).

Chewing time may affect the degree of digestion in the mouth where those masticating for longer will expose the food to salivary  $\alpha$ -amylase for a greater period of time. The digestibility of the swallowed bolus may therefore be greater in those masticating for longer and this could influence the pattern and

magnitude of the GR. However, no research has been carried out in this respect. Even so, Humphrey and Williamson (2001) argue that the contribution of salivary  $\alpha$ -amylase to starch digestion is limited because mastication involves a relatively short time and salivary  $\alpha$ -amylase is rapidly deactivated in the stomach by the acidic conditions. Firm conclusions cannot be reached until further research is carried out.

# 1.12 Gastric emptying and its effects on satiety, glycaemic response and insulin response

The stomach functions as a reservoir for food, and prepares it for intestinal digestion by chemically and physically breaking it down (Hellstrom *et al.*, 2006) and eliminating microbes through reductions in the pH (Low, 1990). The two functional compartments in the stomach are the proximal fundus (serves as the food reservoir), and the distal antrum (responsible for mixing and breakdown of food) (Low, 1990).

Gastric emptying (GE) refers to the rate at which food is emptied from the stomach (Clegg & Shafat, 2010) and the physical characteristics of the food determines its dynamics. The emptying pattern of liquids and solids differ markedly and it is well documented that liquids empty faster than solids (Read & Houghton, 1989; Collins *et al.*, 1991). Ingested liquids are rapidly distributed throughout the stomach and emptying begins almost immediately in an exponential manner at a rate proportional to the volume present (Hellstrom *et al.*, 2006). The emptying of liquids is speculated to occur as a result of the pressure gradient between the stomach and duodenum (Low, 1990). The GE of

solids in comparison shows a biphasic pattern (Siegel *et al.*, 1988). In the first phase (lag phase) food is held in the stomach and chemically and physically broken down to form a chyme, and then redistributed from the fundus into the antrum. This stage is then followed by the second phase (linear emptying phase) where the chyme is passed through the pylorus into the duodenum. The type of data arising from GE studies therefore depend on the physical form of the test food (Hellstrom *et al.*, 2006).

Gastric emptying, especially of solids, depends on the characteristics of the ingested food. Factors such as meal volume, particle size, viscosity, osmolarity, pH, protein, fat and energy content influence GE by altering the lag phase (Low, 1990). Using large and small portions of ground beef, Doran *et al.* (1998) showed a positive correlation between meal size and GE. The particle size of food correlates inversely with GE; foods with larger particles are held in the stomach for longer and broken down by grinding before being released into the duodenum (Torsdottir *et al.*, 1984; Vincent *et al.*, 1995). Meyer (1980) observed that the stomach does not release food into the duodenum until it is fragmented into particles smaller than 1000  $\mu$ m. The shape of the particles however, does not appear to affect GE (Meyer *et al.*, 1989).

Since digestion and absorption occurs after the food has passed through the stomach GE influences the appearance rate of metabolites in the blood. Food factors delaying GE therefore affect the GR and satiety. Indeed, Fardet *et al.* (2006) have suggested that GE is one of only two principle mechanisms that influence carbohydrate digestion rate and thereby the GR. Mourot *et al.* (1988) used rice, spaghetti, French bread and mashed potato and showed that the GR

and IR to the four test foods were closely correlated with the GE. Similar relationships were shown by Torsdottir *et al.* (1984) using potato and rice meals, by Liljeberg and Bjorck (1998) using breads fortified with organic acids and by Horowitz *et al.* (1993) using 75g boluses of glucose. The last authors also found that GE accounts for up to 34% of the variance observed in the peak GR. These studies clearly demonstrate that the GR and related metabolic mechanisms are significantly influenced by GE.

The post-ingestive satiety phase in the satiety cascade occurs as a result of feedback signals from the stomach regarding the type and quantity of food consumed (Blundell & Tremblay, 1995). Gastric distention induces satiety (Geliebter *et al.*, 1988; de Graaf *et al.*, 2004) and a greater holding time therefore lengthens post-ingestive satiety. In agreement, animal studies showed that food intake does not stop when food was continuously drained from the stomach through a cannula, but did so when the cannula was closed (Davis & Smith, 1990). This effectively demonstrated the impact of gastric distention on food intake. Other studies have shown that the stomach is also able to detect meal characteristics and differentially stimulate the secretion of satiety hormones such as incretins and insulin (Santangelo *et al.*, 1998; Peracchi *et al.*, 2000). Similarly, Berry *et al.* (2003) showed that the early phase of GE is a key influencer of total insulin release and glycaemia, which further substantiates the importance of GE in post-meal physiology.

The measurement of GE is carried out using indirect methods as direct techniques involve invasive procedures. Indirect methods broadly use serial dilution, radiological, radioisotopic and stable isotopic techniques (Low, 1990;

Ghoos *et al.*, 1993). The serial test is one of the earliest procedures employed and uses a non-absorbable marker added to the test beverage (Low, 1990). The entire contents of the test-drink are then aspirated through an oro-gastral tube at periodic intervals and the volume and dilution of the beverage and marker are used as indicators of GE and gastric secretion respectively. However, this method can only be used with liquids. Radiological methods generally use Barium meals as qualitative indicators of GE (Low, 1990). This too however, can be used only with liquids. The use of magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) has been evaluated as a method of measuring GE but has again shown reliable results only with liquids (Feinle *et al.*, 1999).

The current gold standard method used to measure GE is scintigraphy (Urbain & Charkes, 1995). The technique involves the impregnation of the test food with a radioisotope (usually <sup>99m</sup>technetium and <sup>111</sup>indium for solids and liquids respectively), and following its movements after ingestion using gamma cameras (Low, 1990). Although the method provides accurate and reproducible data the technique requires expensive instrumentation, trained personnel and is time-consuming. Since the procedure employs radioactive markers it cannot be safely used with vulnerable groups, and for repeated applications in the same individual.

To overcome the disadvantages in scintigraphy an alternative method of measuring GE using non-radioactive stable isotope markers was later developed (Ghoos *et al.*, 1993). The accuracy of the method has been evaluated in comparative studies with scintigraphy which have shown that the data obtained from the two methods have a correlation co-efficient (r) greater

than 0.87 for liquids, solids and semi-solids (Ghoos *et al.*, 1993; Braden *et al.*, 1995; Choi *et al.*, 1998; Braden *et al.*, 2007). The procedure is non-invasive, accurate, relatively cheap and is quicker than scintigraphy. The absence of radioactive compounds also makes it suitable for repeated use in individuals and in vulnerable groups such as children and pregnant women (Braden *et al.*, 2007). The method was developed using octanoic acid as the isotope carrier compound (Ghoos *et al.*, 1993). Since this is however a fatty acid and is only fat soluble studies using water-based test foods alternatively use sodium acetate which produces equally reliable data (Braden *et al.*, 1995; Clegg & Shafat, 2010).

The technique uses stable isotopes of carbon ( $^{13}$ C and  $^{14}$ C) which are incorporated into the food. The test principle is based on the stable isotope being oxidized after absorption in the duodenum. The resulting concentration of  $^{13/14}$ CO<sub>2</sub> in the exhaled breath is measured using mass spectrometry. The appearance rate of  $^{13/14}$ CO<sub>2</sub> in the breath is therefore used as an indirect indicator of GE.

The data derived from mass spectrometry analysis of breath samples is used to model a temporal curve representing the GE dynamics of the food (see section 2.2.6 in materials and methods for details). Several parameters quantifying GE are determined from this curve and include lag time ( $T_{lag}$ ), half time ( $T_{half}$ ), latency phase ( $T_{lat}$ ) and ascension time ( $T_{asc}$ ) (Figure 1.7). The  $T_{lag}$  is the time taken to maximal rate of <sup>13</sup>CO<sub>2</sub> excretion (Jackson *et al.*, 2004) and is equivalent to the time of the inflection point (highest point in the GE curve) (Ghoos *et al.*, 1993). It gives an indication of the time it takes for the maximum

gastric emptying rate to occur. The T<sub>half</sub> is the time it takes 50% of the <sup>13</sup>C dose to be excreted and is an indicator of the speed of gastric emptying (Ghoos *et al.*, 1993; Jackson *et al.*, 2004). Schommartz *et al.* (1998) later proposed T<sub>lat</sub> and T<sub>asc</sub> and reported that these parameters better described the different phases of the gastric emptying curve. The T<sub>lat</sub> is defined by the point of intersection of the tangent at the inflection point of the <sup>13</sup>CO<sub>2</sub> excretion curve and represents the initial delay in the excretion curve (Schommartz *et al.*, 1998) which is an indication of the holding time of food in the stomach prior to the initiation of emptying. The ascension time is the time period between the T<sub>lat</sub> and T<sub>half</sub> and represents the phase during which the highest <sup>13</sup>CO<sub>2</sub> excretion rate can be observed (Schommartz *et al.*, 1998) and is representative of the period where GE occurs at the fastest rate.

Figure 1.8: Gastric emptying time points (source: Clegg and Shafat, 2010)

### **Aims and Objectives**

The overarching objective of the work carried out in this thesis was to further elucidate factors influencing the glycaemic response. The literature review highlighted some gaps in the current state of the art in this area and the thesis attempts to address these, namely the physical state and the particle size of ingested food, and their effects on the GR. Food particle size effects on the GR were studied in the context of habitual mastication- the resulting particle size breakdown and its effects on individuals' GR.

The escalating levels of obesity highlight the urgency for a better understanding of energy intake control mechanisms, a and how they can be manipulated to prevent a positive energy balance. The literature review described the role of the blood glucose response (GR) in energy intake and balance. Regulating the GR is also important for the avoidance and control of diabetes and impaired glucose tolerance, conditions which are again closely linked with obesity. Factors affecting the GR will therefore impact both on energy regulation and chronic diseases. Outcomes of the studies forming this thesis are discussed in relation to both these aspects. A thorough understanding of all the factors influencing the GR is essential if its successful regulation is to be achieved. A major obstacle to establishing unequivocal conclusions is the consistent observation of large GR variations even under standardised testing conditions. Therefore, it is imperative that factors influencing the GR are studied also in the context of elucidating reasons for these variations and how they may be reduced.

A limited number of studies have attempted to compare the GR of solid and liquid carbohydrate foods. Although the literature suggests that the physical state influences the GR the dearth of studies preclude the formation of firm conclusions. It is also speculated that liquids are less satiating than solids, and that the former result in a passive overconsumption of energy. The veracity of this hypothesis also remains unconfirmed due to the limited amount of research. No previous attempts have investigated speculated differences in satiety between liquids and solids from a glucostatic theory perspective. The thesis examines the GR and satiety to liquid and solid carbohydrate foods and also investigates the effects of energy provided in a liquid form on short term energy intake and satiety.

Secondly, the thesis explores the role of habitual mastication and the resulting degree of particle size breakdown on the GR. Food particle size affects digestibility and thereby the GR. It is therefore likely that the degree of habitual mastication will impact on individuals' GR to a carbohydrate food. Previous studies have shown that the degree of habitual mastication differs significantly between people. Individual differences in mastication may therefore contribute to between-subject variations in the GR. The thesis also examines the effect of ingested food particle size on gastric emptying and the insulin response.

Research into the effects of the physical state on the GR is both timely and critical as the consumption of carbohydrate based drinks have increased at a near exponential rate in the recent times. Although it is widely speculated that carbohydrate containing liquids lead to excess energy intake, obesity and chronic diseases, there is little evidence to support it. The findings in this thesis

will allow for better public health recommendations in this regard. The work carried out in this thesis is the first instance where the effects of mastication on the GR have been investigated. The findings will be useful when formulating practical advice and intervention strategies for blood glucose and weight control for those who require it.

The specific objectives of the thesis are:

- To observe the effects of liquid and solid carbohydrate foods on the GR, insulin response (IR) and subjective feelings of satiety (Chapter 3).
- To determine the short-term effects of carbohydrate-based energy containing beverages on subjective hunger and food intake in humans (Chapter 4).
- To investigate inter-individual differences in habitual mastication and resulting particle size breakdown, and their effects on *in vitro* and *in vivo* glycaemic potency (Chapter 5 and 6).
- To examine the effects of ingested food particle size on GR, IR, gastric emptying and observe between-individual differences in the GR and IR when external, food and mastication factors are standardised (Chapter 7).

### Chapter 2: Materials and Methods

### 2.1 Introduction

This chapter comprises of two sections:

Section 1: Common methodologies

Describes standard methodologies used in the experiments

Section 2: Experiment-specific methods, participant characteristics and protocols

Describes experiment specific protocols, participant characteristics and statistical methods.

### 2.2 Section 1: Common methodologies

### 2.2.1 Participant recruitment and preparation

Participants for studies were recruited by means of advertisements, flyers and personal communications. After expressing interest individuals were sent details of the study via email. If further interested, they were given a printed information sheet and individually briefed. Volunteers completed a self reported health questionnaire (giving details of food allergies/intolerances, metabolic diseases, special dietary needs and smoking habits, eating habits and disorders, physical activity and medication) (section 2.2.1.1) and were subjected to an anthropometric assessment (section 2.2.1.2). The inclusion criteria for the studies were,

- BMI: 18.5-24.99 kg/m<sup>2</sup>
- Blood pressure: between 110-120/75-85 mmHg

- Age: 18-50 years
- Fasting blood glucose: 4.0-5.5 mmol/L
- Fasting plasma insulin: < 20 μU/mL</li>
- Not on prescription medication
- Non-smoking
- Not physically active at the competitive and endurance level
- No genetic or metabolic diseases

The preceding evening's dinner was provided as part of the experimental design in study 1 (chapter 3) of the thesis. Past work demonstrating that the previous evening's meal had no effect on physiological responses was subsequently found (Campbell *et al.*, 2003) and the provision of dinner was consequently omitted from the subsequent experiments. The participants were allowed to eat anything they would like for dinner but were instructed to consume a meal of similar type, size and composition every evening before test days. Water was allowed *ad libitum*. On the day prior to a test they were also advised to restrict their intake of alcohol and caffeine-containing drinks and to avoid intense physical activity (e.g. long periods at the gym, intensive swimming, running, aerobics etc). All subjects when they came in for testing each day provided details of their food intake and physical activity on the preceding evening. This information was collected to ensure compliance.

The participants arrived at the laboratory between 7:00-8:30 am following a 12hour overnight fast. Testing was initiated before 9:00 am. Upon arrival at the lab the subjects were allowed to rest for 10 minutes before testing commenced. The participants were encouraged to keep physical activity to a minimum

during testing and remain seated. Computers, work desks, reading areas and a television were provided for their use. Snacks were provided at the end of testing in studies 1, 3 and 4. All participants maintained at least a day's gap between test sessions to minimise any carryover effects. Randomisation of participants between the treatments was carried out using an online random number generator (www.psychicscience.org/random.aspx).

# 2.2.1.1 Anthropometric, body composition and blood pressure measurements

Anthropometric measurements were obtained after a 12 hour overnight fast with the subject wearing light indoor clothes and no shoes. Height was measured to the nearest centimetre using a free-standing stadiometer (Seca 217, Birmingham, UK) with the subject standing erect and the head in the Frankfurt plain. Body weight was measured to the nearest 0.05 kg using calibrated anthropometric weighing scales (Seca 877, Birmingham, UK). Body mass index (BMI) was calculated as weight (kg)/ height<sup>2</sup> (m). Waist circumference was measured to the nearest centimetre using an anthropometric measuring tape (Seca 201, Birmingham, UK) at the mid-point between the coastal margins of the ribs and upper margin of the iliac crest. Body composition analyser (Model BC-418 MA, Tanita UK Ltd., Yiewsley, UK). Blood pressure was measured with an automatic upper-arm blood pressure monitor (UA-767, A&D Instruments Ltd., Oxford, UK) with the subject seated and the upper arm raised to mid-sternum level.

### 2.2.1.2 Questionnaires used to vet participants

The objective in all the studies was to use normal healthy adults not suffering from any chronic medical conditions, eating disorders and not engaged in sports at the competitive and endurance levels. Pre-validated questionnaires were therefore used to screen participants for eating disorders, physical activity and general health prior to inclusion in the experiments. Eating habits and disorders were ascertained using the Dutch eating questionnaire (Van Strien et al., 1986) (appendix 1) and only those scoring less than 2.8 were included in the experiments. A score less than 2.8 signified that the participant does not intentionally restrict food intake (for reasons such as weight control and aesthetics) or suffer from eating disorders (anorexia and bulimia nervosa) (Higgs & Eskenazi, 2007). Physical activity was quantified with Baeck's physical activity questionnaire (Baecke et al., 1992) (appendix 2), and those scoring a total of ≥7 (high physically active) were excluded. This ensured the omission of those engaged in intense and endurance physical activity at a competitive level. Potential participants also filled in a health questionnaire (developed by the Nutrition Research Group at Oxford Brookes University) listing details of food allergies, intolerances, food dislikes, and genetic and metabolic diseases (Appendix 3). All those allergic and/or intolerant to the foods provided in the study and having illnesses requiring prescription medicine were excluded.

### 2.2.2 Ethical approval

Ethical approval for all the experiments was obtained from the Oxford Brookes University research ethics committee (UREC) prior to participant recruitment

and initiation. The ethics approval covered all aspects pertaining to the study protocol, information sheets, recruitment procedures and advertisements.

All participants gave written informed consent before taking part in the study. Upon completion of the experiment they were debriefed and compensated for their time with book tokens. Examples of a UREC ethics approval letter and a participant consent form are shown in appendix 4.

### 2.2.3 Measurement of *in vitro* glycaemic potency

### 2.2.3.1 Obtaining masticated rice samples for *in vitro* digestion

Participants were given 50 g of cooked rice along with a plastic screw-cap container. Using the dessert spoon provided the subjects were instructed to eat the rice as normal and expectorate it into the plastic container when felt the need to swallow. Within five minutes of obtaining the masticated sample two sub-samples of 10 g each were measured into falcon<sup>TM</sup> tubes (BD Biosciences, Ontario, Canada). To arrest  $\alpha$ -amylase activity the samples were immediately acidified to pH 3 with 1M HCL. Sodium azide (4%, 0.1 mL) was added into each tube as a bacteriostat and the tubes were vortexed for 15 seconds. Samples were collected over a 30 day period and analysed as one batch; therefore they were thus treated to ensure stability during storage. The treated samples were frozen (-26°C) until *in vitro* digestion.

#### 2.2.3.2 *In vitro* digestion

The digestion technique used is a validated method that has been previously used for determining the glycaemic potency of carbohydrate foods (Englyst & Hudson, 1987; Woolnough *et al.*, 2008; Mishra & Monro, 2009). Digestion was

carried out on 10 g samples of masticated rice placed in 70 mL specimen pots inserted to their full depth in a digestion system comprising a 30 well Aluminium block maintained at  $37^{\circ}$ C using a circulating water bath (Figure 2.1). Each well was stirred independently by a 25 x 10 mm magnetic stirring bar rotating at 130 rpm. Digestion consisted of simulated gastric and pancreatic digestion stages with timed sampling during the latter phase. It involved the following specific steps (Monro *et al.*, 2010).

- Gastric digestion stage- mixed with 30 mL water + 0.8 mL 1M HCl + 1 mL 5% porcine pepsin (P7000; 800-2500 U/mL; Sigma-Aldrich, Dorset, UK) in 0.05 M HCl and incubated at 37 °C and pH 2.5 for 30 minutes
- 2. Neutralised to pH 6 with 2 mL 1M NaHCO<sub>3</sub>, 5 mL 0.2M Na maleate buffer (23.2 g maleic acid+ 800 mL distilled water, adjusted to pH 6.0 with 4M NaOH), containing 0.02% Na azide and 0.15% CaCl<sub>2</sub>. The volume of the contents was made up to 53 mL with water. Duplicate 0.5 mL aliquots were withdrawn (Time = 0) to measure baseline glucose concentrations.
- 3. Pancreatic digestion stage- amyloglucosidase (0.1 mL, from Aspergillus niger, E-AMGDF; 3260 U/mL; Megazyme, Wicklow, Ireland) and 1 mL of 2% porcine pancreatin (Sigma-Aldrich P7545; 8 X USP specifications) in Na maleate buffer (pH 6.0) were added in quick succession and digestion carried out for the next 120 minutes. During this period further 0.5 mL aliquots were removed in duplicate (every 20 minutes) to measure glucose concentration. The 0.5 mL digesta aliquots were each added into capped

tubes containing 2 mL of ethanol and stored at 4°C until analysed for sugar content (2.2.5.3).

Sample residues at the end of 120 minutes of *in vitro* digestion were quantitatively transferred to individual dishes and their dry weights determined after drying to a constant weight in an oven at 105°C.

Total available starch content in the rice was measured by homogenising (to a slurry) a weighed sample for 20 seconds at the end of the gastric phase of digestion using an Ultra-Turrax Homogeniser (IKA<sup>®</sup>-Werke, GmbH & Co., Staufen, Germany) with an S18N-19G dispersing element. The sample was digested for 240 minutes from the addition of pancreatin and glucose content in a 0.5 mL sub-sample obtained at the end was measured as described in section 2.2.5.3.



Figure 2.1: The in vitro digestion system

### 2.2.3.3 Analysis of sugar content in sample aliquots

Reducing sugar content in the ethanolic sample aliquots was analysed using the Dinitrosalycylic acid (DNS) method (Lindsay, 1973). The ethanolic phase was clarified by centrifugation (1000 g, 5 minutes; Heraeus Labofuge 300, Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc. MA, USA). A 0.05 mL aliquot of the digesta was transferred to a glass test tube and incubated for 10 minutes at 20°C following the addition of 0.25 mL of 1% amyloglucosidase in 0.2 M acetate buffer (pH 5.2). This completed depolymerisation of any remaining maltose and dextrins and converted all the carbohydrates into glucose (Mishra & Monro, 2009). Subsequently, 0.75 mL of DNS reagent (10 g 3,5-dinitrosalicylic acid + 16 g NaOH + 300 g Na–K tartarate in 1 L of water) was added, and the tubes were held at 100°C for 15 minutes in a water bath (Model GD-100, Grant Instruments, Cambridge, UK). After cooling to room temperature the contents were diluted with 4 mL of distilled water and the absorbance of the resultant was read at 530 nm using a UV/Visible spectrophotometer (Model UV-1201, Shimadzu Ltd., Milton Keynes, UK) (Mishra & Monro, 2009). Glucose concentrations (mg of glucose/ g of sample) in sample aliquots were calculated using the following formula (Englyst & Hudson, 1987; Mishra & Monro, 2009).

 $(\frac{abs \ of \ sample}{abs \ of \ s \tan d}) * glu \cos e \ conc \ in \ s \tan d * digestion \ pot \ vol * dilution \ in \ ethanol$ 

Sample weight

where,

Abs= absorbance; stand= standard; conc= concentration; vol= volume

### 2.2.4 Measurement of the *in vivo* blood glucose response

The protocol used to measure the blood glucose response (GR) was adopted from that described by Brouns *et al.* (2005) and is in line with procedures recommended by the FAO/WHO (1998). The non-dominant hand was used for blood sampling. Blood was obtained by finger prick using the Unistik 3 singleuse lancing device (Owen Mumford, Woodstock, UK) (Figure 2.2). To minimise plasma dilution fingertips were not squeezed to extract blood but gently massaged starting from the base of the hand moving towards the tips. The first two drops of expressed blood were discarded and the next drop (5 µL) was used for testing. Two fasting blood samples were taken five minutes apart for baseline values and the freshly cooked test food was consumed immediately afterwards. Further blood samples were taken at specified times from the commencement of eating. Blood glucose was measured using the HemoCue® 201+ Glucose analyser (HemoCue Ltd, Dronfield, UK) (Figure 2.2). The HemoCue is a reliable method of glucose analysis (Stork *et al.*, 2005). The HemoCue instruments used in the study were calibrated against an automated glucose analyser (YSI 2300 stat, YSI Inc., Yellow Springs, Ohio, USA) which is a pre-validated instrument for the determination of blood glucose concentrations (Wolever, 2006). The unit of measurement was mmol/L.



Figure 2.2: The HemoCue® 201+ Glucose analyser and the Unistik® 3 single-use lancing device

Blood glucose response curves were plotted for each subject using changefrom-baseline (CFB) values. This is the difference between the blood glucose reading at a measurement point and the baseline blood glucose value (mean of the two baseline values). The total GR (for the entire 120 minutes and for specific time periods) was expressed as the incremental area under the curve (IAUC) ignoring the area below the baseline and was calculated geometrically (FAO/WHO, 1998).

### 2.2.5 Measurement of the *in vivo* blood insulin response

Blood samples were obtained using the procedure described above in section 2.2.6. At each test time point 300  $\mu$ L of blood was collected into chilled Microvette<sup>®</sup> capillary blood collection tubes treated with di Potassium EDTA (CB 300 K2E; Sarstedt Ltd., Leicester, UK). The Microvette<sup>®</sup> tubes were centrifuged (6000 rpm for 10 minutes, model MC-6; Sarstedt Ltd., Leicester, UK) and 120  $\mu$ L of the plasma was separated and frozen (-40 <sup>°</sup>C) until analysis. Storage time of the samples was not more than 14 days. Insulin concentrations in the plasma samples were determined by electrochemiluminescence immunoassay using an automated analyser (Cobas<sup>®</sup> E411; Roche diagnostics, Burgess Hill, UK). The Cobas<sup>®</sup> system is a reliable method of plasma insulin determination (Braden *et al.*, 1995). The unit of measurement was  $\mu$ U/mL.

Insulin data processing, curve construction and calculation of the IAUC were carried out in the same manner as for the GR data (section 2.2.6).

### 2.2.6 Measurement of gastric emptying

Gastric emptying (GE) was measured using the <sup>13</sup>C labelled sodium acetate breath test (Clegg & Shafat, 2010). Breath samples for the analysis of <sup>13</sup>CO<sub>2</sub> were taken at baseline (prior to consumption of the test meal) and at specified times afterwards. Samples were collected by the subject blowing gently into a

10 mL exetainer<sup>®</sup> tubes (Labco, Buckinghamshire, UK) through a drinking straw and replacing the cap just prior to the end of exhalation. A nose-clip was worn during sampling to ensure exhaling occurred only through the mouth.

Breath samples were analysed using isotope ratio mass spectrometry (Mk 5 ABCA, SerCon LTD, Chesire, UK), and results were expressed relative to Vienna PeeDee Belemnite (V-PDB) an international standard of known <sup>13</sup>C composition. The amount of <sup>13</sup>CO<sub>2</sub> was expressed as the excess amount in the breath above baseline (moles). Data were displayed as percentage of the <sup>13</sup>CO<sub>2</sub> dose recovered per hour and cumulative percentage <sup>13</sup>CO<sub>2</sub> recovered over time. Carbon dioxide production was assumed to be 300 mmol/m<sup>2</sup> body surface area per hour (Ghoos et al., 1993). Body surface area was calculated using a pre-validated weight-height formula (Haycock et al., 1978) which was then fitted to a GE model developed by Ghoos and colleagues (1993). For all the data, the r<sup>2</sup> co-efficient between the modeled and raw data was calculated and this was greater than 0.95 which indicated that the model represented the raw data to a high degree. From the model GE lag  $(T_{lag})$  and half  $(T_{half})$  time was calculated using the formula derived by Ghoos *et al.* (1993). Latency  $(T_{lat})$ and ascension (Tasc) times were computed using the formulas of Schommartz et al. (1998).

# 2.2.7 Measurement of subjective feelings of hunger and satiety

Subjective feelings of hunger, fullness, desire-to-eat and prospective food consumption were measured with 100 mm continuous line visual analogue scales (VAS). The specific questions asked were, 'How hungry do you feel?',

'How full do you feel?', 'How strong is your desire to eat?' and, 'How much food do you think you can eat?'. The lines were anchored at the left and right ends with opposing statements for each of these questions. The participants had to fill in all four scales at each measurement time-point. The VASs were provided in the form of a booklet at each test session and the participants were instructed how to accurately complete the scales at the pre-study briefing. An example of a VAS data collection sheet is presented in Appendix 5.

The VAS ratings were quantified by measuring the distance between the left end of the scale and the point marked by the participant. The CFB was calculated using these values. The resulting data were processed in the same manner as that from the GR (section 2.2.6).

### 2.2.8 Measurement of oral processing parameters

Data on the number of mouthfuls taken to consume the entire portion of each test food, the number of chews per mouthful and the time taken to masticate a mouthful were collected using electromyography (EMG) (Woda *et al.*, 2006a). Electromyograms were recorded from the left and right masseter muscles using bipolar surface electrodes (Brown, 1994; Mioche & Martin, 1998). The muscles were identified by palpitation whilst the participants clenched their jaws. The electrodes were moistened with distilled water and attached lengthwise along the muscles using adhesive strips (Figure 2.3). An additional earth electrode was attached to the right-arm wrist. The electrodes were attached to a programmable data acquisition unit (DataLOG model P3X8; Biometrics Ltd., Gwent, UK).



Figure 2.3: Electrode placements on the cheeks for EMG measurement, and the data acquisition unit

Data outputs were processed using LabVIEW 2009 software (National Instruments Corporation, Austin, Texas). The number of mouthfuls to consume the test food, the number of chews per mouthful and the time taken to chew each mouthful were quantified for each data set. The average value for each attribute for each test food for each participant was calculated.

# 2.2.9 Measurement of particle size distribution in masticated food

The method used was adapted from previously published work (Jiffry, 1981; van der Bilt *et al.*, 2006). Each subject was provided with 100 g of the test food and 100 mL of distilled water along with a plastic screw-cap container (pre-weighed). A standard dessert spoon (12.3 mL volume) or fork (depending on the test food) was also provided. The participants were instructed to take spoonfuls/forkfuls of the test food in quantities they were habitually accustomed to and chew to the point where they felt the need to swallow. However, instead of swallowing the subjects were instructed to expectorate the food into the pre-

weighed plastic container provided. To maximise recovery the participants were advised to use the water (100 mL) and rinse their mouth with a little amount following each mouthful and also spit that into the plastic container. The participants were advised not to swallow any of the food as practically possible. The pre-weighed plastic container with the masticated sample was re-weighed immediately afterwards. Particle size analysis was carried out within 10 minutes of obtaining the samples. Total masticated fresh sample weight was calculated by difference ([weight of masticated food + container + water] – [weight of plastic container + weight of water]).

The samples were washed through a set of three standard sieves (mesh sizes: 2000  $\mu$ m, 1000  $\mu$ m and 500  $\mu$ m; Endecotts Ltd., London, UK) under running tap water until the eluting liquid was free of rice particles (Figure 2.4). The retained particles on each sieve were quantitatively transferred into drying dishes and dried in an oven at 105<sup>o</sup>C until a constant weight was reached. The dry matter collected on each sieve was calculated as a percentage of the total dry sample weight. Particle sizes calculated were >2000  $\mu$ m, <2000  $\mu$ m->1000  $\mu$ m, <1000  $\mu$ m->500  $\mu$ m and <500  $\mu$ m.



Figure 2.4: Sieves used for separating masticated bolus to different size categories

### 2.2.10 Test food preparation

#### 2.2.10.1 Rice

Pure white Basmati rice of a single variety, (*Oryza sativa L*.; strain HBC-19) (Tilda Ltd., Essex, UK) was used for all the studies. All of the rice was from a single cultivated batch. The use of a single rice variety of known purity ensured that the data was not affected by varietal differences (Ranawana *et al.*, 2009). A portion was defined as the amount containing 50 g of available carbohydrates (difference between total carbohydrates and fiber) (64.8 g of rice). Compositional information (per 100 g) was obtained from the supplier (total carbohydrates 77.6 g, fiber 0.4 g, protein 8.6 g, fat 0.4 g). Each test portion was cooked separately.

The rice:water ratio for cooking was maintained at 1:8 (as per manufacturer instructions). The water was brought to the boil in a saucepan at the maximum hob setting (6, Model CK-280, Kenwood Ltd., Havant, UK). The rice was added and allowed to return to the boil. The hob setting was subsequently lowered to position 4 and the rice was simmered for exactly 10 minutes. After cooking the rice was drained and served to the participant within 5 minutes.

#### 2.2.10.2 Spaghetti

The spaghetti used in the study was purchased as a single lot (Tesco Spaghetti, Tesco PLC, Cheshunt, UK). In order to standardise the size the spaghetti sticks were broken into 12 cm lengths before cooking. A portion was defined as the quantity consisting of 50 g of available carbohydrates (difference between total carbohydrates and fiber) (71 g of spaghetti). Compositional information (per 100 g) was obtained from the supplier (total carbohydrates 73

g, fiber 2.6 g, protein 12.5 g, fat 1.4 g). Each test portion was cooked separately. The spaghetti:water ratio for cooking was maintained at 1:14 (as per manufacturer instructions). The cooking procedure was similar to that adopted for rice (section 2.2.11.1). After cooking the spaghetti was drained and served to the participant within 5 minutes.

Leaching of carbohydrates into the water occurs during the cooking of rice and spaghetti. However, standardising the cooking procedures ensured that the losses were constant at all the test sessions and therefore did not contribute to the differences observed between treatments.

### 2.2.11 Measurement of salivary α-amylase activity

Saliva samples for measuring  $\alpha$ -amylase activity were collected using the prevalidated Salivette<sup>®</sup> system (Sarstedt Ltd., Leicester, UK) (Rohleder & Nater, 2009). The participants were instructed to take a mouthful of distilled water and rinse for 30 seconds. During the ensuing 2 minutes subjects repeatedly salivated and swallowed to remove all traces of water from the mouth. The Salivette<sup>®</sup> cotton swab was subsequently placed in the mouth for exactly 2 minutes. During this time subjects were instructed to continuously move the swab around the mouth surfaces and simulate a chewing motion on the swab. After 2 minutes the saturated cotton swab was placed back in the Salivette<sup>®</sup> system and centrifuged (3000 rpm for 5 minutes, Heraeus Labofuge 300, Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc. MA, USA). The resulting saliva samples (approximately 1000 µL) were stored at -40<sup>°</sup>C until analysis.

The pre-validated Phadebas<sup>®</sup> test (Magle AB, Lund, Sweden) was used for measuring  $\alpha$ -amylase activity in the saliva samples (Ben-Aryeh *et al.*, 1990). The method uses a water-insoluble cross-linked starch polymer carrying a blue dye. When exposed to  $\alpha$ -amylase this substrate gets hydrolysed and releases the dye into the aqueous phase. The absorbance of the aqueous phase is measured as an indicator of  $\alpha$ -amylase activity. Sample analysis was carried out as per manufacturer instructions. The saliva samples were defrosted and a sub-sample (200 µL) was transferred into a centrifuge tube along with 4 mL of distilled water. The tubes were incubated for 5 minutes at 37<sup>°</sup>C. One Phadebas<sup>®</sup> reagent tablet was added into each tube and mixed well by vortexing for 10 seconds. The samples were incubated for exactly 15 minutes at 37°C and the reaction stopped by the addition of 1 ml of 0.5 M NaOH. After centrifugation (5 minutes at 3500 rpm) the blue supernatant was transferred into a cuvette and its absorbance was read at 620 nm using a UV/visible spectrophotometer (Model UV-1201, Shimadzu Ltd., Milton Keynes, UK). The absorbance values were transformed to  $\alpha$ -amylase activity (in U/ml) using a conversion table provided with the Phadebas<sup>®</sup> kit.

### 2.2.12 Statistical analyses

Statistical analyses were carried out using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) version 17 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, Illinois) and data and figures processed in a Microsoft Excel spreadsheet (2006, Microsoft, Reading, UK). Data are presented with descriptive statistics (mean, standard deviation [SD], standard error [SE], coefficient of variation [CV]) where appropriate. Alpha ( $\alpha$ ) was set at 0.05 for all the statistical analyses and post-hoc comparisons. All the data sets in the studies were normally distributed (determined using the

Kolmogorov-Smirnov statistic). Power analysis was carried out using the G\*Power software (Ver. 3.0.10, Universitat Kiel, Kiel, Germany).

# 2.3 Part 2: Experiment-specific methods and protocols

# 2.3.1 Study 1: Glycaemic response, insulin response and satiety of liquids and solids

### 2.3.1.1 Subjects

Ten participants (8 females and 2 males) fulfilling the acceptance criteria (section 2.2.1) were recruited for the study (Table 2.1). The collective mean for males and females are presented because the number of males was too small to justify gender-wise values.

Number (n)		10 (2 males, 8 females)
Age (years)		28±2.5
Height (m)		1.7±0.03
Weight (kg)		62.4±3.5
Body mass index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )		21.3±0.01
Body fat content (%)		18.0±4.7
Fasting blood glucose (mmol/L)		4.5±0.03
Fasting blood insulin (µU/mL)		$7.2 \pm 3.9$
Blood pressure	Systolic (mmHg)	118 ± 2.1
	Diastolic (mmHg)	79 ± 2.3

Table 2.1: Baseline measurements of participants in study 1 (mean ± standard error)

### 2.3.1.2 Test foods

The four test foods in the study were white Basmati rice, commercial dry durum wheat spaghetti, pure orange juice (orange juice from concentrate; Tesco PLC, Cheshunt, UK) (OJ) and a sugar-sweetened fruit (blackcurrant) drink (Ribena, Rathfarnham, Dublin) (SSD) (Table 2.2). The types and cooking procedures for rice and spaghetti are described in sections 2.2.10.1 and 2.2.10.2 respectively. The SSD was of the ready-to-drink (RTD) type and consisted of water, blackcurrant concentrate (7%) and sucrose. All four treatments were served in portions containing 50 g of available carbohydrates.

The total volume of each meal was 576 mL (this was the total volume that resulted for the beverage conditions when 100 mL of accompanying water was provided (Table 2.2). The volume of the solid meals was also matched to this total.

	Nutritional composition (g/100 g)				Portion	Volume of
	Total carbohydrates	Fibre	Protein	Fat	Size (g)	provided with meal (mL)
Orange juice	10.5	0	0.5	0	476	100
Sugar- sweetened fruit drink	10.5	0	0	0	476	100
Rice (raw)	77.6	0.4	8.6	0.4	64.8	280
Spaghetti (raw)	73	2.6	12.5	1.4	71	290

Table 2.2: Test foods used in the study investigating effects of physical state on glycaemia

### 2.3.1.3 Study protocol

A randomised crossover within-subject repeated measures non-blind design was adopted. All treatments were tested once by each participant. The subjects were provided a standard dinner for the evening before each test session. This consisted of a pizza (411g; Primafresco Margherita pizza; The Pizza Factory, Nottingham, UK) and an apple (170g; variety Braeburn; Tesco PLC, Cheshunt, UK). The composition (per 100 g) of the total meal was 335.9 kcal energy, 12 g protein, 50 g carbohydrates, 12 g fat and 6 g fibre. Subjects were instructed to eat only the provided food and avoid post-dinner snacks and beverages. Water was allowed *ad libitum*. The participants also completed a 24 hour food diary.

Blood samples in the fasting state were obtained for blood insulin and glucose analysis (using procedures described in sections 2.2.5 and 2.2.4 respectively). Participants also completed VAS at this time to provide data on baseline subjective feelings (section 2.2.7). The test food and water was subsequently consumed and finished within 15 minutes. Blood samples for insulin analysis were collected 30, 45, 60, 90 and 120 minutes following the start of the meal. Blood samples for glucose analysis and VAS data were obtained at 15, 30, 45, 60, 90 and 120 minutes following the start of the meal.

The participants were not allowed any food or drink during the post-prandial testing period (120 minutes) and spent the time as described in section 2.2.1.

### 2.3.1.4 Statistical analyses

*In vivo* assessment of the GR and glycaemic index was based on 6-10 subjects as recommended by Brouns *et al.* (2005) and the FAO/WHO (1998). With a sample size of 10 and an effect size of 0.40 the study had a power of 81%.

The IAUC data for the blood GR, IR and that from VAS were analysed using the repeated measures analysis of variance (ANOVA) procedure with the IAUC data for the treatments as the within-subjects variables. Pair-wise comparisons were carried out where a significant difference was observed using the Bonferroni test. Peak GR values were also compared with the repeated measures ANOVA procedure. Bivariate correlation analysis (Pearson's correlation co-efficient) was used to assess associations between the GR, IR and VAS data. Correlations were made between the GR, IR and each of the VAS questions for each test time point and for the total response (calculated as the IAUC).

### 2.3.2 Study 2: The effect of carbohydrate-based energy containing beverages on satiety and short term food intake

### 2.3.2.1 Subjects

Twenty five males and 25 females were recruited for the study. Of the total recruited 23 men and 24 women completed the study (Table 2.3). Participant age was limited to 18-30 years as the objective of the study was to observe effects in young adults. In addition to the questionnaires described in section 2.2.1.2 the participants completed a further questionnaire on breakfast, snacking habits and food preferences. A pre-tested questionnaire developed by

Oxford Brookes University was used for this purpose (Appendix 7). The inclusion criteria were,

- Habitually consume breakfast on five or more days of the week
- Habitually consume snacks between main meals on five or more days of the week
- Habitual week-day lunch consisted of at least 50% of the foods offered in the (study) buffet lunch.

Screening for these parameters was important as the study provided breakfast, a drink preload as a snack and a buffet lunch.

		Males	Females
Number		23	24
Age (years)		24±0.5	23±0.5
Height (m)		2.0±0.1	1.6±0.2
Weight (kg)		76±2.5	58±2.3
Body Mass Index $(kg/m^2)^*$		24±0.5	22±0.5
Waist circumference (cm)		81±1.5	72±1.6
Blood pressure (mmHg)	Systolic	128±2.5	113±2.9
	Diastolic	73±1.9	72±2.0

Table 2.3: Baseline characteristics of participants in study 2 (mean ± standard error)

#### 2.3.2.2 Treatment beverages

The three beverages tested were orange juice from concentrate (Tesco PLC, Cheshunt, Hertfordshire) (OJ), semi-skimmed milk (Tesco PLC, Cheshunt, Hertfordshire) (milk) and a sugar sweetened fruit drink (Ribena, Rathfarnham, Dublin) (SSD). These were compared against a calorie-free artificially sweetened (aspartame) drink (Ribena, Rathfarnham, Dublin) (Table 2.4) (control). All the beverages were presented chilled and in opaque bottles. The OJ, milk and SSD were provided in portions containing 150 kcal of metabolisable energy whilst the volume of the control was the average of the other three beverages (Table 2.4). All participants consumed the entire portions within 10 minutes.

Beverage	Orange juice	Semi-	Sugar-	Artificially-sweetened
preload	(OJ)	skimmed	sweetened fruit	fruit drink
		milk	drink(SSD)	(control)
Volume per				
portion (mL)	319	306	349	325
Energy per				
portion (kcal)	150	150	150	4
Energy density	0.47	0.50	0.43	0.04
(kcal/g)				
Total	10.5	4.8	10.5	0.5
Carbohydrates				
(g/100 mL)				
Sucrose (g)	5.2	0	10.5	0.06
Glucose (g)	2.6	0	0	0.19
Fructose (g)	2.6	0	0	0.25
Lactose (g)	0	4.8		0
Fibre (g)	0	0	0	0
Protein (g)	0.5	3.6	0	0
Fat (g)	0	1.8	0	0
Ingredients	Orange juice	Cow's milk	Water,	Water, blackcurrant
	from		blackcurrant juice	juice concentrate
	concentrate		concentrate (7%),	(7%), Aspartame,
			sucrose	Acesulfame K.

 Table 2.4: Characteristics of treatment beverages in study 2

#### 2.3.2.3 Test meals

The participants were provided a standard breakfast and a buffet lunch. Breakfast consisted of white and wholemeal bread (fresh or toasted), corn flakes, bran flakes, low fat spread, marmalade, jam, milk, tea and coffee (please see appendix 6-1 for compositional information). On the first day of testing the participants were informed that they could select any combination and quantity of these foods for breakfast. This was then kept standard for each individual for all the sessions.

Lunch was provided as a self-selection buffet and included a variety of foods in ample quantity (Figure 2.5). Two distinct menus were developed each adjusted to contain similar total energy contents (2679±2.4 kcal- based on energy contribution from one portion of each food item in each buffet) and was presented to the subjects at alternating test sessions and once per each test beverage (Appendix 6-2). Food energy and macronutrient composition was calculated from manufacturer information and compositional analysis software (Dietplan, Forestfield software Ltd., West Sussex). Mean protein, carbohydrate and fat percentage per portion of each food item in both menus was 4.4%, 21.3% and 7.1% respectively (Appendix 6-3). Typical portion sizes were determined from the literature (MAFF, 1993). However, the final portion sizes in the buffet were modified so that all the items contained approximately similar energy contents per portion (Appendix 6-3). At least three portions of each food item were always made available at the buffet.



Figure 2.5: An example of the buffet lunch presentation style

### 2.3.2.4 Study protocol

A repeated measures non-blind randomised self control design was adopted with each participant returning for eight separate test sessions. In order to minimise climatic effects participants completed the sessions within four consecutive weeks. Each beverage was tested twice by the participants, and the order of presentation was counterbalanced across sessions. The test sessions were identical in all respects except for the drink served. Each test session included a standard breakfast, the preload and an *ad libitum* buffet lunch. The time interval between breakfast and preload was three hours and that between the preload and lunch, one hour.

The participants were blinded to the principal outcomes of the study and were instead told that it, 'examined the palatability of the drinks and their effect on satiety'. They were told that the only data obtained in the study were those from the VAS. However, the primary measurement was the amount of energy consumed at the buffet meal. The study protocol is schematically presented in Figure 2.6.

Test sessions were conducted in a climate controlled food lab (ambient temperature:  $22\pm2^{\circ}$ C). The standard breakfast (section 2.3.2.3) was served five minutes after the participants' arrival and was consumed within 15 minutes.
Subsequently, the subjects were given in writing the times they would have to come in for the drink and lunch. No food and drinks were allowed between breakfast and the test drink except for 250 mL of water. Subjective ratings (VAS) (section 2.2.9) for hunger, fullness and desire to eat were obtained before and after breakfast, before the drink, 20 and 40 minutes following the drink and before and after lunch. Subjects also rated the palatability of the preload immediately after its consumption.

The participants were allowed free access to the lunch buffet and were allowed to eat any amount of food in any combination in as many visits to the buffet as they wished. To minimise social influences participants were seated alone whilst eating. Each participant's food intake was covertly observed and recorded during lunch. When enquired at the post-experiment de-briefing all participants admitted to not being aware that food intake was being recorded. Plate waste was collected and weighed at the end of each test session after the participants had left the laboratory.



Figure 2.6: Schematic presentation of study design

### 2.3.2.5 Statistical analyses and data processing

Power analysis showed that the total sample size (47) and the gender-wise sub-samples (23 males and 24 females) was adequate to detect differences in compensation with a power of 92% and 83% respectively when the effect size was 0.23 ( $\alpha$ =0.05).

The inclusion of the caloric contribution from breakfast in the statistical analyses for total energy intake (described below) did not significantly alter the outcomes. The mean ( $\pm$ SD) energy (kcal), carbohydrate (g), protein (g), fat (g) and fibre (g) intake at breakfast by males and females was 390±120, 71±22, 16±9, 11±2, 7±3 and 297±89, 56±21, 13±6, 8±3, 7±4 respectively. Therefore, caloric contributions from breakfast were omitted from the data analyses.

Energy compensation was defined as the change in the number of kilocalories consumed at lunch following a caloric preload, compared to energy intake after the control and calculated as the ratio between the difference in energy intake at lunch and energy content of the preload (Cecil *et al.*, 2005). Average energy intake and subjective scores (of the two repetitions per treatment) were calculated for each individual for each treatment. The mean data were used for statistical analyses.

Independent sample t-tests carried out for male and female energy intake data indicated a significant gender difference for all the treatments (P<0.01). Male and female energy intake data were therefore analysed separately. However, ANOVA analysis showed no significant differences in VAS data between males and females (P > 0.05) and therefore these were collated and analysed.

Energy and nutrient intake data were analysed using the repeated measures ANOVA procedure with beverage as the within-subjects factor. Visual analogue scale data were analysed as described in section 2.2.9. One-way repeated measures ANOVA was used to analyse VAS IAUC data for treatment effects. The nutrient composition of meals was analysed separately for each macronutrient (carbohydrate, protein, fat and fibre) using one way repeated measures ANOVA. The data of both genders in this regard were pooled since a gender-wise paired t-test analysis showed no differences between the two genders for macronutrient intake. Where significant effects were observed pairwise comparisons were made using Tukey's test.

# 2.3.3 Study 3: *In vitro* studies investigating the effect of food particle size, salivary $\alpha$ -amylase activity and habitual mastication on glycaemic potency

### 2.3.3.1 *In vitro* digestibility of rice of different particle sizes

White Basmati rice was cooked as described in section 2.2.10.1. The resulting rice was chopped using a hand-held food chopper (Zyliss, Zurich, Switzerland) and washed through the sieves described in section 2.2.9. Chopped rice belonging to three particle size groups were thus obtained (>2000  $\mu$ m, 1000-2000  $\mu$ m and <500  $\mu$ m). The separated samples were washed thoroughly until all surface starch was removed. The rice fractions were gently blotted to remove excess surface moisture before weighing and digesting. In addition to these particle groups a further sample was obtained by homogenising the rice using the method described in section 2.2.3.2 (control). The final treatment

sample was whole rice. All 5 samples were then subjected to *in vitro* digestion in the method described in section 2.2.3.

### 2.3.3.2 *In vitro* digestibility of rice habitually masticated by individuals

### 2.3.3.2.1 Subjects

Fifteen participants (10 female and 5 male) fulfilling the acceptance criteria (section 2.2.1) were recruited for the study (Table 2.5). Only those having a full set of natural and unbroken dentition were included.

		Males	Females
Number (n)		5	10
Age (years)		47.5 ± 14	30.3 ± 9
Height (m)		1.8 ± 0.1	$1.6 \pm 0.1$
Weight (kg)		78.7 ± 15	60.1 ± 11
Body mass index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )		$19 \pm 5.3$	24.1 ± 3.1
Fasting blood glucose (mmol/L)		4.6 ± 1.1	4.8 ± 1.2
Blood pressure	Systolic (mmHg)	117 ± 12	121 ± 18
	Diastolic (mmHg)	76 ± 8	79 ± 11

Table 2.5: Baseline characteristics of participants in study 3 (mean ± standard error)

### 2.3.3.2.2 Treatment food

The test food used was Basmati rice. Its type and preparation are described in section 2.2.10.1.

### 2.3.3.2.3 Study protocol

Individuals provided masticated rice samples for particle size distribution analysis (section 2.2.9) and *in vitro* digestion (section 2.2.3) within one session. The participants also provided two samples of saliva (120 minutes apart) for measuring  $\alpha$ -amylase activity (section 2.2.11). Sample collection from all the participants was completed within 30 days. *In vitro* digestion of the samples was carried out as one lot in a single digestion block (section 2.2.3.2).

### 2.3.3.3 Statistical analyses

The *in vitro* method used in this study has a high degree of precision and reproducibility (CV of less than 5%) (Mishra & Monro, 2009). With a sample size of 15 and a medium effect size the design had a power of 82%.

The weights of masticated rice samples used for *in vitro* analysis were corrected for saliva dilution by 23%. This is based on a previous study which found a 23% mean increase in weight following normal mastication of boiled rice (Watanabe & Dawes, 1988).

In vitro digestion data are presented as glucose release (mg/ g of rice) and percentage carbohydrate digested values. The IAUC of the *in vitro* digestion curves were calculated using the trapezoidal method (section 2.2.4). Rapidly digestible starch (RDS) content in individuals' masticated samples was defined as the amount of carbohydrate digested in the first 20 minutes of *in vitro* digestion (Mishra & Monro, 2009). The remaining starch was defined as slowly digestible starch (SDS). Data were analysed using the one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) procedure with IAUC or percentage carbohydrates digested and the subjects as dependent and factor variables respectively. Salivary  $\alpha$ - amylase activity data were also analysed with the one-way ANOVA procedure with enzyme activity (in U/ml) and subjects as the dependant and factor

variables respectively. Correlations were made using linear regression with particle size as the independent factor and the IAUC or the percentage of digested starch the dependant factor. Pair-wise comparisons were made using the Tukey test where significant differences were observed.

## 2.3.4 Study 4: Habitual mastication and its impact on the *in vivo* glycaemic response

### 2.3.4.1 Subjects

Twelve participants (8 females and 4 males) fulfilling the acceptance criteria (section 2.2.1) were recruited for the study (Table 2.6). All those included had a full set of natural and unbroken dentition. Of the total recruited 8 females and 3 males completed the study.

		Mal	es	Females
Number (n)		3		8
Age (years)		35.3 ±	± 4.8	26.9± 2.1
Height (m)		1.7 ± 0	0.01	$1.6 \pm 0.03$
Weight (kg)		66.6 ±	± 4.5	$58.4 \pm 3.6$
BMI (kg/m²)		22.7 ±	± 1.3	21.6 ± 0.7
Body fat content (%)		14.3 ±	± 4.6	28.7 ± 2.0
Fasting blood glucose (mmol/L)		4.4 ± 0	0.02	$4.3 \pm 0.04$
Blood pressure	Systolic (mmHg)	116 ±	: 3.6	118 ± 1.6
	Diastolic (mmHg)	79 ±	2.9	78 ± 1.4

Table 2.6: Baseline characteristics of participants in study 4 (mean ± standard error)

#### 2.3.4.2 Test foods

Rice and spaghetti were used as the model foods. Details regarding type and preparation are outlined in sections 2.2.10.1 and 2.2.10.2 respectively.

### 2.3.4.3 Study protocol

A randomised within-subject repeated measures non-blind design was adopted. The participants came to the laboratory on 6 days and each food was tested on three random days. While the participants tested the *in vivo* GR (section 2.2.4) on all three days oral processing parameter data and samples for particle size analysis were collected on two random days for each food. Testing began in the mornings after subject preparation (section 2.2.1). Blood glucose measurements were obtained at baseline and at 15, 30, 45, 60, 90 and 120 minutes following the consumption of the test food (section 2.2.4). Data from VAS were also collected at the same times (section 2.2.7). In the test sessions where oral processing parameters were measured (as described in section 2.2.8) the EMG electrodes were attached to the participants' cheeks before they consumed the test food and after the baseline blood measurements were taken. Masticated food samples for determining the particle size distribution (section 2.2.9) were obtained at the end of the 120 minutes of GR testing.

### 2.3.4.4 Statistical analyses

Studies on *in vivo* assessment of glycemic response and glycemic index have been based on 6-10 subjects as recommended by Brouns *et al* (2005) and the FAO/WHO (1998). With an effect size of 0.42, a sample size of 11, and each treatment tested in triplicate, the experimental design had a power of 81%.

Only the percentages of particles larger than 2000 µm and smaller than 500 µm were used to determine correlations with the GR. These two groups represented the greater proportion of the masticated food. The intermediate

particle size groups accounted for less than (mean $\pm$  SD) 15 ( $\pm$ 3.7) and 5 ( $\pm$ 2.2)% for rice and spaghetti respectively.

Correlations were made using the linear regression procedure with the percentage of particles (of different size groups), number of chews, number of mouthfuls, chewing time as the independent and the IAUC and GR as the dependant factors. The results were expressed as r (Pearson correlation coefficient),  $R^2$  (regression coefficient) and *P* values. Between-individual variations in mastication rate were analysed with the one-way ANOVA procedure using mean values from each replicate for each individual. Within-individual variations in the mastication parameters and the GR for rice and spaghetti were analysed using the paired t-test procedure. Individual differences in the particle size distribution of masticated food were also analysed using the paired t-test procedure.

2.3.5 Study 5: Between-individual variations in post-mastication digestion aspects and effects of ingested food particle size on glycaemic response, insulin response and gastric emptying.

### 2.3.5.1 Subjects

Thirteen healthy males fulfilling the acceptance criteria (section 2.2.1) were recruited for the study. Of the 13 the full data sets of 12 were obtained (Table 2.7).

Number (n)		12
		07 . 5
Age (years)		27 ± 5
Height (m)		$1.8 \pm 0.02$
Weight (kg)		$75.4 \pm 2.6$
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )		$23.3 \pm 0.6$
Body fat content (%)		13.1 ± 3.2
Fasting blood glucose (mmol/L)		4.8 ± 0.1
Fasting blood insulin (µU/mI)		7.7 ± 1.1
Blood pressure	Systolic (mmHg)	116 ± 3.2
	Diastolic (mmHg)	78 ± 2.1

Table 2.7: Baseline characteristics of participants in study 5 (mean ± standard error)

### 2.3.5.2 Treatments

The test food used was white Basmati rice (section 2.2.10.1) and the two treatments were large (>2000  $\mu$ m) and small (500-1000  $\mu$ m) rice particles. The large particle rice consisted of entire grains. The measurement of 100 randomly selected grains indicated a mean (±SD) length and thickness of 11868±607  $\mu$ m and 1653±200  $\mu$ m respectively. For preparing the small particle treatment the whole rice was ground in a burr mill (Cuisinart <sup>®</sup> Model DBM8U, Hampshire, UK) and passed though a sieve with a mesh size of 1000  $\mu$ m (Endecotts Ltd, London, UK). The fraction that passed through was sieved through another mesh (500  $\mu$ m) (Endecotts Ltd, London, UK) and the retained particles were collected.

The treatments were prepared as a vegetable flavoured risotto. To ensure a standardised degree of cooking the cooking times for the two treatments were different. Since the particle size of the small treatment was smaller than that of the large treatment the cooking time of the former was shorter. The volume of cooking liquid was adjusted so that all of it was absorbed into the rice by the end of cooking and also resulted in similar volumes of cooked risotto.

Accordingly, the large particles were cooked in 200 mL of vegetable stock (Knorr liquid Vegetable stock, Unilever, Merseyside, UK) and 180 ml of water. The small particle treatment was cooked in 200 mL of vegetable stock (Knorr liquid Vegetable stock, Unilever, Merseyside, UK) and 80 mL of water.

The rice and cooking liquid were placed in a pan and 100 mg of sodium [<sup>13</sup>C] acetate was added (to measure gastric emptying (section 2.2.8)). Adjusting the cooking liquid volume (so that none remained at the end of cooking) also ensured that the sodium [<sup>13</sup>C] acetate was completely absorbed into the cooked rice. The cooking procedure for large particles was as described in section 2.2.10.1. The small particles were cooked in the same manner with the exception that the simmering time after bringing to the boil was 2 minutes.

### 2.3.5.3 Study protocol

A randomised crossover within-subject repeated measures non-blind design was adopted. Following the consumption of the treatment the GR, IR and gastric emptying were measured. Baseline blood samples for GR (section 2.2.4) and IR (section 2.2.5) and breath samples for gastric emptying analysis (section 2.2.6) were obtained and the treatment was consumed immediately afterwards. To ensure that the predetermined particle sizes in the treatments reached the stomach without further breakdown the participants were instructed to swallow the food without chewing. The participants were also provided with 200 mL of water which had to be consumed in entirety. After consuming the food further blood samples for GR measurement was taken at 15, 30, 45, 60, 90 and 120 minutes. Blood samples for IR measurement were obtained at 30, 45, 60, 90 and 120 minutes. Breath samples for gastric

emptying measurement were obtained every 15 minutes from the commencement of the meal up to 240 minutes.

### 2.3.5.4 Statistical analyses

Studies on *in vivo* assessment of glycemic response and glycemic index have been based on 6-10 subjects as recommended by Brouns *et al.* (2005) and the FAO/WHO (1998). A sample size of 12 and a medium effects size gave the design a power of 79%.

Differences in total GR, IR, gastric emptying (calculated as IAUC) between large and small particles were analysed with the one-way paired t-test procedure. Correlations between the GR and IR at each time point were made using Pearson's bivariate correlation coefficient.

### Chapter 3: Glycaemic response, insulin response and satiety of liquids and solids

### 3.1 Introduction

Sugars provided in liquid form have been implicated in encouraging 'passive over-consumption' of energy (Gibson & Neate, 2007). It has been speculated that energy delivered in liquid form does not trigger satiety (DiMeglio & Mattes, 2000; St-Onge *et al.*, 2004) and that only solids are detected and activate satiety mechanisms (DiMeglio & Mattes, 2000; Almiron-Roig *et al.*, 2004; Mattes, 2006a; Mourao *et al.*, 2007). Several studies have investigated the comparative effects of liquid and solid carbohydrate based foods on satiety and short-term food intake and reported equivocal findings (chapter 1).

The glucostatic hypothesis (Mayer, 1953) states that food intake is induced when the blood glucose concentration declines, and this has been demonstrated using both animals and humans (Smith & Campfield, 1993; Campfield *et al.*, 1996; Melanson *et al.*, 1999c). Similarly, an inverse association has been observed between food intake and insulin concentrations (Bolton *et al.*, 1981; Wolever, 2006).

A limited number of studies have comparatively observed glycaemic and hormonal responses to liquids and solids. Studies comparing the whole, pureed and liquid forms of foods have shown that the physical state affects the glycaemic response (GR) (chapter 1). However, no previous studies have attempted to address the speculated differences in satiety between liquids and solids from a glucostatic theory perspective. Although some studies have

investigated the physical state of food and its effects on either the GR, insulin response (IR) or subjective feelings of hunger (chapter 1), none have combined all these factors into one comparative trial. The current study was initiated to fill this gap in the literature.

Using a balanced design the specific objective of the study was to determine the GR, IR and subjective feelings of hunger and satiety to two solid (rice and spaghetti) and two liquid (orange juice [OJ] and a sugar-sweetened fruit drink [SSB]) foods (Table 2.2). The OJ was included to represent a fruit juice and the SSB to typify beverages sweetened with extrinsic sucrose. Rice and spaghetti were selected because they are popular starchy staples. It was hypothesised that the GR and IR to liquids and solids will be significantly different, and that this will result in correspondingly distinct satiety responses.

### 3.2 Materials and methods

The materials and methods related to the study are described in section 2.3.1.

### 3.3 Results

### 3.3.1 The glycaemic response

The incremental areas under the curve (IAUC) for the four treatments were significantly different (F[3,27]=4.485, P=0.032). Subsequent post-hoc comparisons showed that the significant difference was only between OJ and rice (Table 3.1). The between-individual variations for the GR IAUC for the two solid treatments were considerably greater than that of the liquids (Table 3.1). The largest variation was observed in rice.

The GR to all four treatments peaked at 30 minutes (Figure 3.1). Although the statistical model comparing the peak glycaemic responses of the four treatments was significant (F[3,27]= 5.860, P=0.003) post-hoc comparisons showed that only the peak responses for SSB and spaghetti, and rice and spaghetti were significantly different (Table 3.1).

The shape of the mean GR curves for OJ and SSB were similar as were those for the rice and spaghetti (Figure 3.1). The GR following OJ and SSB reached baseline at 45 and 54 minutes respectively (Table 3.1). After 120 minutes the GR to the two liquids had fallen below baseline (Figure 3.1). The rice and spaghetti in contrast showed positive and sustained GR values at 120 minutes.

	IAUC of the	Peak GR	Time	IAUC of the	Peak	Time
	GR	(mmol/l)	taken for	IR	IR	taken for
	(mmol.min/l)		GR to	(µU.min/ml)	(µU/ml)	IR to
			revert to			revert to
			baseline			baseline
			(min)			(min)
Rice	96.0 ± 15.9 <sup>*</sup>	$1.8 \pm 0.3^{\#}$	> 120	1140.9 ±	19.6 ±	>120
				224.4	4.5	
Spaghetti	57.6 ± 12.1	1.1 ± 0.1 <sup>*#</sup>	>120	948.2 ±	18.8 ±	>120
				212.5	4.5	
Orange juice	45.0 ± 6.2 <sup>*</sup>	1.7 ± 0.2	45	869.3 ±	31.5 ±	80
(OJ)				114.5	5.7	
Sugar-	65 6 + 7 1	21+02*	54	850 8 +	279+	74
sweetened fruit drink (SSB)	00.0 ± 7.1	2.1 ± 0.2	04	72.1	3.8	7 -

Table 3.1: Peak and IAUC for the blood glucose and Insulin responses (mean ± SE)

SE=Standard error; IAUC= Incremental area under the curve; GR= Glycaemic response; IR= Insulin response; Values with the same superscript symbols within a column are significantly different (Repeated measures ANOVA, Post-hoc Bonferroni test, *P*<0.05).



Figure 3.1: Mean temporal blood glucose response curves for rice ( $\circ$ ), spaghetti ( $\Delta$ ), orange juice (X) and the sugar-sweetened fruit drink ( $\Box$ ). Curves represent the GR for 120 minutes following the ingestion of the test food

### 3.3.2 The insulin response

The IR and GR data at each time point for all four treatments showed a significant association (P<0.001). The correlation co-efficients between the GR and IR for OJ, SSB, rice and spaghetti were 0.97, 0.97, 0.97 and 0.99 respectively.

The IAUC for the IR for OJ, SSB, rice and spaghetti were not significantly different (F[3,27]=0.756, P=0.529). The peak IR for all four treatments was observed at 30 minutes (Figure 3.2) and was not significantly different between the four treatments (F[3, 27]= 2.499, P=0.081). The IAUC for the IR showed considerably higher between-individual variations and were relatively larger than that observed for the GR (Table 3.1). Similar to the GR the variations in the solids were greater than that in the liquids.

The shape of the IR curves for OJ and SSB were similar, as were those for rice and spaghetti (Figure 3.2). Similar to the trends observed with the GR, the IR to OJ and SSB fell below baseline before 120 minutes (at 80 and 74 minutes respectively) (Figure 3.2 and Table 3.1). The IR to rice and spaghetti remained above baseline during the entire testing period.



Figure 3.2: Temporal insulin response (IR) curves for basmati rice ( $\circ$ ), spaghetti ( $\Delta$ ), orange juice (X) and the sugar-sweetened fruit drink ( $\Box$ ). Curves represent the IR for 120 minutes following the ingestion of the test food.

### 3.3.3 Subjective feelings of hunger

All four test foods were most satiating at 15 minutes after consumption (Figure 3.3). Feelings of hunger and fullness decreased thereon and the desire to eat increased. The statistical models individually comparing the VAS IAUC for hunger, fullness, desire to eat and prospective food consumption were significant (F[3,27]=3.529, P=0.028; F[3,27]= 6.679, P=0.002, F[3,27]=3.865, P=0.020, F[3,27]=3.409, P=0.032 respectively) (Figure 3.3, Table 3.2).



Figure 3.3: Temporal curves for the subjective feelings of hunger, fullness, desire to eat and prospective food consumption for basmati rice ( $\circ$ ), spaghetti ( $\Delta$ ), orange juice (X) and the sugar-sweetened fruit drink ( $\Box$ ). The curves illustrate the change in the subjective feeling during the 120 minutes following the consumption of the test foods.

However, post-hoc comparisons showed that only rice and SSD were significantly different in all four models. All four subjective feelings had fallen back to baseline by 30 minutes for all the treatments (Figure 3.3).

No significant correlations were observed between the GR/IR and the VAS data both for the IAUC and at any of the test time points.

	Feeling of Hunger (mm.min)	Feeling of Fullness (mm.min)	Desire to eat (mm.min)	Prospective food consumption (mm.min)
Rice	662.2 ± 87.5 <sup>*</sup>	979.9± 155.8 <sup>*</sup>	$688.8 \pm 81.4^{*}$	728.6 ± 132.7 <sup>*</sup>
Spaghetti	619.1 ± 108.0	720.6 ± 90.9	688.4 ± 103.2	599.3 ± 117.9
Orange juice (OJ)	408.8 ± 88.7	438.2 ± 101.3	466.3 ± 133.8	342.7 ± 108.3
Sugar- sweetened fruit drink (SSB)	348.8 ± 75.4*	404.8 ± 97.8 <sup>°</sup>	315.4 ± 67.6 <sup>°</sup>	292.8 ± 65.2 <sup>°</sup>

Table 3.3 Incremental areas under the curve for subjective feelings (mean ± SE)

IAUC= Incremental area under the curve; SE= Standard error; Values with asterisks within a column are significantly different to each other (Repeated measures ANOVA, Post-hoc Bonferroni test, P<0.05).

### 3.4 Discussion and conclusion

Using a balanced and controlled design this was the first study to investigate the comparative effects of iso-caloric volume-matched portions of liquid and solid foods on the GR, IR, and subjective feelings of hunger. The GR is influenced by food volume also when the available carbohydrate content is kept constant (Wolever, 2006). The total volume of food consumed was therefore equalised for all 4 treatments by adjusting the quantity of water served with the food. This also ensured that stomach distention and resulting post-ingestive satiety signals were equalised for all four treatments (Blundell & Tremblay, 1995).

The results showed that the total IAUC for the GR significantly differed only between OJ and rice. In comparison the IAUC for blood insulin showed no significant differences between the treatments. The peak blood glucose responses for rice and spaghetti were significantly different, although there were no notable differences in the peak blood IR between the four foods. The largest between-individual variation in the IR and GR was observed for the solid treatments and rice in particular. The subjective feelings for hunger, fullness, desire to eat and prospective eating were significantly different between rice and SSB.

The IAUC for the GR observed in this study for rice and spaghetti (96 and 57 mmol.min/l respectively) are comparable to previous findings (94 and 60 mmol.min/l) (Bornet *et al.*, 1990; Ranawana *et al.*, 2009). The current study appears to be the first instance where GR (and IR) values for OJ and SSD were published and therefore no previous data were found for comparisons. However, one previous study observed a peak GR for OJ that was similar to that in the current study (Bolton *et al.*, 1981).

The between-individual variations were relatively greater for the solids than for the liquids and this pattern agrees with previous reports (Lee & Wolever, 1998). This suggests that a greater number of variables affect the GR of solids and

whole grains (like rice) in particular. Factors such as starch structure (Behall *et al.*, 1988; Vansteelandt & Delcour, 1999; Vandeputte & Delcour, 2004), degree of processing, particle size and fibre content (Jenkins & Jenkins, 1985; Vosloo, 2005; Wolever, 2006) have been shown to influence the GR of solids (Vosloo, 2005). However there may also be other contributors to this variation that are yet undetermined. Reasons for the greater variations in solids require further investigation.

The low GR properties of spaghetti have been attributed to its compact structure which makes the starch less accessible to digestive enzymes (Jenkins et al., 1983). This was demonstrated in a study that compared the GR and IR to bread, spaghetti, and linguine of different thicknesses, all made from the same durum wheat based ingredients (Granfeldt et al., 1991). The authors found that the bread elicited a significantly greater GR and IR compared to the pasta. Similarly, thin linguine produced greater responses than the thick form, which suggested that the size and density of food affected digestibility. Mourot et al. (1988) observed that gastric emptying of spaghetti was relatively slow and that its rate correlated significantly with the GR. The low GR properties of spaghetti therefore appear to be due to its compact structure and slow gastric emptying. The different GRs to OJ and SSB may be due to the varying amounts of glucose, fructose and sucrose they contained. These sugars have been shown to differentially affect the GR (Anderson, 1995; Anderson & Woodend, 2003a).

Independent of nutrient and chemical composition the shape of the blood glucose response curves for rice and spaghetti showed a strong concordance

as did those for OJ and SSB. This suggests that the physical state influences the GR pattern. For the two liquid preloads the peak response was followed by a rapid drop to below baseline. The solid foods in comparison showed a positive and sustained GR throughout. These patterns have been previously recorded, and are reported to influence satiety and food intake (Anderson & Woodend, 2003a; Bornet *et al.*, 2007). Transient and dynamic declines in the GR lead to hunger and food intake (Campfield & Smith, 2002) and the acute diminution observed for liquids suggest that they induce hunger at an earlier stage compared to solids. Based on the glucostatic theory (Mayer, 1953) these observations support the thesis that liquids are less satiating (DiMeglio & Mattes, 2000; Gibson & Neate, 2007). The greatest peak and dip was seen for SSB and this suggests that it would be the most satiating in the short-term (during the first 60 minutes) but also induce the greatest hunger afterwards (Bornet *et al.*, 2007).

For all four treatments the correlation coefficient (r) between the GR and IR curves was greater than 0.95 which indicated that the changes in the IR closely followed that of the GR. The IAUC for the GR and IR for the four treatments also showed a correlation co-efficient of 0.86 which implied that the relative total responses were similar. However, correlation co-efficients do not make indications regarding the magnitude of the responses and do not prove causal effects or the direction of causality. Although not significantly different the IAUC for the IR showed larger mean values for the solids. The peak IR values conversely showed higher mean values for liquids. It appears that solids produce marginally larger total insulin responses while liquids elicit greater insulin surges.

The magnitude and shape of the insulin response curves showed distinct differences between liquids and solids and comparable trends have been previously observed (Lee & Wolever, 1998; Tieken et al., 2007). Since the total IAUC for the IR was similar for all the treatments these trends indicate that the liquids elicited a greater initial insulin response compared to solids. Insulin secretion occurs in a biphasic pattern (Nesher & Cerasi, 2002). The first phase lasts approximately between 4-10 minutes and is proportional to the initial glucose load. In the second phase insulin levels show more gradual increases. The initial entry of a large amount of glucose into the blood would therefore produce a greater first phase insulin secretion. The slower digestion rate of solids produces a subdued initial GR and corresponding IR that both sustain above baseline for longer. The trends observed in the current study are consistent with these patterns. Since elevated insulin levels have been associated with increased satiety (Holt & Miller, 1995; Flint et al., 2000; Anderson, 2006), the observed trends suggest that solids will be satiating for longer.

The insulin data in this study were associated with considerably large betweenindividual variations. The variations were greater for the solids compared to the liquids and these trends have been previously observed (Doyle *et al.*, 1997). The larger variations in the IR for solids may be as a result of the greater GR variations. However, the variations observed in the IR in general were notably greater in magnitude than GR variations. This indicates that the physical state affects the IR in a relatively more varied manner. Peracchi and colleagues (2000) observed differing blood incretin concentrations when the same meal was consumed in solid and liquid forms. Varying secretion of these other

secretagogues may also influence the IR and contribute to the observed variations.

The speed of gastric emptying of solids is slower than that of liquids (Collins *et al.*, 1991) which suggests a decreased digestion rate of solids. The rapid gastric emptying of liquids causes a larger initial influx of food into the duodenum and a correspondingly large GR and IR. Indeed, Berry *et al.* (2003) showed that the early phase of gastric emptying significantly influenced total insulin release and glycaemia. Similarly, Mourot *et al.* (1988) observed that gastric emptying of spaghetti was slower than an equal portion of rice, and that the GR and IR of the two foods correlated significantly with their gastric emptying rate. Therefore, the differential response patterns observed in the current study for solids and liquids may have been mediated through their effects on gastric emptying. Gastric emptying also correlates negatively with incretin concentrations (Drucker & Nauck, 2006) and appears to therefore have indirect effects on insulin secretion. A faster gastric emptying rate also results in a brief gastric holding time and consequent post-ingestive satiety phase (Blundell & Tremblay, 1995).

Only rice and SSB produced significantly different subjective feelings of satiety in the current study. Therefore, chemical composition and digestibility appear to play greater roles in stimulating subjective satiety than the physical state. Some previous studies observed no differences in subjective feelings for liquid and solid preloads (Tournier & Louis-Sylvestre, 1991; DiMeglio & Mattes, 2000) while others found liquids to be less satiating than solids (Haber *et al.*, 1977;

Bolton *et al.*, 1981). Although not significant, the trends in the current study also suggested that liquids may be less satiating than solids.

In the current study satiety for all the treatments peaked immediately after consumption (at 15 minutes) and declined thereon. Despite modest dissimilarities the differential subjective feelings lasted only 30 minutes for all treatments. This suggests that both liquids and solids were subjectively perceived in an analogous manner by individuals and that the satiating duration of both liquids and solids was similar. This trend is comparable with previous observations made for a variety of solids and beverages (Merrill et al., 2002; Almiron-Roig et al., 2009; Hlebowicz et al., 2009). Since the GR and IR to the four test foods peaked at 30 minutes, data from the current study suggest that post-ingestive satiety mechanisms influence subjective feelings to a greater degree than the GR and IR. The absence of significant associations between the GR/IR and VAS data further strengthen this hypothesis. The satiating effects of the GR and IR (Bolton et al., 1981; Smith & Campfield, 1993; Campfield et al., 1996; Melanson et al., 1999b; Wolever, 2006) may therefore have a greater influence on the post-absorptive satiety phase (Blundell & Tremblay, 1995). Appetite and food intake could have been more accurately measured if an ad libitum test meal was offered at the end of the 120 minutes of testing, the omission of which is a limitation of the current study in hindsight.

The VAS data in the current study showed wide between-individual variations which indicated that subjects perceived subjective feelings in considerably different ways. However it is uncertain if these variations were due to betweenindividual differences in subjective feelings or individuals' inability to accurately

record their sensations on VAS. Visual analogue scales are currently the most accepted measurement method for subjective hunger and appetite sensations (Flint *et al.*, 2000; Stubbs *et al.*, 2000). However, their reproducibility and sensitivity depend on methodological and biological factors (Flint *et al.*, 2000) (chapter 1).The large variations also suggest that the sample size used in the current study may have been inadequate to discern differences in subjective feelings of satiety. Flint *et al.* (2000) reported that a minimum sample size of 18 was required to detect a appetite sensation difference of 10 mm in VAS.

In conclusion, the results do not agree with the study hypothesis that the physical state of food affects its total GR, IR and perceived satiety. However, differential response patterns in the GR and IR to liquids and solids can be discerned, notably with regards to the slope and amplitude of the curves. The liquids elicit a greater early phase GR and IR. The physical state does not affect the total IAUC. Differences in the pattern of the response curve may have an impact on the satiogenic properties to liquids and solids, and practical significance in food intake and weight control. Based on the glucostatic theory the results suggest that liquids induce hunger at an earlier stage compared to energy and volume matched solids. It is well established that humans detect and compensate for solid caloric preloads (DiMeglio & Mattes, 2000; Tieken *et al.*, 2007; Stull *et al.*, 2008). Further studies are however required to ascertain the compensatory effects to carbohydrate-based liquids in the short-term.

The main conclusions of the study can be summarised as follows:

- The physical state of food does not affect the total glycaemic response or the insulin response.
- Liquids produce a greater early phase blood glucose and insulin
  response
- The between-individual variations in the GR and IR are greater for solid compared to liquid foods.
- There are notable differences in the blood glucose and insulin response patterns between liquids and solids. Based on the glucostatic theory these differences may indicate that liquids elicit hunger at an earlier stage compared to solids.

### Chapter 4: The effect of carbohydrate-based energy containing beverages on satiety and short-term food intake

### 4.1 Introduction

Results from the previous study examining the effects of food physical state on physiological parameters (chapter 3) showed that the glycaemic response (GR), insulin response (IR) and subjective feelings of hunger were not different between liquids and solids. A distinct difference in the blood glucose and insulin response patterns was however observed between liquids and solids, independent of food composition. Based on the glucostatic theory the results suggested that beverages induce satiety for a shorter period of time following their consumption compared to energy and volume matched solids. These and previous observations have also led to the speculation that energy in a liquid media is relatively less satiating and therefore poorly compensated for in the short term. Studies have conclusively shown that humans compensate for a solid caloric load in the short term (DiMeglio & Mattes, 2000; Mourao et al., 2007; Tieken et al., 2007; Stull et al., 2008). However, it is still uncertain if carbohydrate-based energy containing liquids induce similar calorie compensatory effects.

Outcomes from longitudinal and cross-sectional studies suggested that caloric liquids encourage a 'passive over-consumption' of energy (Gibson & Neate, 2007), and that energy regulatory systems in the body did not detect energy provided in a liquid media. Results from short-term randomised controlled studies (RCS) conversely indicated that liquid calories are indeed compensated

for in the short term, and therefore do not lead to a 'passive over-consumption' of energy chapter 1). However, a limited number of RCS have focused on this area and they too vary considerably in terms of methodology. This emphasises the need for data from more experiments before robust conclusions can be made.

Outcomes of preload studies are greatly influenced by design aspects. These include sample size, subject, preload and test meal characteristics. Some limitations in previously published work are notable. These include the use of small sample sizes (<20), restricted test-meal variety and inadequate gender-based distinctions. These aspects were given particular consideration in the current study.

The variety of foods offered at the post-preload meal was limited in previous work. While food intake increases with palatability and variety (Sorensen *et al.*, 2003) repetitive presentation of a small selection produces a monotony effect (Siegel & Pilgrim, 1958) that could considerably affect outcomes in preload trials. Although the presentation of a large variety of food may cause overeating (Rolls, 1986) it is possible that physiological compensation still occurs. This aspect has not been previously investigated and is addressed in the current study.

This experiment also limited its participants to an age between 18-30 years in an attempt to specifically observe compensatory effects within a young adult group. Previous work with this age group showed a greater proclivity towards overeating when presented with *ad libitum* food (Levitsky & Youn, 2004; Rolls

*et al.*, 2004). A previous study also reported possible gender variations in energy intake (Davy *et al.*, 2007). The authors observed a precise compensation for a 418 kcal yogurt preload at a buffet meal 30 minutes later by males but not females. No studies have attempted to confirm these findings, nor has any work been initiated in this respect using liquid caloric preloads.

The objective of the current study was to observe short term calorie compensation effects to carbohydrate-based energy containing beverages following their consumption. This was determined within a design that included a larger variety of treatment drinks, greater food selection at the test meal and larger sample size compared to previous studies. The study also focused more on gender-based distinctions. The treatments were also tested in replicate by all participants to increase precision, a design aspect not adopted in previous preload experiments. The study hypothesised that young adults would compensate for the liquid caloric preloads (containing 150 kcal of energy) at the *ad libitum* buffet lunch provided 60 minutes later.

### 4.2 Materials and methods

The effects of three caloric beverages (orange juice [OJ], semi-skimmed milk (milk), and a sugar-sweetened fruit drink [SSB]) and a calorie-free aspartamesweetened fruit drink (control) on subjective feelings of hunger and subsequent food intake (60 minutes later) were determined. The selection of this time interval was based on results of previous studies which also observed significant compensations in energy intake at the meal eaten 60 minutes after a preload (containing 30-300kcal) (Birch *et al.*, 1989; Rogers *et al.*, 1995; Anderson, 2002). The treatment drinks were served in portions containing 150 kcal of energy. The basis of a 150 kcal energy load was that most soft drinks are marketed in portions approximating this calorie content (Holland *et al.*, 1991). The aspartame-sweetened drink was selected as the control because it was similar in appearance and sensory properties to caloric beverages but with no energy. Previous reports have shown that aspartame and other artificial sweeteners do not influence short term food intake and hunger ratings (Rodin, 1990; Black *et al.*, 1991; Canty & Chan, 1991; Drewnowski *et al.*, 1994; Holt *et al.*, 2000). All four beverages were commercially available drinks of the readyto-drink (RTD) type. Participant, design and experiment details are described in detail in section 2.3.2.

### 4.3 Results

The four test beverages were liked equally by the participants as measured by 100mm visual analogue scales (VAS). Mean ( $\pm$ SE) preference for the drinks were, OJ (67 $\pm$  4), milk (57 $\pm$ 5), SSB (60 $\pm$ 4) and control (55 $\pm$ 5) (F[3,129]=2.38, *P*=0.073). There were no significant differences in preference ratings between the two genders (*P*>0.05).

### 4.3.1 Energy intake

Energy intakes at lunch by males and females were significantly different for all four drink conditions as analysed by independent-sample t-tests (P < 0.01) (Figure 4.1). Male participants consistently ate more food at lunch at all the test sessions (Table 4.1). Mean (±SE) energy intake at lunch (for collated data from all four drink conditions) of males was 1199±11 kcal, while for females it was 843±60 kcal.



Figure 4.1: Gender-wise (males n=23; females n=24) comparison of lunch (spots) and total (lunch [spots] + preload [stripes]) energy intakes for the four beverages. Columns (spotted area of the column) with an asterisk represent significantly different energy intakes at lunch compared to the control within each gender group. # (sugar-sweetened drink) represents a significantly greater total energy intake compared to the control by females. Error bars are standard errors. P<0.05

Males consumed significantly less at lunch following the energy containing preloads compared to the control (F(3,22)=3.30; P=0.03) (Table 4.1). Post-hoc Tukey analysis indicated that food intake subsequent to all three treatments (OJ, milk, SSB) was significantly lower than that following the control. Females also demonstrated a significantly different energy intake following the caloric beverages compared to the control (F(3,69)=3.50; P=0.02) (Table 4.1). Post-hoc analysis however indicated that they consumed significantly less only following milk, relative to the control (Figure 4.1). As a percentage, males demonstrated compensations of 116%, 99% and 108% for the OJ, milk and SSB, whilst females showed 57%, 85% and 7% respectively.

Beverage	Energy content	Males		Females	
preload	in preload (kcal/	Mean energy intake at	Mean total energy	Mean energy	Mean total energy intake
	portion)	(kcal)		lunch (kcal)	(KCal) *
Control	4	1207 ± 70	1207 ± 70	786 ± 52	786 ± 52
Orange juice (OJ)	150	1033 ± 62 <sup>*</sup>	1184 ± 62	701 ± 56	851 ± 56
Semi-skimmed milk	150	1059 ± 82 <sup>*</sup>	1209 ± 82	658 ± 57 <sup>*</sup>	808 ± 57
Sugar-sweetened fruit drink (SSB)	150	1045 ± 77 <sup>*</sup>	1195 ± 77	776 ± 54	926 ± 54 <sup>*</sup>

Table 4.1: Energy intakes by males and females at lunch following preload and mean total energy intakes (mean ± standard error)

Values with asterisks (\*) are significantly different from the control within a column (repeated measures ANOVA, post-hoc Tukey test, *P*<0.05); # corresponds to energy intake from lunch and preload; Control= Artificially-sweetened fruit drink

Mean total energy intakes (energy in preload+ energy intake at lunch) by males following all four beverages were statistically similar [F(3,66)=0.069, P>0.05] (Table 4.1). However, mean total energy intakes for females were significantly different for the beverages [F(3,69)=3.53, P<0.02]. Females demonstrated a trend of greater total energy intake following all three caloric beverage conditions compared to the control. However, post-hoc Tukey comparisons showed that a significantly greater total energy intake compared to the control in this group was seen only for SSB.

The nutrient composition of lunch following the four beverages were not significantly different between males and females and the four drink conditions (P>0.05). Participants intra-individually consumed a lunch of similar composition at all 8 test sessions. Mean (±SE) percentage energy contribution from protein, carbohydrate and fat at lunch in males was 13±1.2%, 44.4±3.3% and 42.6±1.9%, and in females, it was 12.7±0.9%, 44.2±4.0% and 43.1±1.3% respectively.

### 4.3.2 Subjective feelings of hunger

The relative VAS scores for feelings of hunger, fullness and desire to eat correlated significantly (P<0.05) with each other at each point of measurement. Therefore the response pattern for all three attributes was similar. The mean VAS scores at each measured point for hunger, fullness and desire to eat following the four drinks was not significantly different between males and females. When adjusted to the pre-breakfast rating all four treatment conditions demonstrated similar hunger patterns throughout the study sessions (Figure 4.2). Feelings of hunger decreased until 20 minutes after the preload and then gradually increased until the initiation of lunch. The feelings of fullness demonstrated an inverse pattern.



Figure 4.2: Change in (mean) hunger sensations over time for each beverage.

VAS= Visual analogue scales; Values adjusted for t1 (subjective feeling before breakfast). Intensity of hunger increases toward the positive end of the scale. Time points are numbered (t1 to t7) Control= Artificially-sweetened fruit drink.

When the motivational ratings were however adjusted to the pre-drink level (t3) (Figure 4.2) and the IAUC calculated for the time period, t3-t6 (i.e. from before consuming the test beverage until the start of lunch), a significant difference in satiety ratings for the four drinks was observed (F[2,77]=99, P=<0.001) (Figure 4.3). Post hoc Tukey analysis indicated that OJ and milk were significantly more satiating than SSB and the control. The OJ and milk elicited the highest suppression of hunger and were not significantly different to each other. The SSD induced a significantly lower satiety compared to the former two. The least satiating drink was the control and it was significantly so compared to OJ and milk (Figure 4.3). Food intake at the test lunch did not reflect these trends in subjective feelings of hunger as determined by VAS.



Figure 4.3: Incremental area under the curve (IAUC) for subjective feelings of hunger from t3 to t6 (figure 4.2) i.e. before the drink until the initiation of lunch. Values adjusted for t3 (hunger level before consuming the test beverage). Columns with different symbols are significantly different (P=0.05); Control= Artificially-sweetened fruit drink.

### 4.4 Discussion and conclusion

The two buffets were presented to the subjects on an alternating basis and each individual was allowed a maximum of two tests per week. These design aspects ensured that any monotony effects associated with having the same foods at all the sessions was minimised.

The findings of this study showed an energy compensation for liquid calories by young adults, also in the presence of ample quantity and variety at the test meal. Compensation was observed in both males and females, although it was more exact in the former group. Compared to the control, males demonstrated a relative compensation of 100% for the OJ, milk and SSB, while females displayed 57%, 85% and 7% respectively. Relative compensation is defined as the percentage difference in test meal intake relative to the energy content in the preload (Gray *et al.*, 2002; Cecil *et al.*, 2005). These levels of compensation

resulted in the males consuming similar amounts of total energy in all four test drink conditions. The weaker compensation by females however led to a larger total energy intake following the treatment drinks compared to the control in general, and a significant increment when SSB was consumed. Therefore, ingesting a beverage containing 150 kcal did not affect total energy intake in males. However, in females the SSB significantly increased total energy intake compared to the control. The nutrient composition of lunch was similar in all the treatment conditions for both genders which suggest that the drink characteristics did not influence subsequent meal constitution.

A significant gender difference in energy intake was observed in the study. Males consistently ate more at all the test sessions than females. The caloric contribution of the beverage to total energy intake was therefore higher in females. Whilst one drink contributed approximately 13% to the total energy intake of males, it accounted for 18% in females. The results of the current study are in agreement with those of Davy et al. (2007) who also observed a precise compensation for a caloric preload by males but not females. Similar to the findings of the current study they further reported no significant gender differences in subjective feelings of hunger and satiety (determined by VAS). These outcomes were observed by Davy and colleagues in a protocol that comprised of a larger energy preload (360-475 kcal), a time lag of 30 minutes between preload and lunch, a sample size of 12 per gender and a relatively small variety of foods at the test meal. The current study in comparison observed similar effects with a smaller energy preload (150 kcal), longer time lag (60 minutes), larger sample size (n>20 per gender) and a larger selection of foods at the subsequent test meal. A more precise mean (±SD) compensation
was observed in males in the current work  $(107\pm10\%)$  compared to that observed by Davy *et al.* (2007) (86±5%), and a weaker and more varied compensation by females (50±39% vs. 74±5%). Whereas one semi-solid treatment was evaluated by Davy *et al.* (2007) the current study provided data on three liquid treatments and their differential effects. The similar results obtained in the two studies therefore indicate gender differences in short-term energy compensation independent of the physical state of food.

The study offers further evidence using a preload paradigm differing in protocol to those previously reported, of a possible energy compensation dysregulation in females compared to males. Food intake has been shown to be influenced by the menstrual cycle in females (Lissner et al., 1988; Buffenstein et al., 1995; Bryant et al., 2006). As the design did not correct for this its effects may have arguably interfered with the food intake of females. Davy et al. (2007)however showed energy compensation dysregulation in females also when the study was adjusted for the menstrual cycle, suggesting this phenomenon was independent of hormonal influences. The literature suggests some possible reasons for sex differences in energy regulation independent of the menstrual cycle. Del Parigi et al. (2002) used positron emission tomography and showed that different areas of the brain in men and women are activated in response to hunger and satiety signals. This suggests cognitive differences in the way males and females process hunger and satiety cues which may consequently result in different eating responses. Concentrations of satiety related hormones such as leptin and ghrelin also differ between genders. Females have shown higher concentrations for both hormones compared to BMI matched males (Havel, 2001; Greenman et al., 2004). Woods and colleagues (2003)

suggested that females were more receptive to catabolic processes resulting from low leptin, and males more sensitive to low insulin levels. These differences in hormonal sensitivity may also differentially influence food intake by the two genders. Hagobian *et al.* (2009) reported significant male and (menstrual cycle controlled) female differences in appetite, insulin and ghrelin responses to exercise, suggesting that physical activity affected male and female appetite responses in different manners. Animal studies have also shown sex differences in physiological mechanisms associated with appetite (Gayle *et al.*, 2006; Diaz *et al.*, 2009).

Davy *et al.* (2007) suggested gender differences in the glycaemic response (GR) as a possible reason for differences in compensation. However, previous research has shown that there are no gender differences in the GR to carbohydrate loads (Wolever, 2006) and it is therefore unlikely that the GR is responsible for the observed discrepancies. However, it may be possible that females are physiologically adapted to overeat, and therefore have relatively suppressed energy intake regulatory mechanisms. Excess energy reserves in the body would be advantageous during pregnancy and lactation (Harris & Ellison, 1997) and females inherently have a greater amount of fat storage cells compared to males (Sjostrom *et al.*, 1972). This may be suggestive of their physiological proclivity towards a positive energy balance from an evolutionary perspective. Females due to cultural and social demands have also been reported to show more cognitive dietary restraint than males (Rolls *et al.*, 1991; De Castro, 1995). Therefore, when used in preload studies they may not always consume food in quantities reflective of their physiological cues.

Previous reports investigating the effect of caloric beverages on subsequent food intake observed good compensation when the time between preload and test meal was sixty minutes or less (Birch et al., 1989; Anderson, 1995), but not at greater time intervals (DiMeglio & Mattes, 2000; Almiron-Roig & Drewnowski, 2003; DellaValle et al., 2005). In another study (Canty & Chan, 1991) caloric drinks caused a relative reduction in subjective hunger in adults up to 45 minutes after the preload. There were no significant differences in food intake between treatments and the water control at the test meal 60 minutes later. However, the energy content in their sugar preload was approximately 80kcal and may have been insufficient to elicit a physiological response 60 minutes later. Rolls and colleagues (1990) observed no compensation by male participants at a meal 60 minutes following the consumption of a sucrose drink containing 166 kcal of energy. Their study used a relatively smaller sample size (n=14) compared to the current experiment (>20 per gender). Based both on previous reports and findings of the current study it seems apparent that liquid calories are indeed detected and compensated for by the body in the short term. However, the energy content of the preload and the time between preload and the subsequent meal appear to be two key factors influencing the observation of a compensatory effect. Depending on the energy content in the beverage there appears to be a specific time frame within which compensation occurs.

Characteristics of the *ad libitum* test meal need careful consideration when designing a preload study. There is good evidence to indicate a positive correlation between energy intake and food variety (Sorensen *et al.*, 2003; Levitsky & Youn, 2004; Rolls *et al.*, 2004; Norton *et al.*, 2006). A limited

selection of food will conversely produce a monotony effect which could influence measurements in short-term repeated measures preload studies (Siegel & Pilgrim, 1958). The portion size also influences how much is eaten (Levitsky, 2008). Previous studies provided a relatively limited variety of foods at the test meal and consisted of either a single dish or a selection of sandwiches, sweets and fruit. Investigating compensatory effects when individuals are also exposed to a large food selection is crucial to determine how energy regulatory systems function under conditions conducive for overeating. This study provides evidence that compensatory mechanisms function in normal-weight young adults also when food variety and quantity are not limiting factors.

The pattern of change in hunger ratings observed in this study was similar to that observed in the earlier study (chapter 3) and in a previous study by Almiron-Roig & Drewnowski (2003). Maximal satiety was observed immediately following the consumption of the preload and this may have been due to postingestive satiety resulting from gastric distension (Blundell & Tremblay, 1995). The IAUC for hunger corrected to the pre-drink level showed a notable post absorptive satiety effect for the caloric beverages. Compared to milk and OJ the control was significantly less satiating. The control elicited the greatest level of hunger of all four drinks and the SSD produced an insignificant but lesser degree of hunger. The data thus suggested that energy content differences between caloric and non-caloric drinks were subjectively perceived and reflected in VAS. However, this appears to marginally occur when the drinks are sensorially analogous. Sensory attributes may be notably influencing perceived satiety to a food and governed by past experiences. Previous

research has indeed shown that the sensory aspects affect individuals' perceptions regarding a food (Spence *et al.*, 2010). The subjective outcomes from VAS did not correspond with energy intake at the subsequent test meal. This further demonstrates that VAS data are not always reflective of actual food intake (Stubbs *et al.*, 2000) and highlights the importance of including more than one satiety measurement type in food intake studies.

In conclusion, the overall results agree with the study hypothesis that calories in a liquid media are physiologically detected and compensated for. These effects were observed in a design where the drinks contained 150 kcal of energy, the gap between the treatment and test meal was 60 minutes and the variety and quantity of food at the test meal was maximised. The degree of compensation differs between the two genders. Males compensate accurately for calories provided in a liquid media whilst females compensate more poorly in comparison. Therefore, consumption of sugar-sweetened drinks may lead to excess energy intake in females. The study shows for the first time, dissimilarities in compensation levels to liquid calories by the two genders, in a pattern similar to that previously observed with semi-solids (Davy et al., 2007). The main conclusions of the study can be summarised as follows:

- An energy load of 150 kcal provided in a liquid media is detected and compensated for by young adults at an *ad libitum* buffet meal 60 minutes later.
- Compensation mechanisms appear to be functioning even when food variety and quantity are maximised at the test meal.
- There is a notable gender difference in compensation capabilities. Males are able to detect and accurately compensate for liquid calories at the following meal. Females in comparison compensate poorly. Sugarsweetened drinks may cause an excess energy intake in females.

### Chapter 5: *In vitro* studies investigating the effect of food particle size, salivary α-amylase activity and habitual mastication on glycaemic potency

#### 5.1 Introduction

Results of the study investigating the effects of food physical state on physiological responses and satiety (chapter 3) showed that the betweenindividual variation in the glycaemic response (GR) was considerably greater for solid foods than for liquids. This suggests that a greater number of factors influence the GR of solid foods. An aspect associated exclusively to solid foods is the oral mastication stage. The major objective of mastication is to break down food to a degree that a cohesive bolus which is safe to swallow can be formed. During mastication the food is fragmented into small particles and mixed with saliva.

It is well established that food particle size significantly impacts both *in vitro* and *in vivo* digestion rates (Snow & O'Dea, 1981; Heaton *et al.*, 1988; Bjorck *et al.*, 1994). As particle size decreases the surface area exposed to digestive enzymes increase, leading to an increased rate of digestion.

Previous studies have shown that the degree of habitual mastication differed considerably between individuals (Woda *et al.*, 2006a), and that this subsequently resulted in food being broken down to different extents in terms of particle size (Jiffry, 1981). Since particle size reduction during normal mastication differs between individuals it is possible that the digestibility of the

resultant boluses also differs and influences the GR. These differences may also be contributing to the observed between-individual variations seen in the GR to a solid carbohydrate food. Salivary  $\alpha$ -amylase has been shown to initiate starch breakdown in the mouth (Granger *et al.*, 2007). However, its importance in overall starch digestion and influence on the GR is yet uncertain due to limited research. It is possible that salivary  $\alpha$ -amylase activity (SAA) differs between individuals and impacts on starch digestion and contributes to differences in the GR. However, this hypothesis remains to be confirmed. The degree of physical breakdown during mastication and the extent of starch digestion as a result of exposure to  $\alpha$ -amylase may both affect the glycaemic potency of the swallowed food.

Previous studies have suggested possible associations between mastication and GR (Read *et al.*, 1986; Suzuki *et al.*, 2005). However, these studies were conducted under controlled mastication conditions and did not investigate the effects of habitual chewing on the GR. Investigating this aspect forms the basis of this study.

The current study was conducted as a preliminary experiment to discern the effect of habitual mastication on the GR. Using a pre-validated *in vitro* model the study observed the impact of habitual mastication on the glycaemic potency of swallowed food boluses. As secondary objectives the study also investigated the effects of food particle size on *in vitro* starch digestion rate and SAA levels in different individuals. Therefore, the study had three hypotheses: that food particle size inversely correlates with *in vitro* digestion rate, that SAA significantly differs between individuals, and that those who broke down the

food to relatively smaller particles during mastication would demonstrate a greater *in vitro* starch digestion rate.

#### 5.2 Materials and methods

Rice was used as the model. The study comprised of three experiments:

1. Cooked rice of different particle sizes were digested in an *in vitro* digestion system. The relationship between rice particle size and *in vitro* digestibility was determined.

2. Saliva samples were obtained from 15 healthy participants in duplicate (120 minutes apart) and were analysed for salivary  $\alpha$ -amylase activity.

3. Habitually masticated rice boluses were obtained from the same 15 individuals and its particle size distribution and *in vitro* digestibility were determined.

Participant, design and experiment details are described in detail in section 2.3.3.

#### 5.3 Results

#### 5.3.1 Effect of rice particle size on *in vitro* digestibility

*In vitro* digestion of the different sized rice particles revealed a significant effect of particle size on digestion (calculated as the total area under the curve [AUC]) during the first 60 minutes of digestion (F[4,5]= 506.35, P < 0.001) (Figure 5.1). Post-hoc comparisons showed that digestion of whole rice was significantly slower compared to other particle sizes. Particles larger than 2000  $\mu$ m and between 1000  $\mu$ m- 2000  $\mu$ m were significantly different to all but each other. Similarly, the digestibility of particles smaller than 500  $\mu$ m and homogenised rice were not significantly different to each other but differed from all other particle sizes. The rapidly digestible starch (RDS- the starch that digests within the first 20 minutes of digestion) content also demonstrated an inverse relationship with particle size (Table 5.2). The greatest amount of RDS resided in the smallest particle size category (<500  $\mu$ m) (Table 5.2). Complete digestion of all the samples had however occurred by the end of 180 minutes. This was ascertained by measuring the sample residue remaining in the digestion pots at the end of 180 minutes of digestion, which was less than 1% for all the treatments.



Figure 5.1: Glucose release curves during 60 minutes of in vitro pancreatic digestion of cooked rice of different particle sizes. Standard errors are represented by vertical bars. Curves with different symbols (+, \*, #) have significantly different areas under the curve (AUC) (One way ANOVA [p<0.001]; post hoc Tukey test [P<0.05]).

#### 5.3.2 Salivary α-amylase activity

Salivary  $\alpha$ -amylase activity was not significantly different between the subjects (F[14,15]=0.992; *P*=0.558) (Table 5.1). The within-individual variation in SAA was low and ranged between 0-5% (CV). The mean between-individual standard error was also small (0.01) (Table 5.1).

•				<b>.</b>
Subject	SAA	SAA	Mean of the 2	CV
	Rep 1	Rep 2	reps	(%)
	(U/ml)	(U/ml)	(U/ml)	
1	1.61	1.65	1.63	1.61
2	1.65	1.57	1.61	3.29
3	1.61	1.65	1.63	1.61
4	1.57	1.65	1.61	3.29
5	1.61	1.57	1.59	1.69
6	1.65	1.65	1.65	0
7	1.57	1.65	1.61	3.29
8	1.68	1.68	1.68	0
9	1.57	1.65	1.61	3.29
10	1.68	1.68	1.68	0
11	1.57	1.68	1.63	4.82
12	1.57	1.65	1.61	3.29
13	1.65	1.65	1.65	0
14	1.65	1.65	1.65	0
15	1.65	1.65	1.65	0
Mean	1.62	1.64	1.63	1.75
SD	0.04	0.03	0.03	1.69
SE	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.44

Table 5.1 Salivary  $\alpha$ -amylase activity of the 15 participants

SAA=Salivary α-amylase activity; Rep=Repetition; CV= Coefficient of variation; SD= Standard deviation; SE= Standard error

#### 5.3.3 Particle size distribution in chewed rice

The particle size distribution of rice masticated by the 15 individuals showed a significant between-individual variation (F[14,15]=529, P=<0.001) (Figure 5.2). The percentage of rice disintegrated into particles <500 µm ranged from 53.1-88.9 % of the total, and the amount larger than 2000 µm (intact and partially broken) ranged from 3.5 to 37.4 % of the total (Table 5.2). Therefore, the largest degree of between-subject variation was observed in the smaller than 500 µm and larger than 2000 µm particle size categories (Figure 5.2). The intermediate categories together accounted for approximately 10% of the total.



Figure 5.2 Particle size distribution of cooked rice masticated by 15 subjects.

	>2000µm	<2000>1000µm	<1000>500µm	<500µm
Mean (%)	17.0 ± 10.1	7.5 ± 2.2	$2.4 \pm 0.4$	73.1 ± 10.6
Range (%)	33.90	9.30	1.6	35.8
	(3.5-37.4)	(4.5-13.8)	(1.8-3.4)	(53.1-88.9)
RDS mg/g of rice	95.7 ± 2.3	123.7 ± 10.9	143.9 ± 15.1	217.6 ± 6.5

Table 5.2 Percentage of rice particles and rapidly digestible starch content in each size category, in rice boluses masticated by 15 individuals to the point of swallowing (mean  $\pm$  standard deviation).

RDS= Rapidly digestible starch

The RDS content in each particle size category (Table 5.2) was multiplied by the amount of rice in each particle category (Figure 1) to obtain a total RDS content value for each particle size group for each subject (Figure 5.3). These values showed that more than 80% of the RDS resided in the smallest particle size category (<500  $\mu$ m).



Figure 5.3 Rapidly digested starch (RDS) contribution by the particle size fractions of rice chewed to point of swallowing by 15 subjects.

#### 5.3.4 In vitro digestibility of chewed rice

The amount of starch that had digested to free sugars and oligosaccharides by the end of the oral (chewing) and gastric (HCI-pepsin) phases (time 0 minutes in Figure 5.4), and prior to pancreatic digestion was significantly different between subjects (F[14,15]= 5.58, P=0.001). The quantity ranged between 28-82%. However, from the start of pancreatic digestion (immediately after 0 minutes) the curves began to gradually converge (Figure 5.4). The slope of the curves indicated an inverse relationship between the degree of breakdown during mastication and the time taken to digest all the starch in the sample.



Figure 5.4 In vitro digestion curves for rice after chewing to point of swallowing by fifteen subjects. CHO= starch

The degree of oral breakdown (expressed as the percentage of particles smaller than 500  $\mu$ m in the masticated bolus) demonstrated a significant

correlation with *in vitro* digestion rate (Figure 5.5). The percentage of digested starch at 0 minutes was significantly associated with the percentage of particles smaller than 500  $\mu$ m in individuals' food boluses (F[1,13]= 27.23, *P*=<0.001, R<sup>2</sup>=0.68). The correlation diminished with time as digestion progressed (F[1,13]= 16.956, *P*= 0.001, R<sup>2</sup>= 0.57 at 15 minutes; F[1,13]= 17.615, *P*= 0.001, R<sup>2</sup>= 0.543 at 30 minutes and R<sup>2</sup>= 1.00 at 120 minutes).



Figure 5.5 Relationship between the percentage of particles smaller than 500  $\mu$ m and the proportion of starch digested in vitro at increasing times after initiation of pancreatic digestion. Equation represents the trend line for time 0 (T=0)(P<0.001).

The percentage of particles larger than 2000  $\mu$ m in the masticated food boluses correlated significantly with the quantity of undigested sample remaining at the end of 120 minutes of *in vitro* digestion (F[1,13]=24.79, p=<0.001, R<sup>2</sup>=0.66) (Figure 5.6). Individual food boluses with a relatively higher percentage of particles larger than 2000  $\mu$ m had a greater percentage of undigested sample matter remaining at the end of digestion.



Figure 5.6 Correlation between the percentage of particles >2000  $\mu$ m in the masticated food boluses of individuals and the percentage of undigested masticated rice remaining at the end of 120 minutes of in vitro digestion

#### 5.4 Discussion and conclusion

The *in vitro* model used in the study produces quick and accurate indicative data on starch digestibility (Mishra *et al.*, 2008; Mishra & Monro, 2009; Monro *et al.*, 2010). The study therefore produced reliable data on the potential effects of mastication on *in vivo* GR and variability. The method used to measure SAA was also a pre-validated method (Rohleder & Nater, 2009). By obtaining all the samples in one test session the study was able to minimise within-individual variations caused by environmental and physiological variables.

The study showed a significant particle size effect on *in vitro* digestibility. Whole grains digested at a slower rate compared to smaller particles. The digestion rates of homogenised rice and particles smaller than 500  $\mu$ m were similar which indicates that particle size is not a digestion rate limiting factor for fragments smaller than 500  $\mu$ m. Collier and O'Dea (1982) observed that ground rice and glucose produced a similar GR which further suggests that ingesting particles smaller than 500  $\mu$ m generates a GR comparable to that when

glucose is consumed. The intermediate sized particles demonstrated a medium rate of glucose release compared to the whole and homogenised rice. These findings confirm the inverse relationship between food particle size and digestibility reported in previous studies (Snow & O'Dea, 1981; Heaton *et al.*, 1988). The experiment also confirmed the sensitivity of the *in vitro* model in discerning differences between the particle size groups.

Salivary *α*-amylase activity appears to be similar between individuals. The activity was also comparable within individuals in samples taken two hours apart. These findings concur with previous reports which also showed that SAA does not significantly differ between- and within-individuals (Rohleder et al., 2006). Another study similarly showed that mastication increased saliva secretion rates but did not affect α-amylase concentrations (Mackie & Pangborn, 1990). The authors demonstrated that  $\alpha$ -amylase secretion varied in response to different foods but was relatively constant when eating the same food. They also showed that salivary flow rate increased when chewing parafilm, celery and bread respectively which confirm that the properties of the food determines secretion rate. Salivary  $\alpha$ -amylase activity is affected by factors such as age, gender, time of day, smoking, alcohol, caffeine and prescription drugs (Rohleder & Nater, 2009). Whilst the current study was controlled for all these aspects, no significant differences between the two genders were observed. Humphrey and Williamson (2001) argue that saliva's role in starch breakdown is limited. Instead, it is believed that salivary  $\alpha$ amylase's primary functions are maintaining oral hygiene and bacterial clearance by adhesion (Scannapieco et al., 1993). However, results of the current study showed that a significant amount of starch had been broken down

to simple sugars during mastication in some individuals. Although SAA does not differ between individuals a greater oral residence time may cause a sizable amount of starch to hydrolyse during mastication (due to the prolonged exposure to  $\alpha$ -amylase). Salivary  $\alpha$ -amylase may therefore be having a considerable influence on the GR in those who spend a longer time chewing.

The degree of breakdown during mastication varied significantly between subjects in the current study and this concurs with previous observations (Jiffry, 1981; Jiffry, 1983; Peyron *et al.*, 2004). The number of chewing episodes required to prepare a specific food type for swallowing is relatively constant within individuals, but varies considerably between individuals (Woda *et al.*, 2006a). The primary purpose of mastication is the disintegration of food to particles small enough to form a cohesive bolus that can be swallowed (van der Bilt *et al.*, 2006). The differential degrees of breakdown observed in the current study suggest that the extent of disintegration required to make a food suitable for swallowing differs between individuals. These differences appear to be independent of saliva volume as previous work has shown no correlation between salivary flow rate and the number of mastication cycles (Gaviao *et al.*, 2004).

The study showed that the degree of habitual mastication and resulting particle size breakdown influenced the digestibility of the food bolus. This suggests that habitual mastication may impact on the *in vivo* GR. Indeed Collier and O'Dea (1982) fed normal and diabetic subjects whole and ground brown rice and observed significantly lower glycemic and insulinaemic response following whole rice compared to the ground rice in both groups. Read *et al.* (1986) also

observed that the *in vivo* GR was lower when subjects swallowed sweetcorn, rice, apple and potato, compared to when they chewed and swallowed them. However, both these studies demonstrated particle size effects on *in vivo* GR by manipulating the particle size of food (prior to mastication) and did not consider habitual mastication and its effects on the GR. The results of the current study convincingly suggest that the degree of breakdown during mastication may have its own independent effects on the *in vivo* GR.

The results showed that those who broke the rice to a greater degree had a higher percentage of RDS in the masticated food bolus. The initial rate of digestion therefore was greater in those who broke down the bulk of the rice to particles smaller than 500 µm. The study conclusively showed an inverse relationship between food particle size and RDS content. In contrast, a higher percentage of residual matter remained at the end of 120 minutes of in vitro digestion in the samples containing a greater percentage of particles larger than 2000 µm in their chewed food (i.e. in those who broke down the rice relatively less). This suggests that complete digestion of available carbohydrates may not be occurring within the first 120 minutes of digestion when the swallowed food contains a greater proportion of large particles. Meyer (1980) observed that the stomach does not release food into the duodenum until it is fragmented into particles smaller than 1000 µm. Swallowing a food bolus consisting of a greater proportion of large particles could both delay gastric emptying and digestion rates. Conversely, complete digestion occurs before the completion of 120 minutes if the food consists predominantly of particles smaller than 500 µm. Therefore, the time taken to complete digestion of a food appears to differ between individuals depending

on the degree of mastication. It is likely that these differences in digestion rate may consequently contribute to between-individual differences observed in the *in vivo* GR (chapter 1).

In conclusion, the results showed that the particle size of food influences *in vitro* starch digestion rate to a significant degree. There is an inverse relationship between food particle size and digestion rate. Salivary α-amylase activity is similar between individuals. However, a longer time spent chewing may cause a greater amount of starch to hydrolyse in the mouth (due to lengthier exposure times) and have a significant impact on glycaemic potency. The findings also agree with the third hypothesis that the degree of habitual mastication affects individuals' *in vitro* starch digestion rate. Individuals who break down food to smaller particles elicit a greater initial rate of starch digestion. Therefore, the degree of habitual mastication could be influencing individuals' *in vivo* GR to a carbohydrate food, and potentially contribute to the between-individual variations observed in the GR to solid foods. The findings justify extending the study to a clinical phase to ascertain effects of habitual mastication on *in vivo* GR.

The main conclusions of the study can be summarised as follows:

- In vitro starch digestion rate correlates inversely with food particle size.
- Under standardised conditions, salivary α-amylase activity is similar between individuals when consuming a single food type. Salivary αamylase may be considerably contributing to the starch digestion process and the initial GR especially in those masticating for a longer time.
- When eating the same food, the degree of breakdown during mastication differs significantly between individuals.
- The degree of breakdown during mastication significantly affects *in vitro* starch digestion rate and glycaemic potency of the chewed food.
  Therefore, due to differences in mastication efficiency, the *in vitro* starch digestion rate of masticated food is different between individuals.

# Chapter 6: Habitual mastication and its impact on the *in vivo* glycaemic response

#### 6.1 Introduction

The previous study (chapter 5) showed that the degree of food breakdown during habitual mastication was different between individuals, and that this influenced the *in vitro* starch digestion rate. The findings suggested an influence of individuals' habitual mastication on *in vivo* glycaemic response (GR) to a starchy solid food and a potential contribution to the observed between-individual variations in the GR (Wolever, 2006). Regulating the GR is important in those with impaired glucose tolerance and also from a satiety perspective.

The objective of the present study was to confirm the *in vitro* findings of the previous chapter using an *in vivo* model. The study hypothesised that individuals' degree of habitual mastication (and consequent degree of food breakdown) will influence their *in vivo* GR. It was speculated that those who habitually broke down food to a greater degree during mastication will elicit a larger initial and total GR.

#### 6.2 Materials and methods

Participant, design and experimental details are outlined in detail in section 2.3.4. The test foods were basmati rice and spaghetti. The experiment measured oral processing parameters (number of mouthfuls taken to consume the standard portion of the test food, time taken to chew one mouthful of food,

and the number of chews per mouthful), the particle size distribution of habitually masticated food, and the *in vivo* GR of the test foods during 120 minutes. Correlations were made between these aspects to discern relationships between oral processing parameters, degree of breakdown and the *in vivo* GR.

The study produced three repeated sets of data per participant for the GR (for each test food) and two sets of data per participant for oral processing parameters and particle size distribution. Repeated measurements were obtained to make allowances for variability. Unlike for the GR a single repetition for oral processing parameters and particle size analysis was adequate as previous studies have reported a low within-individual variation for mastication when consuming a single food type (van der Bilt *et al.*, 2006).

#### 6.3 Results

#### 6.3.1 Mastication parameters

For both rice and spaghetti, the mastication rate (chews per mouthful) varied significantly between individuals (F[10,11]=3.51; P=0.025 and F[10,11]=6.35; P=0.003 respectively) (Figure 6.1). The within-individual variation in mastication rates (number of chews per mouthful of food) for rice and spaghetti were not significantly different (t[10]=1.252, P=0.239, 95% CI= -2.30-8.21). The chewing time per mouthful did not differ between the two test foods (t[10]=0.599, P= 0.563, 95% CI= -3.10-5.37). The number of mouthfuls taken to consume the entire portions of rice and spaghetti were significantly different (t[10]=3.950, P=0.003, 95% CI=1.57-5.62) (Table 6.1). Whilst it took a mean 19 mouthfuls to

eat the portion of rice only 15 were required to finish the spaghetti. The three oral processing parameters; the number of mouthfuls taken to finish the test food, the number of chews per mouthful and the chewing time per mouthful correlated significantly with each other, for each test food (r= 0.88; P=0.002 and r= 0.97; P=<0.001; for rice and spaghetti respectively). There were however, no significant relationships between these mastication parameters and the particle size distribution of the masticated food.



Figure 6.1 Mean number of chews per mouthful of rice (light columns) and spaghetti (dark columns) made by individuals.

Error bars represent standard deviations.

	Oral processing parameters		Particle size distribution in masticated food (%)				
	Number of mouthfuls taken to eat the entire portion of food	Number of chews per mouthful	Chewing time per mouthful (s)	>2000 µm	>1000- 2000 µm	>500- <1000 µm	<500 µm
Rice	18.6 ± 1.5 <sup>*</sup>	29.9 ± 2.6	23.0 ± 1.9	$19.8 \pm 3.4^{*}$	10.5 ± 1.1 <sup>*</sup>	3.8 ± 0.2 <sup>*</sup>	$65.9 \pm 4.1^{*}$
(95% CI)	15.1-25.7	24.2-35.7	18.4-26.9	14.6-25.0	8.6-12.2	3.2-4.1	59.8-72.5
Spaghetti Range	15.1 ± 1.1 <sup>#</sup>	33.0 ± 3.7	24 ± 3.0	53.0 ± 3.6 <sup>#</sup>	$3.6 \pm 0.4^{\#}$	1.0 ± 0.1 <sup>#</sup>	42.4 ± 3.2 <sup>#</sup>
(95% CI)	12.4-17.3	24.6-41.1	17.1-30.5	47.6-58.4	2.8-4.3	0.8-1.2	37.3-47.5

Table 6.1: Mastication dynamics data and particle size distribution of rice and spaghetti masticated by 11 participants (mean ± standard error)

CI= Confidence interval; s= Seconds; values with different superscript symbols within a column are significantly different (paired t-test, P<0.05)

## 6.3.2 Particle size distribution in masticated rice and spaghetti

The mean particle size distributions of masticated rice and spaghetti were significantly different (F[10,11]=8.40; *P*=0.001) (Figure 6.2). The percentage of particles larger than 2000  $\mu$ m was greater in masticated spaghetti, whilst the proportion of particles <500  $\mu$ m was more in rice (Figure 6.2). The intermediate particle size groups (>1000-<2000  $\mu$ m and >500-<1000  $\mu$ m) accounted for a mean (± SD) 15 (±3.7) and 5 (±2.2)% of the total masticated rice and spaghetti respectively. Within each particle size category, the percentage amount of rice and spaghetti differed significantly (P <0.001) (Figure 6.2).





Error bars are standard errors

#### 6.3.3 The glycaemic response

Rice produced a significantly higher mean total IAUC compared to spaghetti (t[10]= 7.239, P<0.001, 95% CI= 29.04-54.88) (Table 6.2). The IAUC for the first 45 and 60 minutes were also significantly different between rice and spaghetti (P<0.001). Whilst the mean GR for rice peaked at 45 minutes, spaghetti maximised at 30 minutes. The total incremental areas under the curves for the two test foods showed a significant intra-individual relationship (F[1,9]=24.71; R<sup>2</sup>=0.733; *P*=0.001;) where each individual demonstrated similar total glycemic responses to both foods in relation to those of others (Figure 6.3). This indicated that the GR to rice and pasta for each individual fell within a subjective and specific range.

	Total IAUC (mmol.min/l)	IAUC for first 45 min (mmol.min/l)	IAUC for first 60 min (mmol.min/l)	Mean change in GR at 30 min (mmol/l)	Mean change in GR at 45 min (mmol/l)
Rice	$125.2 \pm 11^{*}$	$24.3 \pm 2.4^{*}$	50.4 ± 5.1 <sup>*</sup>	$1.9 \pm 0.2^{*}$	2.0 ± 1.2 <sup>*</sup>
Spaghetti	83.3 ± 10.6 <sup>#</sup>	17.3 ± 2.6 <sup>#</sup>	$36.8 \pm 5.0^{\#}$	$1.4 \pm 0.2^{\#}$	$1.3 \pm 0.2^{\#}$

Table 6.2: Glycemic responses for rice and spaghetti (mean ± standard error)

GR= Glycaemic response; IAUC= Incremental area under the curve for the GR; Values with different superscripts within a column are significantly different (paired t-test, *P*<0.05)



**Figure 6.3** Comparative presentations of individuals' mean total incremental areas under the curve (IAUC) for the blood glucose response for rice (■) and spaghetti (▲). Error bars are standard deviations

# 6.3.4 Correlations between mastication parameters and glycaemic response

Significant correlations were observed between individuals' particle distribution in masticated food and their GR for rice, but not for spaghetti. The mean percentage of particles larger than 2000  $\mu$ m in chewed boluses showed a significant inverse correlation with the respective total IAUC of individuals for rice (r= -0.72; *P*=0.012), but not spaghetti (r= -0.43; *P*=0.186). The particle size distribution of masticated rice also demonstrated a significant relationship with the peak GR, where the percentage of particles larger than 2000  $\mu$ m showed a significant inverse relationship with the GR at 45 minutes after consumption (r= -0.82; *P*=0.002). The percentage of particles smaller than 500  $\mu$ m also showed a significant direct correlation with the peak GR at the same time (r= 0.71; *P*=0.014). No other significant relationships with particle groups and GR at individual times for rice were observed. The particle size distribution of masticated spaghetti showed no significant correlations with its peak GR (i.e. at 30 minutes) (>2000  $\mu$ m: r= -0.52; *P*=0.103 and <500  $\mu$ m: r= 0.53; *P*=0.096).

The percentage of particles larger than 2000 and smaller than 500  $\mu$ m in the masticated rice also showed significant relationships with the IAUC for the first 45 and 60 minutes following consumption (r= -0.74; *P*=0.010, r= -0.75; *P*=0.008 and r=0.73; *P*=0.010, r= 0.67; *P*=0.023 respectively). No similar significant relationships were observed for spaghetti (*P*>0.05). Therefore, the degree of breakdown during mastication significantly affected the initial GR for rice, but not spaghetti.

#### 6.4 Discussion and conclusion

The previous study (chapter 5) showed that the degree of mastication significantly influenced the *in vitro* glycemic potency of rice. The results of the current study confirmed these findings *in vivo*. In the previous study, a greater *in vitro* starch digestion rate was observed in individuals whose masticated rice boluses contained a larger percentage of particles smaller than 500 µm. Consistent with this, the percentage of particles smaller than 500 µm showed a

significant relationship with the peak *in vivo* GR for rice in the current experiment. The degree of breakdown of rice during mastication influenced the magnitude of the *in vivo* GR. The previous study (chapter 5) also showed that the extent of fragmentation influenced the initial *in vitro* digestion rate. The current study confirmed this effect *in vivo*.

The significant between-individual variation in mastication observed in the current study is consistent with previous findings (Jiffry, 1981; Jiffry, 1983; Hoebler *et al.*, 1998; Fontijn-Tekamp *et al.*, 2004; Peyron *et al.*, 2004). The number of chewing cycles is relatively constant within individuals when eating a single food type (Lassauzay *et al.*, 2000; Woda *et al.*, 2006a) and this was confirmed in the current study from the results obtained for both rice and spaghetti. However, the within-individual degree of mastication differed significantly when different food groups such as nuts, raw vegetables and legumes are eaten (Jiffry, 1981; Peyron *et al.*, 2004). Foods that are firm and dry were chewed for longer compared to those that were soft and moist. The former food types required more oral processing before a bolus suitable for deglutition could be formed (van der Bilt *et al.*, 2006). The comparable number of chews per mouthful for rice and spaghetti observed in this study may have been due to the similarity of the two foods in terms of texture and hardness.

Although the number of chews per mouthful for rice and spaghetti were similar, the degree of breakdown of the two foods was significantly different. Particle size analysis of the masticated boluses showed that approximately 66% of chewed rice fell into the smallest particle category (<500 µm) and conversely, 53% of the spaghetti was in the largest particle group (>2000 µm). Cooked

spaghetti strands are considerably larger than rice grains. An equal number of chews therefore would result in the spaghetti invariably breaking down to a lesser extent. These differences between rice and spaghetti demonstrate that particle size reduction before swallowing does not have to be equal for all foods. The primary purpose of mastication is to convert the food to a cohesive bolus that can be swallowed (Peyron *et al.*, 2004; van der Bilt *et al.*, 2006). Therefore, rice appears to require a greater degree of breakdown for bolus formation compared to spaghetti.

The extent of breakdown significantly influenced the total IAUC and the peak GR for rice. The habitual degree of mastication (and particle size breakdown) therefore affected individuals' blood glucose response for rice and may be a factor contributing to the between-individual variations previously observed in the GR for rice (SE ranging between 14-21 in normal subjects) (Panlasigui & As an intact grain the starch of rice resides within the Thompson, 2006). storage cells of the seed (Vandeputte & Delcour, 2004). Disruption of the cell structure and release of starch therefore is entirely reliant on mastication for such foods. The degree of breakdown subsequently determines the surface area exposed to digestive enzymes and hence the digestion rate. Therefore, the extent of particulation during mastication may be more important when ingesting intact foods such as cereals, legumes, seeds and nuts compared to foods made from flour and that's undergone processing. Mastication was not a rate limiting factor for the digestion of spaghetti. The GR to cereal foods correlate directly with the severity of milling (Collier & O'Dea, 1982; Brand et al., 1985; Ross et al., 1987; Vosloo, 2005) and the degree of gelatinisation (Ross et al., 1987; Vosloo, 2005). Pasta is produced from intensively milled

wheat (milled to particles 200-400 microns in size) and is pre-gelatinised during processing (Marchylo & Dexter, 2001). The intense milling breaks the cellular structure and releases the starch as granules which enable easier subsequent gelatinisation and digestion. Whilst the low GR properties of spaghetti have been attributed to a slowed digestion due to its compact structure (Jenkins *et al.*, 1983) and effects on gastric emptying (Mourot *et al.*, 1988), the degree of mastication and resulting breakdown does not appear to be a rate limiting factor.

The particle size of masticated rice influenced the magnitude and the IAUC for the first 45 and 60 minutes for rice. Those who chewed rice to a relatively lesser extent elicited a correspondingly smaller peak and total GR. The extent of chewing therefore affected both the shape and amplitude of the glycaemic response curve. Previous studies observed that the stomach did not empty food into the duodenum until it was broken down into particles smaller than 1000  $\mu$ m (Meyer *et al.*, 1981). The effects of mastication on the GR may have therefore been mediated by particle size effects on gastric emptying. A greater amount of particles smaller than 1000  $\mu$ m in the masticated bolus would cause faster gastric emptying and a larger GR within a shorter time period.

The total IAUC for rice and spaghetti showed a strong concordance within subjects, where the GR to both foods were relatively similar within each individual compared to those of others. Using repeated measures for each test food this is the first instance where a within-individual similarity in the GR to two different starchy foods was shown. The mean within-individual CVs for rice and spaghetti (29% and 30% respectively) were less than the acceptance cut-off

limits for the GR (40%) (Wolever, 2006) which demonstrates the consistency of the repeated responses by subjects to the two foods. Relative to that of others, a subject's GR to starchy foods appears to lie within a narrow individualspecific range. Whilst some consistently showed high glycaemic responses for both foods, others showed low values. Therefore, the data suggests that all individuals can be categorised as 'high' and 'low' glycaemic responders. The between-individual variations in the GR to different foods appear to be greater than within-individual variations. These trends in variability were previously reported when subjects were given a single food (glucose or bread) (Wolever, 2006). The current study for the first time showed these same patterns also when comparing the GR to two foods. These observations were unanticipated but an interesting outcome from the experiment. However, before firm conclusions can be reached, future studies need to test a larger number of foods to determine if these trends are independent of food type.

The absence of mastication force measurements was a potential limitation in the current study. Mastication parameters (the number of mouthfuls, number of chews per mouthful chewing time per mouthful) did not show useful correlations with the particle size distribution and the GR. This suggests that chewing force is an important parameter when determining the effects of oral processing. Although considered at the design stage, a practically feasible method to accurately measure the force of habitual chewing could not be determined. This did not however affect the objectives or outcomes of the study since the particle size distribution in the masticated food was used to make associations with the GR. The particle size of chewed food is the final outcome of mastication and is the most reliable indicator of mastication efficiency

(Hoebler *et al.*, 2000). The study showed that chewing time, number of chews and number of mouthfuls were not reliable predictors of the actual degree of breakdown and hence the GR.

In conclusion, the results for rice agree with the study hypothesis that the degree of habitual mastication influences the *in vivo* GR of individuals. The extent of breakdown during chewing affects the initial GR, total GR and the peak GR, and therefore, the magnitude and shape of the GR curve. The hypothesis however does not hold true for spaghetti. The degree of habitual mastication may therefore be a considerable contributor to between-individual variations in the *in vivo* blood glucose response to foods comprising of intact grains (such as rice) but not highly milled and pre-gelatinised starchy foods (such as spaghetti). The current study must be extended to evaluate other food types (pulses, nuts, cereals and their products, and foods made from highly processed/milled starches such as flour based products) and the impact of mastication on their GR. Forthcoming studies also need to encompass measurements relating to gastric emptying, digestion rate and the insulin response to further elucidate mechanisms by which mastication influences the GR.

The main conclusions of the study can be summarised as follows:

- Habitual mastication differs significantly between individuals. As a result, particle size of masticated food differs significantly between individuals.
- Oral processing parameters; the number of chews per mouthful, chewing time per mouthful and volume per mouthful are not reliable predictors of the degree of breakdown during mastication.
- The extent of breakdown during chewing significantly influences the early phase, peak and total GR of rice, but not spaghetti.
- Mastication appears to be a factor contributing to between-individual variations in the GR of rice.

### Chapter 7: Between-individual variations in postmastication digestion aspects and effects of ingested food particle size on glycaemic response, insulin response and gastric emptying.

#### 7.1 Introduction

A central theme of the thesis has been to examine factors affecting the glycaemic response (GR). The amplitude and pattern of the GR are both important as they impact on glucose homeostasis and have practical relevance in the management of impaired glucose tolerance. More recently, it has been reported that wide blood glucose excursions and peaks significantly influence the risk of developing type 2 diabetes (Wolever, 2006). The GR also affects satiety through glucostatic mechanisms (Bornet *et al.*, 2007) and consequently has implications in food intake and weight control. Therefore, managing the GR is important in many respects.

A consistent observation in GR studies is the wide within- and between individual variations (Crapo *et al.*, 1977; Wolever *et al.*, 2006; Wolever, 2006; Wolever *et al.*, 2008). These account for approximately 16% and 62% of the total variation respectively (Wolever, 2006). Therefore between-individual differences are the larger contributor to total variability. This is in agreement with the results of the study described in chapter six. Variation in the GR between individuals was demonstrated by Vega-Lopez and colleagues (2007) in a study using white bread and glucose. The authors observed that the GR elicited by 23 healthy subjects varied significantly both in terms of total

response and pattern (Figure 7.1). The between individual CV was considerably high (55%) and the within-individual CV (for three repeated tests) was relatively lower (35%). For example, a comparison of the GR of subjects one and four (Figure 7.1) showed that the former produced a low and flat response for bread compared with the latter who produced an augmented response and greater peaks (Figure 7.1). These differences occurred despite the study being controlled for participant characteristics, protocol and study conditions. Therefore, there appear to be also other factors contributing to the glycaemic variability between individuals.

Figure 7.1: Individual temporal glycemic response curves to white bread ( $\blacktriangle$ ) and glucose ( $\circ$ ) for 23 normal male (m) and female (f) subjects. (Source: Vega-Lopez *et al.*, 2007)
The GR to a carbohydrate food is influenced by both intrinsic and extrinsic factors (Figure 7.2). Whilst extrinsic factors relate to the food, intrinsic aspects involve the digestion process and participant characteristics (disease status, medication, physical activity and insulin secretion) (Bjorck *et al.*, 1994; Vosloo, 2005; Wolever, 2006). The GR to any food is consequential to all these factors (Figure 7.2). The cornerstone of successful GR management is having a comprehensive understanding of all these variables affecting it.



Figure 7.2: Schematic of factors determining the glycaemic response and insulin response to solid carbohydrate foods

The study comparing the GR and insulin response (IR) to liquid and solid carbohydrate foods (chapter 3) showed greater between-individual variations for solids compared to liquids. Chewing is the first step in the digestion process of solids and the work described in the preceding sections (chapters 5 and 6) showed that the degree of habitual mastication affected the GR of rice. Subjects who broke down the food to a greater degree showed a larger GR compared with those who chewed less. These results suggest that the particle

size distribution in masticated rice affects an individual's GR and is therefore a significant contributor to between-individual variations in the GR. The studies also indicated that the exposure time to salivary  $\alpha$ -amylase may influence the GR.

However, no work has been carried out to determine the contribution of digestive steps after the mastication phase on between-individual variations in the GR. It is possible that there are between-individual variations in gastric emptying and intestinal digestion rates even when there are no influences from food particle size (i.e. mastication) and external variables. The current study was initiated to address this gap in knowledge.

The specific objective of the current study was to observe between-individual variations in the GR, IR and gastric emptying when external variables, study protocol, participant characteristics and mastication were standardised. The hypothesis was that between-individual variations can be observed in gastric emptying, GR and IR even when there are no influences from particle size (mastication), food system and external variables in healthy young males. The current study is the first instance where ingested food particle size effects on gastric emptying, GR and IR have all been determined within a single design.

#### 7.2 Materials and methods

Thirteen male participants were fed two rice treatments differing only in particle size (large [>2000  $\mu$ m] and small [between 500-1000  $\mu$ m]) and the subsequent GR, IR and gastric emptying was measured under standardised conditions. Of

the 13 partiipants, the full data sets of 12 were obtained for statistical analyses. One participant dropped out after one session due to personal reasons. The two particle size treatments mimicked low and high degrees of breakdown during mastication respectively. Participant, design and experimental aspects are described in detail in section 2.3.5.

#### 7.3 Results

#### 7.3.1 Glycaemic response

Considerable between-individual variations in the GR were observed for both treatments (Table 7.1). The variations for the small particles were substantially greater. The total IAUC for the GR for small particles varied 45% more compared with large particles. The peak GR for small particles also showed a between-individual variation that was 57% greater compared with that of large particles.

The total IAUC for the GR differed significantly between the two treatments (t[11]= -4.50; P<0.001) (Table 7.1). The small particles elicited a significantly greater total IAUC than the large particles. The peak GR for both treatments was observed at 30 minutes. The small particles demonstrated a significantly greater peak GR compared with large particles (t[11]= -4.17; P= 0.001) (Table 7.1).

	Total IAUC for the GR	Peak GR	Total IAUC for the IR	Peak IR
Large particles	65.4±10 (36.6)	1.6±0.2 (0.7)	525.3±90 (310.6)	14.4±3 (9.4)
Small particles	119.0±15 (53.3)	2.6±0.3 (1.1)	1115.0±178 (579.3)	31.6±6 (22.5)

Table 7.1: Glycemic and insulin responses following the ingestion of large and small rice particles (mean ± standard error (standard deviation))

IAUC=Incremental Area Under the Curve for 120 minutes; GR= Glycemic Response; IR= Insulin Response; SE= Standard error; SD= Standard deviation; The peak GR and IR for both treatments were observed at 30 minutes; There was a significant difference between large and small rice particles for all variables (Paired t-test, P<0.05)

The temporal GR patterns for large and small particles differed considerably (Figure 7.3). Whilst the large particles produced a low and sustained GR during the entire 120 minute period the small particles produced a greater initial GR that dropped below baseline by 120 minutes. The mean ( $\pm$ SE) difference between the peak and nadir GR was therefore significantly greater (*P*=0.001) for the small (2.7 ±0.3 mmol/l) compared with the large (1.8 ±0.2 mmol/l) particles.



**Figure 7.3:** Temporal blood glucose response curves for large ( $\blacklozenge$ ) and small ( $\blacksquare$ )rice particles. The total incremental area under the curve (IAUC) and the peak glycaemic responses were significantly different between the two treatments (Paired t-test, *P*<0.05).

#### 7.3.2 Insulin response

The between-individual variations in the IR were larger than those observed for the GR (Table 1). The variations were again greater for the small particles compared with the large particles. The standard deviations associated with the IAUC for the IR for small particles was 140% greater than that of the large particles. The standard deviation for the peak insulin response for small particles was 139% greater than that of large particles.

The total IAUC for the IR was significantly different between the two treatments (t[11]=-2.53; P=0.014) (Table 7.1). The small particles elicited a greater total IR. The peak IR was observed at 30 minutes after initiation of consumption for both treatments and the small particles produced a significantly greater peak compared with large particles (t[11]=-2.96; P=0.007).

Similar to the GR the IR patterns differed notably for the two treatments. Compared with the insulin response of large particles which showed a low and sustained positive response the small particles elicited an augmented peak response which then dropped below baseline by 120 minutes. The mean ( $\pm$ SE) absolute difference between peak and nadir IR was significantly greater (*P*= 0.006) for the small (35  $\pm$ 7.5  $\mu$ U/ml) compared with large (14.6  $\pm$ 2.6  $\mu$ U/ml) particles.



**Figure 7.4:** Temporal blood insulin response curves for large ( $\blacklozenge$ ) and small ( $\blacksquare$ ) rice particles. The total incremental area under the curve (IAUC) and the peak insulin responses were significantly different between the two treatments (Paired t-test, *P*<0.05).

The temporal insulin response pattern for both treatments mirrored that of the GR (Figure 7.4). The correlation between the IR and GR at each time point for the small and large particles was very significant (r= 0.989; P< 0.0001 and r= 0.996; P< 0.0001 respectively).

#### 7.3.3 Gastric emptying

The between individual variations associated with the gastric emptying latency  $(T_{lat})$ , lag  $(T_{lag})$ , ascension  $(T_{asc})$  and half time  $(T_{half})$  data were similar for both treatments (Table 7.2). The latency phase showed the smallest between-individual variations. The lag phase and half time demonstrated similar variations.

The gastric emptying  $T_{lat}$ ,  $T_{lag}$  and  $T_{half}$  were significantly different between the two treatments. The small particles had a significantly shorter  $T_{lat}$  (t[11]= -2.045; P= 0.032),  $T_{lag}$  (t[11]= -2.199; P= 0.025) and  $T_{half}$  (t[11]= -1.825; P= 0.042). There was no difference in gastric emptying for  $T_{asc}$  (P>0.05) (Table 7.2). The

data showed that initial emptying was faster for the small compared with large particles. The time of peak emptying (lag phase) was where this was most evident as there was an average difference between the treatments of approximately 12 minutes (Table 7.2).

Table 7.2: Gastric empting parameters for large and small rice particles (mean ± standard error (standard deviation))

	T <sub>lat</sub> (min)	T <sub>lag</sub> (min)	T <sub>half</sub> (min)	T <sub>asc</sub> (min)
Large particles	11.3±2.0 (6.9) <sup>*</sup>	46.1±4.9 (16.9) <sup>*</sup>	96.2±5.3 (18.3) <sup>*</sup>	84.8±4.4 (15.4)
Small particles	7.3±1.8 (6.4) <sup>#</sup>	34.6±5.6 (19.5) <sup>#</sup>	87.0±5.0 (17.3) <sup>#</sup>	79.7±3.5 (12.2)
T <sub>lat</sub> = Gastric en	nptying latency ph	ase; T <sub>lag</sub> = Gastric	emptying lag phase	e; T <sub>half</sub> = Gastric
emptying half-time Tasc = Gastric emptying ascension time; SE= Standard error; SD=				
Standard deviation; Values with different superscripts within a column are significantly different				
(Paired t-test, <i>P</i> <0.05).				

#### 7.4 Discussion and conclusion

Instructing the participants to swallow the treatments without chewing ensured that the rice treatments reached the stomach without further breakdown. It was thus possible to observe subsequent (post-mastication) metabolic responses independent of influences from chewing. Since the treatments were prepared in the style of a risotto the moist nature made it easy to swallow without chewing. The study was also carried out under standardised conditions and used consistent procedures and instruments for data collection. The participant cohort was carefully vetted for homogeneity in terms of age, gender, health, physical activity and dietary habits. These design aspects ensured that the influence of external and participant variables and mastication on between-individual variations was minimised. In evaluating two different particle sizes

the study also generated comparative data on the effects of ingesting large and small particles on the GR, IR and gastric emptying.

The between-individual variations in gastric emptying half time, lag, ascension and latency phases were considerably lower than previously reported values using the same analytical method (Clegg *et al.*, 2007; Clegg & Shafat, 2010; Clegg *et al.*, 2010). These studies tested pancake meals and did not account for particle size breakdown during mastication. The lower variations in the current study suggest that the degree of breakdown during habitual mastication may be a significant contributor to between-individual variations in gastric emptying of solids. In agreement, Brophy *et al.* (1986) observed that the standard deviation in gastric emptying half time was greater following a solid (beef stew) (17.7) compared with when the same subjects consumed a liquid (orange juice) (8.5). The degree of mastication and particle size of food reaching the stomach may therefore be a significant contributor to variations in gastric emptying. This will subsequently also impact on glucose appearance rate in the blood and contribute to variations in the GR.

The current study was the first to show considerable between-individual variations in the GR and IR in healthy males even when the effects from food, mastication and external environment were standardised. The greater variations in the GR and IR compared with that of gastric emptying suggest that gastric emptying may not be entirely accountable for the variability of the GR and IR. Post-gastric emptying aspects associated with digestion and absorption in the small intestine may therefore be differing between individuals and contributing to the observed variations. To date, no studies have attempted to

specifically determine between-individual differences in small-intestine digestive aspects such as enzyme secretion, enzyme activity, transit time and absorption rates. However, there is evidence to suggest that oro-caecal transit time, pancreatic enzyme secretion and glucose absorption vary between individuals when the same food is consumed (Modigliani & Bernier, 1971; Layer *et al.*, 1988; Van Den Driessche *et al.*, 2000). Therefore, it is possible that the carbohydrate digestion and absorption rate in the small intestine varies between individuals and subsequently affects both the GR and IR. The between-individual variations associated with the GR and IR data were noticeably greater for the small particles which suggest that these factors may vary more when small particles are ingested compared with large particles. These hypotheses can be confirmed only after the extension of the current study to a trans-pyloric intubation phase (Cresci & Martindale, 2003) where the gastric phase can be bypassed and the food placed directly in the duodenum.

Since the mastication phase was standardised in the current study and both treatments were consumed within an equal time period the effects of the cephalic phase on the GR and IR were equalised. The cephalic phase is associated with the secretion of insulin and other factors (glucagon, pancreatic polypeptide) which significantly influence the total glycaemic and insulin responses (Teff, 2000; Zafra *et al.*, 2006). In addition to the standardised conditions described above the study further demonstrated that the GR and IR showed variations also when influences from the cephalic phase were equalised.

The observed inverse relationship between food particle size and GR agrees with previous data obtained using whole, cracked, coarse and fine flour forms of wheat, maize and oats (Heaton et al., 1988), ground and unground forms of white and brown rice (O'Dea et al., 1980) and with results of the studies described in chapters 5 and 6. The observed inverse relationship between particle size and the IR was also in agreement with previous findings (O'Dea et al., 1980; Heaton et al., 1988). The concordance between the GR and IR patterns observed in the current study was striking and this suggests that the GR closely predicted the IR for the two treatments. Similar evidence was found in the first study forming this thesis (chapter 3). A substantial amount (nearly half) of post-meal insulin secretion has been shown to be due to incretins (GIP, GLP-1 and PYY) (De Leon et al., 2006; Drucker, 2006). In addition to their effects on insulin release high concentrations of GLP-1 and PYY slow gastric emptying and transit time (Savage et al., 1987; Naslund et al., 1999). Since food particle size affects gastric emptying it is possible that ingested food fragments will also influence secretion levels of incretins. However, no studies have attempted to determine food particle size effects on this group of hormones. Irrespective of the specific mechanisms the data showed that ingestion of small particles elicited a greater and more varied insulin response. Therefore, swallowing small particles incur greater demands on the hormone's regulatory mechanisms. Chewing less and ingesting large particles may be beneficial for those with impaired insulin activity.

The current study is the first instance where particle size effects on gastric emptying was measured using a stable isotope method. Using a different analytical method the study confirms the previously reported inverse correlation

between food particle size and gastric emptying (Meyer et al., 1988; Mourot et al., 1988; Vincent et al., 1995). However, previous studies only manipulated particle size in the food system and did not consider changes occurring during mastication. By delivering food of exact particle size to the stomach the current study showed that the degree of breakdown during mastication may have its own effects on gastric emptying. In the gastric antrum solids are ground to particles smaller than 1000 µm before release into the small intestine (Meyer et al., 1981). In agreement results of the current study showed that large particles (>2000 µm) were initially held in the stomach for a longer time period and emptied at a slower rate compared with small particles (500-1000 µm). The significantly lower T<sub>half</sub> for small particles indicated quicker emptying of the stomach when particulation was greater. Food chewed to a greater degree will therefore provoke a shorter holding time and a more rapid emptying rate. These differences in gastric emptying dynamics could explain the differential GR patterns observed for large and small particles. Indeed, previous studies have shown that the GR to starchy foods correlates closely with gastric emptying dynamics (Mourot *et al.*, 1988)

In conclusion, the results agree with the study hypothesis. Between-individual variations can be seen in gastric emptying even under conditions where mastication (particle size), food factors, study conditions and participants are standardised. However, these variations are relatively small and independent of particle size. The between-individual variations in the glycaemic and insulin responses are notably greater when small particles are in the stomach. Post-gastric digestive factors may be contributing significantly to between individual variations in the GR and notably so when ingesting small particles. Small

particles cause faster gastric emptying and produce greater glycaemic and insulin responses. Ingested food particle size therefore influences the magnitude and pattern of the glycaemic and insulin responses.

The main conclusions of the study can be summarised as follows:

- Variations in the GR and IR can be observed also when experimental conditions, cephalic phase, food characteristics, participant characteristics, and mastication (particle size) are standardised
- There are between-individual variations in gastric emptying even under the above standardised conditions. However, these variations are relatively small.
- It is possible that factors associated with digestion and absorption in the small intestine varies between individuals even when all preceding variables are standardised.
- Ingesting small particles produce greater between-individual variations in the glycaemic and insulin responses.
- Smaller particles elicit a greater gastric emptying rate, and glycaemic and insulin response.

# Chapter 8: Overall summary, conclusions and recommendations for future work

#### 8.1 Overall summary and conclusions

Following the recognition of its importance in energy balance regulation (Campfield & Smith, 2002; Bornet *et al.*, 2007) and health (Clement *et al.*, 2004) the past two decades have seen a significant rise in glycaemic response (GR) related research. Whilst a large volume of studies have examined food and physiological factors influencing the GR, some aspects remain little explored. Two such aspects, notably the physical state (liquid-solid) of food and the ingested particle size (mastication) were studied in this thesis.

One objective of the thesis was to compare the GR, insulin response (IR) and satiety of liquid and solid carbohydrate foods. This was fulfilled in the first experimental chapter described in chapter 3. It was apparent that the physical state of food (liquid-solid) did not influence the total GR and the IR. The chemical and compositional characteristics of a food seem to be their greater influencer. However, the physical state significantly affects the amplitude and shape of the GR and IR curves. Compared to solids, liquids elicit a considerably larger early phase (possibly due to a more rapid gastric emptying rate (Glasbrenner *et al.*, 1993; Chen *et al.*, 2009)) and a quicker drop back to baseline for GR and IR values. It has been shown that such dynamic fluctuations between peak and nadir GR and IR values exert more demands on the physiological regulatory mechanisms and also increase the risk of developing type 2 diabetes (Wolever, 2006). The glucostatic theory states that

food intake is suppressed when the GR is high but is induced when it falls below baseline (Bornet *et al.*, 2007). The more dramatic fall back to baseline of the GR and IR suggests that liquids are also less satiating than solids from a glucostatic perspective. Visual analogue scale (VAS) data showed that subjective satiety for all the treatments had reached baseline by 30 minutes which indicated that the satiating properties of both liquids and solids lasted for a similar period of time. However, this finding requires cautious interpretation as the study may have been underpowered for the VAS data.

Compared to the study described in chapter 3 which tested iso-carbohydrate portions of the test food (50 g available carbohydrates), the study in chapter 4 tested treatment portions varying in carbohydrate content (orange juice 33.5 g, Sugar-sweetened drink 36.7 g, milk 14.7 g) but were iso-caloric (150 kcal). This was because studies investigating compensatory effects are required to be carried out on an iso-energy basis compared to GR studies which are based on iso-carbohydrate levels. Previous studies have shown that the GR to carbohydrate loads ranging from 25-100 g did not differ significantly (Lee & Wolever, 1998; Wolever, 2006). Therefore, the properties and magnitude of the GRs elicited by the common treatments in the two studies (chapter 3 and 4) were similar which allowed for comparisons across studies.

The study described in chapter 4 showed that carbohydrate containing beverages induced an energy compensatory effect in the short-term. These findings provide further evidence that carbohydrate-based caloric beverages do not contribute to a passive overconsumption of energy as previously suggested (Bes-Rastrollo *et al.*, 2006; Striegel-Moore *et al.*, 2006; Gibson & Neate, 2007;

Harrington, 2008). The study further showed that males are capable of compensating more precisely than females for carbohydrate-based caloric liquids. Therefore, consuming carbohydrate-based drinks do not appear to lead to excess energy intake in males, although it may do so in females. Similar outcomes have also been observed with semi-solid foods (Davy et al., 2007) indicating that gender differences in energy compensation are independent of the physical state of food. These observations highlight the need for policy makers to consider gender differences in energy compensation when making public health recommendations. However, it is important to note that energy compensation occurs only if the subsequent meal is consumed within the (the length of which depends on compensatory time frame the carbohydrate/energy content in the beverage). The GR data (chapter 3) suggests that liquids provoke a shorter compensation period compared to solids. Therefore, the shorter compensation time and potential for faster consumption rates (Kissileff, 1985) may predispose excess energy intakes when caloric beverages (compared to solids) are consumed (Chen et al., 2009).

The energy compensatory effects observed in the study in chapter 4 agree with the glucostatic hypothesis. Studies observing the relationship between the GR and food intake have found that a GR decline of 6-12% below baseline triggered voluntary food intake (Smith & Campfield, 1993; Campfield *et al.*, 1996; Campfield & Smith, 2002; Bornet *et al.*, 2007). The study in chapter 3 showed that the GR of the treatments had reached baseline at 60 minutes but had not dropped below it. This suggests that the satiety exerted by the preloads still manifested when the subsequent meal was consumed in the study in

chapter four. However, the more rapid drop to baseline (of the GR and IR) observed with liquids suggest that they lose their satiating properties more swiftly than solids.

In conclusion, the data from the two studies (chapter 3 and 4) collectively showed that the physical state affects the shape and amplitude of the GR and IR curves but not the total metabolic response. Carbohydrate containing liquids appear to be less satiating than solids but are nevertheless detected by the physiological regulatory mechanisms and compensated for in the short term. However, the gender-wise variations in compensation signify that glucostatic mechanisms are not the only regulators of short-term energy intake regulation and that other factors also influence it.

It was observed in the study in chapter 3 that solid foods elicited larger between-individual variations in the GR and IR. Hence, a greater number of physico-chemical factors seem to influence the GR and IR of solids compared to liquids. Since mastication is a step exclusively associated with solid foods its effects on the GR were studied in this thesis. The studies described in chapters 5 and 6 collectively showed that the degree of habitual mastication and resulting particle size breakdown significantly affected the GR. Therefore, the degree of habitual mastication seems to be a significant contributor to betweenindividual differences in the GR.

Mastication seems to be an influential factor only when consuming intact grains such as rice but not foods such as spaghetti which are highly processed, pregelatinised and made with refined flour. Indeed, the first study forming this

thesis (chapter 3) showed that between-individual variations in the GR and IR were also greater for rice than spaghetti. This further suggests that differences in mastication may be the causal factor for the greater variations in the GR and IR of rice. However, more foods of similar type need to be evaluated to confirm these hypotheses. The results show that masticating less and ingesting larger particles may be a simple intervention strategy for the modulation of the GR in those with impaired glucose tolerance.

The results in the current thesis confirmed previous findings that mastication parameters (number of chewing cycles, time spent chewing) (Lassauzay *et al.*, 2000; van der Bilt *et al.*, 2006) and the particle size following habitual mastication (Jiffry, 1981; Jiffry, 1983; Peyron *et al.*, 2004) varied significantly between individuals. However, the number of chewing cycles, time spent chewing and amount of food per mouthful does not predict particle size breakdown. Thus, contrary to previous suggestions (Lassauzay *et al.*, 2000; van der Bilt *et al.*, 2006; Woda *et al.*, 2006a) these factors are not effective measures of mastication efficiency. Directly measuring particle size distribution in the chewed food is the best method of quantifying mastication efficiency.

Slowly digestible starch (SDS) has been shown to produce a subdued early phase and sustained late phase GR due to its lower digestibility (Normand *et al.*, 2001) and this pattern was confirmed in the *in vitro* study described in chapter 5. The study further showed that SDS content was more in individuals whose masticated boluses contained a greater proportion of large particles (large particles digest slowly and thus contribute to SDS). Therefore, based on the degree of breakdown during mastication the same food will produce a low

GR in some and a high GR in others, and this too was confirmed in the study described in chapter 6. Hence, the structure and its susceptibility to disintegration during mastication appear to be a key determinant of the SDS content and thereby the GR. Indeed, high glycaemic index (GI) foods (white bread, baked potato, cornflakes) have an easily disintegrable structure that requires little or no mastication compared to low GI foods (whole grains, pulses, nuts). This was demonstrated by Jenkins and colleagues (1983) when they compared the GR to bread and pasta made with the same ingredients and found that the former elicited a significantly higher GR. In agreement O'Dea et al. (1980) stated that the physical structure was more important towards the GR and IR of a food than even the fibre content. Indeed, the benefits of insoluble fibre on the GR could also be through its effects on maintaining structural integrity and resistance to disintegration. The observation that only naturally present (and not externally added) insoluble fibre reduced the GR of a food strengthens this argument (Wolever & Miller, 1995). Results from the studies forming this thesis further suggest that the glycaemic potency of a food with a relatively hard structure may further depend on the degree of mastication. The low GR benefits associated with firm structured foods may be less in those who habitually masticate to a greater degree.

The results of the studies in the thesis collectively showed that ingesting liquids and small food particles produced comparable glycaemic and insulin responses. Surprisingly the small food particles produced slightly larger total responses (incremental areas under the curve) (chapter 7) than the beverages (chapter 3). The shape of the response curves and the amplitude of the peak responses were also similar for beverages and small particles. Thus the GR

and IR pattern and magnitude appears to depend more on the digestibility of the carbohydrate food rather than its physical state (liquid-solid). Beverages have been suggested to encourage impaired glucose tolerance due to their high rapidly absorbable sugar content and resulting GR (Schulze *et al.*, 2004). However, data from the studies forming this thesis showed that ingesting highly digestible solid carbohydrate foods may also induce metabolic responses similar to when beverages are consumed. Therefore, intervention strategies geared at glycaemic control need to focus more on the digestibility of carbohydrates in the food rather than the physical state.

The thesis further demonstrated that ingested particle size correlated inversely with gastric emptying, GR and IR (chapter 7). The uniqueness of this study was that it combined measurements for gastric emptying, GR and IR and showed that the size of ingested food particles affected all of these attributes. Whilst previous studies have shown that food related factors affected the GR (Vosloo, 2005) the work described in chapter 5 and 6 showed that habitual mastication and the degree of particle size breakdown also contributed to betweenindividual variations in the GR. The study in chapter 7 went on to show that between individual-variations in the GR can be seen also when external, food and mastication related variables were standardised. This indicates that postmastication aspects associated with digestion vary between subjects. The study further showed that between-individual variations in gastric emptying were similar for both large and small particles and relatively small. All known factors influencing gastric emptying were controlled for in the study (particle size, viscosity, volume, nutritional composition, energy content, pH) (Low, 1990; Hellstrom et al., 2006) and this may have reduced variations to a

minimum. However, interestingly, the GR and IR still showed considerable between-individual variations also under these standardised conditions, and the deviations were greater following the ingestion of small particles. This suggests that post-gastric aspects associated with digestion in the small intestine vary between individuals and cause the differences in the GR and IR. These factors appear to vary more when small particles are ingested.

Considerable biological variability in the GR is a consistent observation even when individuals are given the same carbohydrate food under standardised conditions. The literature review showed that between-individual variations are the greater contributor to GR deviations (chapter 1). A thorough understanding of this biological variability will enable better control of the GR and its effective use as a tool in clinical nutrition interventions. Unlike data from exact sciences (such as physics) variations in biological data are inevitable (Sebastian-Gambaro et al., 1997) and measures can only be taken to minimise them through understanding all its determinants. Studies in this thesis showed that the physical state and particle size both influenced the magnitude of variations. The results further suggested that the oral processing phase, gastric emptying and subsequent digestive aspects all contributed to GR variations when a solid is ingested. Therefore, between-individual variations in the GR are the collective result of deviations occurring throughout the digestion process. The greater variations observed with small particles suggest that the extent of breakdown during mastication may be significantly influencing the magnitude of the variations at the subsequent digestion stages. Properties of the food and those of the swallowed bolus will both have significant impacts on the magnitude of between-individual variations.

In synthesising the observations made in the thesis it is speculated that ingested food particle size may also impact on satiety and food intake. Since elevated blood glucose and insulin levels suppress food intake (Campfield & Smith, 2002; Bornet *et al.*, 2007; Flint *et al.*, 2007) the GR and IR trends observed in the studies herein indicate that the ingestion of small particles will produce a greater satiety in the short term but also induce a greater degree of hunger afterwards, compared to large particles which would elicit a lower but consistent level of satiety for a longer time period. The presence of food in the stomach also suppresses hunger by inducing post-ingestive satiety (Blundell & Tremblay, 1995) through gastric distension (Geliebter *et al.*, 1988). Ingesting large particles may therefore suppress hunger for longer both through glucostatic and post-ingestive satiety mechanisms. This has practical implications in food intake control and in the management of obesity. However, no work has been carried out to determine the effects of food particle size on satiety and the above hypotheses remain to be verified.

The study in chapter 5 showed that salivary  $\alpha$ -amylase activity does not differ between individuals when consuming the same food. Contrary to previous assertions that salivary  $\alpha$ -amylase had little impact on starch digestion (Scannapieco *et al.*, 1993; Humphrey & Williamson, 2001) work forming this thesis showed that a considerable amount of starch was broken down to simple sugars in some during the mastication process and that this affected the initial glycaemic potency (chapter 5). Therefore salivary  $\alpha$ -amylase may have a notable role in carbohydrate digestion and the GR, at least in those who spend a longer time masticating (chapter 6). However, these conclusions are based on *in vitro* work and *in vivo* effects remain to be determined.

The GR influences short-term food intake (Anderson & Woodend, 2003b; Bornet *et al.*, 2007) and therefore energy balance and obesity (Ludwig *et al.*, 1999; Brand-Miller *et al.*, 2002). Regulating the GR is also critical in the management of diabetes (Salmeron *et al.*, 1997a; Salmeron *et al.*, 1997b; Kayode *et al.*, 2009) and coronary heart disease (Liu *et al.*, 2000; Marks & Raskin, 2000) two conditions which are in turn exacerbated by obesity. Good glycaemic control has also been shown to prevent the onset of chronic diseases (Jenkins *et al.*, 2002). The work presented in this thesis demonstrated that food and physiological factors influence the GR. A good understanding of the determinants of the GR will enable the development of better strategies and foods for the management of obesity and diabetes. The escalating incidence of these two conditions justifies further research in this area.

#### 8.2 Recommendations for future work

- The study described in chapter four showed that males and females compensate differently to carbohydrate-based drinks in the short term. It appears that females are less able to compensate for energy in the short term. Conclusive reasons for these differences are yet to be established. Research in this area is important as it has practical relevance both from a public health perspective and when formulating dietary guidelines. Further research investigating physiological and neurological differences in compensatory and satiety mechansims between males and females need to be initiated.
- The study described in chapter six showed that the degree of mastication affected individuals' GR to rice but not spaghetti. This suggests that the extent of habitual mastication affects the GR of intact cereals but not processed starchy foods. However, this speculation can be confirmed only after more types of starchy foods (cereals, legumes, nuts and flour-based processed products). Future studies should also evaluate other shapes of pasta to investigate if the absence of a relationship between the degree of mastication and GR of pasta is independent of shape. The findings will in total produce a clearer picture regarding the relationship between mastication and the GR.
- The study described in chapter 7 demonstrated that between-individual variations in the GR and IR can be observed even when all known influential factors up to and including gastric emptying were controlled for.

This suggests that post-gastric carbohydrate digestion and absorption aspects might be varying between individuals. To ascertain this, future studies must use post-gastric intubation methods to place carbohydrate foods directly in the duodenum and subsequently measure the GR, IR and their variations. These studies should compare intestinal glucose uptake rates, hepatic glucose output rates, digestive enzyme secretion and digestion rates. The findings will help to further identify internal factors contributing to glycaemic response variability. It will allow for both better public health recommendations and better controls in future experiments involving GR measurements.

- Food particle size has been shown to inversely impact on gastric emptying. The studies in this thesis showed that the particle size distribution in food swallowed after habitual mastication differed significantly between individuals. It is therefore possible that individuals' degree of breakdown will influence their rate of gastric emptying. Differential rates of gastric emptying will result in different rates of delivery of chyme to the duodenum and this will therefore impact on the rate of glucose appearance in the blood. This has not been investigated. A study must be therefore initiated to determine if differences in particle size breakdown during habitual mastication also influence the gastric emptying rate and its variations.
- Food particle size has also been shown to inversely affect satiety. Therefore, a comprehensive series of studies must be initiated to elucidate the effects of ingested food particle size (following habitual mastication) on satiety. These studies should include subjective satiety (VAS), biochemical

(satiety hormones, blood glucose) and food intake measurements. The findings will highlight the importance of ingested food particle size on satiety and have significant applications when formulating future public health recommendations and intervention strategies for the control of chronic diseases.

# Appendices

# Appendix 1: The Dutch eating behaviour questionnaire

#### **Subject number:**

### **Dutch Eating Behaviour Questionnaire**

Please tick the response which applies best to each of the questions. All of the results will be strictly confidential and will be available only to the researcher. This is a previously validated questionnaire. Please answer each question carefully.

Thank-you

1	If you have put on weight, do you eat less than you usually do?	Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Always
2	Do you try to eat less at mealtimes than you would like to eat?	Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Always
3	How often do you refuse food or drink because you are concerned about your weight?	Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Always
4	Do you watch exactly what you eat?	Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Always
5	Do you deliberately eat foods that are slimming?	Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Always
6	When you have eaten too much, do you eat less than usual the following days?	Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Always
7	Do you deliberately eat less in order not to become heavier?	Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Always

8	How often do you try not to eat between meals because you are watching your weight?	Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Always PTO
9	How often in the evening do you try not to eat because you are watching your weight?	Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Always
10	Do you take into account your weight with what you eat?	Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Always
11	Do you have the desire to eat when you are irritated?	Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Always
12	Do you have the desire to eat when you have nothing to do?	Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Always
13	Do you have a desire to eat when you are discouraged or depressed?	Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Always
14	Do you have a desire to eat when you are feeling lonely?	Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Always
15	Do you have a desire to eat when someone lets you down?	Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Always
16	Do you have a desire to eat when you are cross?	Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Always
17	Do you have a desire to eat when you are approaching something unpleasant to happen?	Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Always
18	Do you get the desire to eat when you are anxious, worried or tense?	Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Always
19	Do you have a desire to eat when things are going against you or when things have gone	Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Always

v	vro	na	?
•			

20	Do you have a desire to eat when you are frightened?	Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Always
21	Do you have a desire to eat when you are disappointed?	Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Always
22	Do you have a desire to eat when you are emotionally upset?	Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Always
23	Do you have a desire to eat when you are bored or restless?	Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Always
24	If food tastes good to you, do you eat more than usual?	Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Always
25	If food smells and looks good, do you eat more than usual?	Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Always
26	If you see or smell something delicious, do you have a desire to eat it?	Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Always
27	If you have something delicious to eat, do you eat it straight away?	Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Always
28	If you walk past the baker, do you have the desire to buy something delicious?	Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Always
29	If you walk past a snack bar or a café, do you have the desire to buy something delicious?	Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Always

PTO

30	If you see others eating, do you also have the desire to eat?	Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Always
31	Can you resist eating delicious food?	Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Always
32	Do you eat more than usual, when you see others eating?	Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Always
33	When preparing a meal you are inclined to eat something?	Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Always

# Appendix 2: The habitual physical activity questionnaire

#### **Subject number:**

#### **Habitual Physical Activity Questionnaire**

Please circle the response most applicable to each of the statements or answer the questions. All of the results will be strictly confidential and will be available only to the researcher. This is a previously validated questionnaire.

Thank You

1. What is your main occupation?

2.	At work I sit	never	seldom	sometimes	often	always
3.	At work I stand	never	seldom	sometimes	often	always
4.	At work I walk	never	seldom	sometimes	often	always
5.	At work I lift heavy loads	never	seldom	sometimes	often	always
6.	After work I'm tired	very often	often	sometimes	seldom	never
7.	At work I sweat	very often	often	sometimes	seldom	never
8.	In comparison with others of my own age, I think my work is physically	much heavier	heavier	as heavy	lighter	much lighter
9.	Do you play sport?	Yes	No			
	If Yes: Which sport do you play most frequently					
	How many hours a week?	<1	1-2	2-3	3-4	>4
	How many months a year?	<1	1-3	4-6	7-9	>9

If you play a second sport: Which sport is it?

.....

	How many hours a week?	<1	1-2	2-3	3-4	PTO >4
	How many months a year?	<1	1-3	4-6	7-9	>9
10	In comparison with other of my own age I think my physical activity during leisure time is	much more	more	the same	less	much less
11	During leisure time I sweat	very often	often	sometimes	seldom	Never
12	During leisure time I play sport	never	seldom	sometimes	often	very often
13	During leisure time I watch television	never	seldom	sometimes	often	very often
14	During leisure time I walk	never	seldom	sometimes	often	very often
15	During leisure time I cycle	Never	seldom	sometimes	often	very often
16	How many minutes do you walk and/or cycle per day to and from work, school and shopping?	<5	5-15	15-30	30-45	>45

# Appendix 3: The health questionnaire

#### Subject number:

# **HEALTH QUESTIONNAIRE**

All of the results will be strictly confidential and will be available only to the researcher

(Please circle as appropriate)

•	Date of birth		
•	Are you allergic to any foods? If yes, which food(s)?	Yes	No
•	Do you have intolerance to foods? If yes, which food(s)?	Yes	No
•	Do you have a genetic or metabolic disease?	Yes	No
•	Are you taking any medication? If yes, which ones(s)?	Yes	No
•	Are you a smoker? If yes, how many cigarettes/day:	Yes	No
•	Are you following a special diet? If yes, which diet(s)?	Yes	No
•	Do you exercise or participate in any sports? If yes, times/week: Duration: Intensity:	Yes	No
•	Are there any foods you dislike? If yes, which food(s)?	Yes	No

# Appendix 4: Ethics and consent documents

# 4.1. Example of a University Research Ethics Committee (UREC) approval letter

UNIVERSITY	Legal Services				
Mr Viren Ranawana School of Life Sciences Oxford Brookes University Gipsy Lane Headington	University Research Ethics Committee Wheatley Campus, Wheatley Oxford OX33 1HX UK t. +44 (0)1865 485741 ethics@brookes.ac.uk www.brookes.ac.uk/res/ethics				
14 April 2008					
Dear Viren					
UREC Registration No: 080316 The role young adults	of beverage type on subsequent food intake in				
Thank you for your email of 5 March outlining your response to the points raised in my previous letter for your study and attaching the revised documents. I am pleased to inform you that, on this basis, I have given Chair's Approval for the study to begin.					
The UREC approval period for this study is two years from the date of this letter, so 14 April 2010. If you need the approval to be extended please do contact me nearer the time of expiry.					
In order to monitor studies approved by the ask you to provide a (very brief) report on the time. If the study is completed in less than send you the appropriate guidelines for the send you the appropriate guidelines for the	University Research Ethics Committee, we will le conduct and conclusions of the study in a year's a year, could you please contact me and I will report.				
Yours sincerely Dr Richard Craven					
Deputy Chair University Research Ethics Committee					
cc Helen Lightowler Graduate Office					

#### 4.2. Example of a consent form

#### **Consent form**

#### Influence of oral dynamics on the glycaemic response to a food

Yes

No

Contacts:

Professor Jeya Henry, Professor of Human Nutrition Dr Helen Lightowler, Senior Lecturer in Nutrition Viren Ranawana, Researcher

School of Life Sciences Oxford Brookes University Gipsy Lane Campus Oxford OX3 0BP Tel: 01865 483818 / 483245 / 483283 Email: jhenry@brookes.ac.uk / hlightowler@brookes.ac.uk / vranawana@brookes.ac.uk

Please <u>INITIAL</u> the appropriate box

- 1. I confirm that I have read and understand the information sheet for the above research project.
- 2. I confirm that I have had the opportunity to ask questions and have received satisfactory answers to all my questions.
- 3. I understand that my participation is voluntary and that I am free to withdraw at any time, without giving reason, or to withdraw any unprocessed data previously supplied.
- 4. I understand that confidentiality of information provided can only be protected within the limits of the law.
- 5. I agree to take part in the above research.

Name of Participant	Date
Signature	
Contact number:	email:
Name of Researcher	Date
Signature	

# Appendix 5: Example of visual analogue scales (VAS)

0:00								
How hungry do y	ou feel?							
Not at all hungry	Extremely hungry							
	How full do you feel?							
	Not at all full	Extremely full						
How strong is yo	ur desire to eat?							
	I							
Not at all strong	Extremely strong							
	How much food do you think you can eat?							
	A large amount	Nothing at all						
	0:15							
How hungry do y	ou feel?							
Not at all hungry	Extremely hungry	Extremely hungry						
	How full do you feel?							
	Not at all full	Extremely full						
How strong is you	ur desire to eat?							
<b> </b>								
Not at all strong	Extremely strong							
	How much food do you think you can eat?							
	A large amount	Nothing at all						

Food	Portion	Protein	Carbohydrates	Fat	Fibre	Energy
	size	per portion	Per	Per	Per	Per
	(g)	(g)	Portion	Portion	Portion	Portion
			(g)	(g)	(g)	(kcal)
Wholemeal	40	4	14.1	0.8	2.4	80
bread						
White	40	9	17.2	2	2.7	83
bread						
Corn flakes	40	2.8	34	0.36	1.2	149
Bran flakes	40	4	27	0.8	6	130
Brain naileo	10		L,	0.0	Ŭ	100
Low fat	15	0.02	0.42	5.7	0	53
spread						
-1						
Strawberry	15	0	9.6	0	0	39
jam						
Marmalade	15	0.03	9.3	0	0	38
Milk	210	8	10	4	0	105
Теа	3	0	0	0	0	
Coffee	5	0.35	1.8	0.01	14	3 15
301100	0	0.00	1.0	0.01	1.7	0.10

#### 6.1. Details of food served at breakfast
6.2.	Food selection in the	two menus	served for	r lunch
------	-----------------------	-----------	------------	---------

Menu 1	Menu 2		
Beef Lasagne	Spaghetti Bolognese		
Baked Potato, baked beans and cheese	Margherita pizza		
Fish cakes and chips	Cheese and onion quiche		
Egg Mayonnaise sandwiches	Cheese and tomato sandwiches		
Houmous and cucumber sandwiches	Tuna mayonnaise sandwiches		
Alfresco salad and French dressing	Alfresco salad and French dressing		
Yoghurt- 4 flavours	Yoghurt- 4 flavours		
Crisps- 4 flavours	Crisps- 4 flavours		
Apples	Apples		
Oranges	Oranges		
Banana	Banana		
Plums	Plums		
Cadbury brunch bars	Cadbury brunch bars		
Alpen strawberry and yogurt bar	Alpen strawberry and yogurt bar		
Special K original bars	Special K original bars		
Cadbury Milk chocolate	Cadbury Milk chocolate		
Twix chocolate bars	Twix chocolate bars		
Snickers chocolate bars	Snickers chocolate bars		
Total energy: 2678 kcal*	Total energy: 2681*		

Food	Portion	Protein	Carbohydrate	Fat	Fibre	Energy
	size	per	Per	Per	Per	Per
	(g)	portion	portion	portion	Portion	portion
		(g)	(g)	(g)	(g)	(kcal)
Pizza	42	4.3	10.5	3.2	0.5	120
Lasagne	125	5.4	16.8	5.6	1	144
Quiche	50	3.5	8.8	8.8	0.4	125
Fish cakes	42	2.9	9.1	5	0.7	95
Potato chips	100	2.5	28.5	3.8	2.3	172
Alfresco salad	50	0.4	1.8	0.2	0.9	10
Dressing	10	0	0.6	0.3	0	4.6
Baked potato,						
baked beans	185	8.9	25.7	5.6	9.4	170
and cheddar						
cheese						
Spaghetti	120	11.8	30.9	4.9	1	319
Bolognese						
Egg						
mayonnaise	37.5	2.2	3.1	16.2	1.3	95
sandwiches						
Houmous and						
cucumber	37.5	1.5	4.1	3.6	2.4	77
sandwiches						
Cheese and						
tomato	40	3.8	3.3	9.3	1.4	93
sandwiches						
Tuna						
mayonnaise	33.8	0.7	3.1	18	1.3	93

# 6.3. Nutrient and energy profiles of foods served at lunch

sandwiches						
Yogurt	125	4.6	16	4.0	2	118
(4 flavours)						
Apple	133	0.4	14.4	0.3	2.3	61
Banana	100	1.2	23.2	0.3	1.1	105
Clemantines	80	1.3	12.4	0.1	1.7	30
Plum	60	0.4	5.3	0.1	0.9	22
Cadbury	35	2.5	21.4	7.6	0	160
brunch bar						
Alpen						
strawberry and	29	1.7	21	3.3	0.7	119
yogurt cereal						
bar						
Special K						
original cereal	23	2	17	2	0.5	90
bar						
Twix bar	25	3	18	17	0.4	123
Cadbury's milk	40	1.3	9.9	5.3	0.28	205
chocolate						
Snickers bar	42	2.8	24	9.7	0.5	215
Crisps	25	1.6	12.3	8.5	1.8	131
(4 flavours)						

# Appendix 7 Questionnaire for determining breakfast

## and snacking habits, and lunch preferences

### Habitual mid-morning snack consumption questionnaire

All of the results will be strictly confidential and will be available only to the researcher

#### Subject number:

### Date:

(1) How often do you have breakfast?

Everyday 1-2 days per week 3-4 days per week 5-6 days per week Never

(2) How often do you have a snack between breakfast and lunch?

Everyday 1-2 days per week 3-4 days per week 5-6 days per week Never

(3) What foods do you usually have as snacks in the mid-morning? Please tick all that are appropriate and state the quantity you usually have.

	Crisps		<u> </u>	packs
	Chocolate			bars/pieces/packs
	Biscuits		number	rs
	Fruits	Banana Apples/Pears Orange/Citrus Grapes Plums Others (please	specify)	
	Cereal bars			numbers
	Muffins/cake/fla	pjacks etc.		numbers
	Juice/ Soft drink	s		bottle/can
	Other (please s	pecify)		
(4)	What do yo	u usually have for	or lunch	on weekdays?

## References

- Adrian TE, Ferri GL, Bacarese-Hamilton AJ, Fuessl HS, Polak JM & Bloom SR (1985) Human distribution and release of a putative new gut hormone, peptide YY. *Gastroenterology* **89**, 1070-1077.
- Ahren B & Holst JJ (2001) The cephalic insulin response to meal ingestion in humans is dependent on both cholinergic and noncholinergic mechanisms and is important for postprandial glycemia. *Diabetes* **50**, 1030-1038.
- Allen FM (1920) Experimental Studies on Diabetes : Series I. Production and Control of Diabetes in the Dog. 2. Effects of Carbohydrate Diets. J Exp Med 31, 381-402.
- Almiron-Roig E, Chen Y & Drewnowski A (2003) Liquid calories and the failure of satiety: how good is the evidence? *Obes Rev* **4**, 201-212.
- Almiron-Roig E & Drewnowski A (2003) Hunger, thirst, and energy intakes following consumption of caloric beverages. *Physiol Behav* **79**, 767-773.
- Almiron-Roig E, Flores SY & Drewnowski A (2004) No difference in satiety or in subsequent energy intakes between a beverage and a solid food. *Physiol Behav* 82, 671-677.
- Almiron-Roig E, Grathwohl D, Green H & Erkner A (2009) Impact of some isoenergetic snacks on satiety and next meal intake in healthy adults. *J Hum Nutr Diet* **22**, 469-474.
- Anderson GH (1995) Sugars, sweetness, and food intake. *Am J Clin Nutr* **62**, 195S-201S; discussion 201S-202S.
- Anderson GH (2006) Sugars-containing beverages and post-prandial satiety and food intake. *Int J Obes* **30**, S52-S59.
- Anderson GH, Aziz A & Abou Samra R (2006) Physiology of food intake regulation: interaction with dietary components. *Nestle Nutr Workshop Ser Pediatr Program* **58**, 133-143; discussion 143-135.
- Anderson GH, Catherine NL, Woodend DM & Wolever TM (2002) Inverse association between the effect of carbohydrates on blood glucose and subsequent short-term food intake in young men. *Am J Clin Nutr* **76**, 1023-1030.
- Anderson GH, Catherine, N. L. A., Woodend, D. M. and Wolever, T. M. S. (2002) Inverse association between the effect of carbohydrates on blood glucose and subsequent short-term food intake in young men. *Am J Clin Nutr* **76**, 1023-1030.
- Anderson GH, Saravis S, Schacher R, Zlotkin S & Lieter LA (1989) Aspartame: effect on lunch-time food intake, appetite and hedonic responses in children. *Appetite* **13**, 93-103.
- Anderson GH & Woodend D (2003a) Consumption of sugars and the regulation of short-term satiety and food intake. *Am J Clin Nutr* **78**, 843S-849S.
- Anderson GH & Woodend D (2003b) Effect of glycemic carbohydrates on short-term satiety and food intake. *Nutr Rev* **61**, S17-26.
- Anderson JW, Kendall CW & Jenkins DJ (2003) Importance of weight management in type 2 diabetes: review with meta-analysis of clinical studies. *J Am Coll Nutr* **22**, 331-339.
- Anon. (1998) Intensive blood-glucose control with sulphonylureas or insulin compared with conventional treatment and risk of complications in patients with type 2

diabetes (UKPDS 33). UK Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS) Group. *Lancet* **352**, 837-853.

- Apovian CM (2004) Sugar-sweetened soft drinks, obesity, and type 2 diabetes. *Jama* **292**, 978-979.
- Armario A, Marti O, Molina T, de Pablo J & Valdes M (1996) Acute stress markers in humans: response of plasma glucose, cortisol and prolactin to two examinations differing in the anxiety they provoke. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 21, 17-24.
- Bachman CM, Baranowski T & Nicklas TA (2006) Is there an association between sweetened beverages and adiposity? *Nutr Rev* **64**, 153-174.
- Baecke JOH, Burema J & Frijters JER (1992) A short questionnaire for the measurement of habitual physical activity in epidemiological studies. *Am J Clin Nutr* **36**, 936-942.
- Batterham RL, Cohen MA, Ellis SM, Le Roux CW, Withers DJ, Frost GS, Ghatei MA & Bloom SR (2003) Inhibition of food intake in obese subjects by peptide YY3-36. *N Engl J Med* **349**, 941-948.
- Batterham RL, Cowley MA, Small CJ, Herzog H, Cohen MA, Dakin CL, Wren AM, Brynes AE, Low MJ, Ghatei MA, Cone RD & Bloom SR (2002) Gut hormone PYY(3-36) physiologically inhibits food intake. *Nature* **418**, 650-654.
- Baum BJ (1993) Principles of saliva secretion. Ann N Y Acad Sci 694, 17-23.
- Bawa S (2005) The role of the consumption of beverages in the obesity epidemic. *J R* Soc Promot Health **125**, 124-128.
- Behall KM, Scholfield DJ & Canary J (1988) Effect of starch structure on glucose and insulin responses in adults. *Am J Clin Nutr* **47**, 428-432.
- Behall KM, Scholfield DJ & Hallfrisch J (1999) The effect of particle size of whole-grain flour on plasma glucose, insulin, glucagon and thyroid-stimulating hormone in humans. *J Am Coll Nutr* **18**, 591-597.
- Behall KM, Scholfield DJ, Yuhaniak I & Canary J (1989) Diets containing high amylose vs amylopectin starch: effects on metabolic variables in human subjects. *Am J Clin Nutr* **49**, 337-344.
- Bellisle F (2003) Why should we study human food intake behaviour? *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis* **13**, 189-193.
- Bellisle F & Le Magnen J (1981) The structure of meals in humans: eating and drinking patterns in lean and obese subjects. *Physiol Behav* 27, 649-658.
- Ben-Aryeh H, Fisher M, Szargel R & Laufer D (1990) Composition of whole unstimulated saliva of healthy children: changes with age. Arch Oral Biol 35, 929-931.
- Benelam B (2009) Satiation, satiety and their effects on eating behaviour. In *Nutrition Bulletin-Briefing paper*, pp. 126-173. London: British Nutrition Foundation
- Benmoussa M, Moldenhauer KA & Hamaker BR (2007) Rice amylopectin fine structure variability affects starch digestion properties. *J Agric Food Chem* **55**, 1475-1479.
- Berkey CS, Rockett HR, Field AE, Gillman MW & Colditz GA (2004) Sugar-added beverages and adolescent weight change. *Obes Res* **12**, 778-788.
- Berry MK, Russo A, Wishart JM, Tonkin A, Horowitz M & Jones KL (2003) Effect of solid meal on gastric emptying of, and glycemic and cardiovascular responses to, liquid glucose in older subjects. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 284, G655-662.

- Bes-Rastrollo M, Sanchez-Villegas A, Gomez-Gracia E, Martinez JA, Pajares RM & Martinez-Gonzalez MA (2006) Predictors of weight gain in a Mediterranean cohort: the Seguimiento Universidad de Navarra Study 1. *Am J Clin Nutr* **83**, 362-370; guiz 394-365.
- Birch LL, McPhee L & Sullivan S (1989) Children's food intake following drinks sweetened with sucrose or aspartame: time course effects. *Physiol Behav* **45**, 387-395.
- Bjorck I, Granfeldt Y, Liljeberg H, Tovar J & Asp NG (1994) Food properties affecting the digestion and absorption of carbohydrates. *Am J Clin Nutr* **59**, 699S-705S.
- Black RM, Tanaka P, Leiter LA & Anderson GH (1991) Soft drinks with aspartame: effect on subjective hunger, food selection, and food intake of young adult males. *Physiol Behav* **49**, 803-810.
- Blom WAM, Hendriks HF, Stafleu A, De Graaf C, Kok FJ & Schaafsma G (2003) Ghrelin and appetite responses after liquid breakfasts varying in energy content and carbohydrate structure. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord* **27**, S(35) (abstr.).
- Blundell JE, Green S & Burley V (1994) Carbohydrates and human appetite. *Am J Clin Nutr* **59**, 728S-734S.
- Blundell JE & Tremblay A (1995) Appetite control and energy (fuel) balance. *Nutr Res Rev* **8**, 225-242.
- Bolton RP, Heaton KW & Burroughs LF (1981) The role of dietary fiber in satiety, glucose, and insulin: studies with fruit and fruit juice. *Am J Clin Nutr* **34**, 211-217.
- Bornet FR, Cloarec D, Barry JL, Colonna P, Gouilloud S, Laval JD & Galmiche JP (1990) Pasta cooking time: influence on starch digestion and plasma glucose and insulin responses in healthy subjects. *Am J Clin Nutr* **51**, 421-427.
- Bornet FR, Jardy-Gennetier AE, Jacquet N & Stowell J (2007) Glycaemic response to foods: impact on satiety and long-term weight regulation. *Appetite* **49**, 535-553.
- Braden B, Adams S, Duan LP, Orth KH, Maul FD, Lembcke B, Hor G & Caspary WF (1995) The [13C]acetate breath test accurately reflects gastric emptying of liquids in both liquid and semisolid test meals. *Gastroenterology* **108**, 1048-1055.
- Braden B, Lembcke B, Kuker W & Caspary WF (2007) 13C-breath tests: current state of the art and future directions. *Dig Liver Dis* **39**, 795-805.
- Brand-Miller JC, Holt SH, Pawlak DB & McMillan J (2002) Glycemic index and obesity. *Am J Clin Nutr* **76**, 281S-285S.
- Brand JC, Nicholson PL, Thorburn AW & Truswell AS (1985) Food processing and the glycemic index. *Am J Clin Nutr* **42**, 1192-1196.
- Brondel L, Romer M, Van Wymelbeke V, Pineau N, Jiang T, Hanus C & Rigaud D (2009) Variety enhances food intake in humans: role of sensory-specific satiety. *Physiol Behav* **97**, 44-51.
- Brophy CM, Moore JG, Christian PE, Egger MJ & Taylor AT (1986) Variability of gastric emptying measurements in man employing standardized radiolabeled meals. *Dig Dis Sci* **31**, 799-806.
- Brouns F, Bjorck I, Frayn KN, Gibbs AL, Lang V, Slama G & Wolever TM (2005) Glycaemic index methodology. *Nutr Res Rev* **18**, 145-171.
- Brown WE (1994) Method to investigate differences in chewing behavior in humans: I. Use of electromyography in measuring chewing. *J Texture Stud* **25**, 1-16.

- Brunstrom JM & Rogers PJ (2009) How many calories are on our plate? Expected fullness, not liking, determines meal-size selection. *Obesity (Silver Spring)* **17**, 1884-1890.
- Bryant M, Truesdale KP & Dye L (2006) Modest changes in dietary intake across the menstrual cycle: implications for food intake research. *Br J Nutr* **96**, 888-894.
- Buffenstein R, Poppitt SD, McDevitt RM & Prentice AM (1995) Food intake and the menstrual cycle: a retrospective analysis, with implications for appetite research. *Physiol Behav* **58**, 1067-1077.
- Caballero B (2007) The global epidemic of obesity: an overview. *Epidemiol Rev* **29**, 1-5.
- Campbell JE, Glowczewski T & Wolever TM (2003) Controlling subjects' prior diet and activities does not reduce within-subject variation of postprandial glycemic responses to foods. *Nutr Res* **23**, 621-629.
- Campfield LA & Smith FJ (2002) Blood glucose dynamics and control of meal initiation: A pattern detection and recognition theory. *Physiol Rev* **83**, 25-58.
- Campfield LA, Smith FJ, Rosenbaum M & Hirsch J (1996) Human eating: evidence for a physiological basis using a modified paradigm. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* 20, 133-137.
- Canty DJ & Chan MM (1991) Effects of consumption of caloric vs noncaloric sweet drinks on indices of hunger and food consumption in normal adults. *Am J Clin Nutr* **53**, 1159-1164.
- Cecil JE, Francis J & Read NW (1998) Relative contributions of intestinal, gastric, orosensory influences and information to changes in appetite induced by the same liquid meal. *Appetite* **31**, 377-390.
- Cecil JE, Palmer CN, Wrieden W, Murrie I, Bolton-Smith C, Watt P, Wallis DJ & Hetherington MM (2005) Energy intakes of children after preloads: adjustment, not compensation. *Am J Clin Nutr* **82**, 302-308.
- Chapman IM, Goble EA, Wittert GA, Morley JE & Horowitz M (1998) Effect of intravenous glucose and euglycemic insulin infusions on short-term appetite and food intake. *Am J Physiol* **274**, R596-603.
- Chaput JP & Tremblay A (2009) The glucostatic theory of appetite control and the risk of obesity and diabetes. *Int J Obes (Lond)* **33**, 46-53.
- Chen L, Appel LJ, Loria C, Lin PH, Champagne CM, Elmer PJ, Ard JD, Mitchell D, Batch BC, Svetkey LP & Caballero B (2009) Reduction in consumption of sugar-sweetened beverages is associated with weight loss: the PREMIER trial. *Am J Clin Nutr* **89**, 1299-1306.
- Cherrington AD (1999) Banting Lecture 1997. Control of glucose uptake and release by the liver in vivo. *Diabetes* **48**, 1198-1214.
- Cherrington AD, Lacy WW & Chiasson JL (1978) Effect of glucagon on glucose production during insulin deficiency in the dog. *J Clin Invest* **62**, 664-677.
- Chin-Chance C, Polonsky KS & Schoeller DA (2000) Twenty-four-hour leptin levels respond to cumulative short-term energy imbalance and predict subsequent intake. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* **85**, 2685-2691.
- Chiu KC, Cohan P, Lee NP & Chuang LM (2000) Insulin sensitivity differs among ethnic groups with a compensatory response in beta-cell function. *Diabetes Care* **23**, 1353-1358.
- Choi MG, Camilleri M, Burton DD, Zinsmeister AR, Forstrom LA & Nair KS (1998) Reproducibility and simplification of 13C-octanoic acid breath test for gastric emptying of solids. *Am J Gastroenterol* **93**, 92-98.

- Christen AG & Christen JA (1997) Horace Fletcher (1849-1919): "The Great Masticator." *J Hist Dent* **45**, 95-100.
- Clegg M, McClean C, Davison WG, Murphy HM, Trinick T, Duly E, McLaughlin J, Fogarty M & Shafat A (2007) Exercise and postprandial lipaemia: effects on peripheral vascular function, oxidative stress and gastrointestinal transit. *Lipids Health Dis* **6**, 30.
- Clegg M & Shafat A (2010) Energy and macronutrient composition of breakfast affect gastric emptying of lunch and subsequent food intake, satiety and satiation. *Appetite* **54**, 517-523.
- Clegg ME, McKenna P, McClean C, Davison GW, Trinick T, Duly E & Shafat A (2010) Gastrointestinal transit, post-prandial lipaemia and satiety following 3 days high-fat diet in men. *Eur J Clin Nutr*.
- Clement S, Braithwaite SS, Magee MF, Ahmann A, Smith EP, Schafer RG & Hirsch IB (2004) Management of diabetes and hyperglycemia in hospitals. *Diabetes Care* **27**, 553-591.
- Collier G & O'Dea K (1982) Effect of physical form of carbohydrate on the postprandial glucose, insulin, and gastric inhibitory polypeptide responses in type 2 diabetes. *Am J Clin Nutr* **36**, 10-14.
- Collins PJ, Houghton LA, Read NW, Horowitz M, Chatterton BE, Heddle R & Dent J (1991) Role of the proximal and distal stomach in mixed solid and liquid meal emptying. *Gut* **32**, 615-619.
- Corssmit EP, Romijn JA & Sauerwein HP (2001) Review article: Regulation of glucose production with special attention to nonclassical regulatory mechanisms: a review. *Metabolism* **50**, 742-755.
- Crapo PA, Reaven G & Olefsky J (1977) Postprandial plasma-glucose and -insulin responses to different complex carbohydrates. *Diabetes* **26**, 1178-1183.
- Cresci G & Martindale R (2003) Bedside placement of small bowel feeding tubes in hospitalized patients: a new role for the dietitian. *Nutrition* **19**, 843-846.
- Cummings DE, Purnell JQ, Frayo RS, Schmidova K, Wisse BE & Weigle DS (2001) A preprandial rise in plasma ghrelin levels suggests a role in meal initiation in humans. *Diabetes* **50**, 1714-1719.
- Davidson JA (2004) Treatment of the patient with diabetes: importance of maintaining target HbA(1c) levels. *Curr Med Res Opin* **20**, 1919-1927.
- Davis JD & Smith GP (1990) Learning to sham feed: behavioral adjustments to loss of physiological postingestional stimuli. *Am J Physiol* **259**, R1228-1235.
- Davy BM, Van Walleghen EL & Orr JS (2007) Sex differences in acute energy intake regulation. *Appetite* **49**, 141-147.
- de Almeida PDV, Gregio AM, Machado MA, de Lima AA & Azevedo LR (2008) Saliva composition and functions: a comprehensive review. *J Contemp Dent Pract* **9**, 72-80.
- De Castro JM (1995) The relationship of cognitive restraint to the spontaneous food and fluid intake of free living humans. *Physiol Behav* **57**, 287-295.
- de Graaf C, Blom WA, Smeets PA, Stafleu A & Hendriks HF (2004) Biomarkers of satiation and satiety. *Am J Clin Nutr* **79**, 946-961.
- De Leon DD, Crutchlow MF, Ham JY & Stoffers DA (2006) Role of glucagon-like peptide-1 in the pathogenesis and treatment of diabetes mellitus. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* **38**, 845-859.
- de Wijk RA, Zijlstra N, Mars M, de Graaf C & Prinz JF (2008) The effects of food viscosity on bite size, bite effort and food intake. *Physiol Behav* **95**, 527-532.

- Del Parigi A, Chen K, Gautier JF, Salbe AD, Pratley RE, Ravussin E, Reiman EM & Tataranni PA (2002) Sex differences in the human brain's response to hunger and satiation. *Am J Clin Nutr* **75**, 1017-1022.
- Del Prato S (2003) Loss of early insulin secretion leads to postprandial hyperglycaemia. *Diabetologia* **46 Suppl 1**, M2-8.
- DellaValle DM, Roe LS & Rolls BJ (2005) Does the consumption of caloric and noncaloric beverages with a meal affect energy intake? *Appetite* **44**, 187-193.
- DH (2006) Forecasting Obesity to 2010. London: Department of Health.
- Diaz S, Farhang B, Hoien J, Stahlman M, Adatia N, Cox JM & Wagner EJ (2009) Sex differences in the cannabinoid modulation of appetite, body temperature and neurotransmission at POMC synapses. *Neuroendocrinology* **89**, 424-440.
- DiMeglio DP & Mattes RD (2000) Liquid versus solid carbohydrate: effects on food intake and body weight. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord* **24**, 794-800.
- Dodds MW, Johnson DA & Yeh CK (2005) Health benefits of saliva: a review. *J Dent* **33**, 223-233.
- Doran S, Jones KL, Andrews JM & Horowitz M (1998) Effects of meal volume and posture on gastric emptying of solids and appetite. *Am J Physiol* **275**, R1712-1718.
- Doyle JA, Martin DE, Papadopoulos C, Holmes D & Housel T (1997) Glycemic response to liquid, solid and gel forms of carbohydrate. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* **29**, 125.
- Drewnowski A, Massien C, Louis-Sylvestre J, Fricker J, Chapelot D & Apfelbaum M (1994) Comparing the effects of aspartame and sucrose on motivational ratings, taste preferences, and energy intakes in humans. *Am J Clin Nutr* **59**, 338-345.
- Drucker DJ (2006) The biology of incretin hormones. Cell Metab 3, 153-165.
- Drucker DJ & Nauck MA (2006) The incretin system: glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonists and dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitors in type 2 diabetes. *Lancet* **368**, 1696-1705.
- Elder SJ & Roberts SB (2007) The effects of exercise on food intake and body fatness: a summary of published studies. *Nutr Rev* **65**, 1-19.
- Engelen L, Fontijn-Tekamp A & van der Bilt A (2005) The influence of product and oral characteristics on swallowing. *Arch Oral Biol* **50**, 739-746.
- Englyst HN & Hudson GJ (1987) Colorimetric method for routine analysis of dietary fibre as non-starch polysaccharides. A comparison with gas–liquid chromatography. *Food Chem* **24**, 63-76.
- FAO (2001) Human energy requirements: Report of a Joint FAO/WHO/UNU Expert Consultation. In *Food and Nutrition Technical Report series*. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organisation.
- FAO/WHO (1998) Carbohydrates in human nutrition- Report of a joint FAO/WHO expert consultation. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organisation.
- Fardet A, Leenhardt F, Lioger D, Scalbert A & Remesy C (2006) Parameters controlling the glycaemic response to breads. *Nutr Res Rev* **19**, 18-25.
- Feinle C, Kunz P, Boesiger P, Fried M & Schwizer W (1999) Scintigraphic validation of a magnetic resonance imaging method to study gastric emptying of a solid meal in humans. *Gut* 44, 106-111.
- Feinle C, O'Donovan D & Horowitz M (2002) Carbohydrate and satiety. *Nutr Rev* 60, 155-169.

- Flint A, Gregersen NT, Gluud LL, Moller BK, Raben A, Tetens I, Verdich C & Astrup A (2007) Associations between postprandial insulin and blood glucose responses, appetite sensations and energy intake in normal weight and overweight individuals: a meta-analysis of test meal studies. *Br J Nutr* **98**, 17-25.
- Flint A, Raben A, Blundell JE & Astrup A (2000) Reproducibility, power and validity of visual analogue scales in assessment of appetite sensations in single test meal studies. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord* **24**, 38-48.
- Flood-Obbagy JE & Rolls BJ (2009) The effect of fruit in different forms on energy intake and satiety at a meal. *Appetite* **52**, 416-422.
- Flood JE & Rolls BJ (2007) Soup preloads in a variety of forms reduce meal energy intake. *Appetite* **49**, 626-634.
- Fontijn-Tekamp FA, van der Bilt A, Abbink JH & Bosman F (2004) Swallowing threshold and masticatory performance in dentate adults. *Physiol Behav* 83, 431-436.
- French CJW & Booth DA (1991) Effects of meat species and particle size on postprandial satiety. *Proc Nutr Soc* **51**, 57A.
- Friedman MI (2008) Food Intake: Control, Regulation, and the Illusion of Dysregulation. In *Appetite and Food Intake: Behavioral and Physiological considerations* [RBS Harris and RD Mattes, editors]. Boca Raton: CRC Press.
- Gambareli FR, Serra MD, Pereira LJ & Gaviao MBD (2007) Influence of measurement technique, test food, teeth and muscle force interactions in masticatory performance. *J Texture Stud* **38**, 2-20.
- Gatti E, Noe D, Pazzucconi F, Gianfranceschi G, Porrini M, Testolin G & Sirtori CR (1992) Differential effect of unsaturated oils and butter on blood glucose and insulin response to carbohydrate in normal volunteers. *Eur J Clin Nutr* **46**, 161-166.
- Gaviao MB, Engelen L & van der Bilt A (2004) Chewing behavior and salivary secretion. *Eur J Oral Sci* **112**, 19-24.
- Gayle DA, Desai M, Casillas E, Beloosesky R & Ross MG (2006) Gender-specific orexigenic and anorexigenic mechanisms in rats. *Life Sci* **79**, 1531-1536.
- Geliebter A, Westreich S & Gage D (1988) Gastric distention by balloon and test-meal intake in obese and lean subjects. *Am J Clin Nutr* **48**, 592-594.
- Gerozissis K (2004) Brain insulin and feeding: a bi-directional communication. *Eur J Pharmacol* **490**, 59-70.
- Gerozissis K (2008) Brain insulin, energy and glucose homeostasis; genes, environment and metabolic pathologies. *Eur J Pharmacol* **585**, 38-49.
- Ghoos YF, Maes BD, Geypens BJ, Mys G, Hiele MI, Rutgeerts PJ & Vantrappen G (1993) Measurement of gastric emptying rate of solids by means of a carbonlabeled octanoic acid breath test. *Gastroenterology* **104**, 1640-1647.
- Giammattei J, Blix G, Marshak HH, Wollitzer AO & Pettitt DJ (2003) Television watching and soft drink consumption: associations with obesity in 11- to 13-year-old schoolchildren. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med* **157**, 882-886.
- Gibson EL (2006) Emotional influences on food choice: sensory, physiological and psychological pathways. *Physiol Behav* **89**, 53-61.
- Gibson S (2008) Sugar-sweetened soft drinks and obesity: a systematic review of the evidence from observational studies and interventions. *Nutr Res Rev* **21**, 134-147.

- Gibson S & Neate D (2007) Sugar intake, soft drink consumption and body weight among British children: further analysis of National Diet and Nutrition Survey data with adjustment for under-reporting and physical activity. *Int J Food Sci Nutr* **58**, 445-460.
- Gil-Campos M, Aguilera CM, Canete R & Gil A (2006) Ghrelin: a hormone regulating food intake and energy homeostasis. *Br J Nutr* **96**, 201-226.
- Glasbrenner B, Pieramico O, Brecht-Krauss D, Baur M & Malfertheiner P (1993) Gastric emptying of solids and liquids in obesity. *Clin Investig* **71**, 542-546.
- Granfeldt Y, Bjorck I & Hagander B (1991) On the importance of processing conditions, product thickness and egg addition for the glycaemic and hormonal responses to pasta: a comparison with bread made from 'pasta ingredients'. *Eur J Clin Nutr* **45**, 489-499.
- Granfeldt Y, Hagander B & Bjorck I (1995) Metabolic responses to starch in oat and wheat products. On the importance of food structure, incomplete gelatinization or presence of viscous dietary fibre. *Eur J Clin Nutr* **49**, 189-199.
- Granger DA, Kivlighan KT, el-Sheikh M, Gordis EB & Stroud LR (2007) Salivary alphaamylase in biobehavioral research: recent developments and applications. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* **1098**, 122-144.
- Gray R, French S, Robinson T & Yeomans M (2002) Dissociation of the effects of preload volume and energy content on subjective appetite and food intake. *Physiol Behav* **76**, 57-64.
- Greenman Y, Golani N, Gilad S, Yaron M, Limor R & Stern N (2004) Ghrelin secretion is modulated in a nutrient- and gender-specific manner. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* **60**, 382-388.
- Haber GB, Heaton KW, Murphy D & Burroughs LF (1977) Depletion and disruption of dietary fibre. Effects on satiety, plasma-glucose, and serum-insulin. *Lancet* **2**, 679-682.
- Hagobian TA, Sharoff CG, Stephens BR, Wade GN, Silva JE, Chipkin SR & Braun B (2009) Effects of exercise on energy-regulating hormones and appetite in men and women. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* **296**, R233-242.
- Hakanson E, Rutberg H & Jorfeldt L (1986) Effect of adrenaline on exchange of glucose in leg tissues and splanchnic area. A comparison with the metabolic response to surgical stress. *Clin Physiol* **6**, 439-451.
- Hanawa S, Tsuboi A, WAtanabe M & Sasaki K (2007) EMG study for perioral facial muscles function during mastication
- *J Oral Rehab* **35**, 159-170.
- Harrington S (2008) The role of sugar-sweetened beverage consumption in adolescent obesity: a review of the literature. *J Sch Nurs* **24**, 3-12.
- Harris HE & Ellison GT (1997) Do the changes in energy balance that occur during pregnancy predispose parous women to obesity? *Nutr Res Rev* **10**, 57-81.
- Havel PJ (2001) Peripheral signals conveying metabolic information to the brain: shortterm and long-term regulation of food intake and energy homeostasis. *Exp Biol Med (Maywood)* **226**, 963-977.
- Hawkins R, Hass WK & Ransohoff J (1979) Measurement of regional brain glucose utilization in vivo using [2(-14)C] glucose. *Stroke* **10**, 690-703.
- Haycock GB, Schwartz GJ & Wisotsky DH (1978) Geometric method for measuring body surface area: a height-weight formula validated in infants, children, and adults. *J Pediatr* **93**, 62-66.

- Heaton KW, Marcus SN, Emmett PM & Bolton CH (1988) Particle size of wheat, maize, and oat test meals: effects on plasma glucose and insulin responses and on the rate of starch digestion in vitro. *Am J Clin Nutr* **47**, 675-682.
- Heine RJ, Hanning I, Morgan L & Alberti KG (1983) The oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT): effect of rate of ingestion of carbohydrate and different carbohydrate preparations. *Diabetes Care* **6**, 441-445.
- Hellstrom PM, Gryback P & Jacobsson H (2006) The physiology of gastric emptying. Best Pract Res Clin Anaesthesiol **20**, 397-407.
- Henquin JC (2000) Triggering and amplifying pathways of regulation of insulin secretion by glucose. *Diabetes* **49**, 1751-1760.
- Henry CJ, Lightowler HJ, Kendall FL & Storey M (2006) The impact of the addition of toppings/fillings on the glycaemic response to commonly consumed carbohydrate foods. *Eur J Clin Nutr* **60**, 763-769.
- Hetherington MM, Pirie LM & Nabb S (2002) Stimulus satiation: effects of repeated exposure to foods on pleasantness and intake. *Appetite* **38**, 19-28.
- Higgs S & Eskenazi T (2007) Dietary restraint and disinhibition are associated with increased alcohol use behaviours and thoughts in young women social drinkers. *Eat Behav* **8**, 236-243.
- Hill AJ & Blundell JE (1982) Nutrients and behaviour: research strategies for the investigation of taste characteristics, food preferences, hunger sensations and eating patterns in man. *J Psychiatr Res* **17**, 203-212.
- Hill AJ, Rogers PJ & Blundell JE (1995) Techniques for the experimental measurement of human eating behaviour and food intake: a practical guide. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord* **19**, 361-375.
- Hill JO, Catenacci VA & Wyatt HR (2006) Obesity: Etiology. In *Modern Nutrition in Health and Disease* [ME Shils, M Shike, AC Ross, B Caballero and RJ Cousins, editors]. Baltimore: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- Hlebowicz J, Hlebowicz A, Lindstedt S, Bjorgell O, Hoglund P, Holst JJ, Darwiche G & Almer LO (2009) Effects of 1 and 3 g cinnamon on gastric emptying, satiety, and postprandial blood glucose, insulin, glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide, glucagon-like peptide 1, and ghrelin concentrations in healthy subjects. *Am J Clin Nutr* **89**, 815-821.
- Hoebler C, Devaux MF, Karinthi A, Belleville C & Barry JL (2000) Particle size of solid food after human mastication and in vitro simulation of oral breakdown. *Int J Food Sci Nutr* **51**, 353-366.
- Hoebler C, Karinthi A, Devaux MF, Guillon F, Gallant DJ, Bouchet B, Melegari C & Barry JL (1998) Physical and chemical transformations of cereal food during oral digestion in human subjects. *Br J Nutr* **80**, 429-436.
- Holland B, Welch AA, Unwin ID, Buss DH, Paul AA & Southgate DAT (1991) *McCance and Widdowson's composition of foods*, 5 ed. Cambridge: The Royal Society of Chemistry.
- Holm J, Bjorck I & Ostrowska S (1983) Digestibility of amylose-lipid complexes in vitro and in vivo. *Starch* **35**, 294-297.
- Holt SH & Miller JB (1994) Particle size, satiety and the glycaemic response. *Eur J Clin Nutr* **48**, 496-502.
- Holt SH & Miller JB (1995) Increased insulin responses to ingested foods are associated with lessened satiety. *Appetite* **24**, 43-54.

- Holt SH, Sandona N & Brand-Miller JC (2000) The effects of sugar-free vs sugar-rich beverages on feelings of fullness and subsequent food intake. *Int J Food Sci Nutr* **51**, 59-71.
- Horowitz M, Edelbroek MA, Wishart JM & Straathof JW (1993) Relationship between oral glucose tolerance and gastric emptying in normal healthy subjects. *Diabetologia* **36**, 857-862.
- Hossain P, Kawar B & El Nahas M (2007) Obesity and diabetes in the developing world--a growing challenge. *N Engl J Med* **356**, 213-215.
- Houseknecht KL, Baile CA, Matteri RL & Spurlock ME (1998) The biology of leptin: a review. *J Anim Sci* **76**, 1405-1420.
- Hulshof T, De Graaf C & Weststrate JA (1993) The effects of preloads varying in physical state and fat content on satiety and energy intake. *Appetite* **21**, 273-286.
- Humphrey SP & Williamson RT (2001) A review of saliva: normal composition, flow, and function. *J Prosthet Dent* **85**, 162-169.
- Jackson SJ, Bluck LJ & Coward WA (2004) Use of isotopically labelled octanoic acid to assess the effect of meal size on gastric emptying. *Rapid Commun Mass Spectrom* **18**, 1003-1007.
- James PT, Leach R, Kalamara E & Shayeghi M (2001) The worldwide obesity epidemic. *Obes Res* **9 Suppl 4**, 228S-233S.
- Jebb SA, Rennie KL & Cole TJ (2004) Prevalence of overweight and obesity among young people in Great Britain. *Public Health Nutr* **7**, 461-465.
- Jenkins DJ & Jenkins AL (1985) Dietary fiber and the glycemic response. *Proc Soc Exp Biol Med* **180**, 422-431.
- Jenkins DJ, Kendall CW, Augustin LS, Franceschi S, Hamidi M, Marchie A, Jenkins AL & Axelsen M (2002) Glycemic index: overview of implications in health and disease. Am J Clin Nutr 76, 266S-273S.
- Jenkins DJ, Wolever TM, Jenkins AL, Lee R, Wong GS & Josse R (1983) Glycemic response to wheat products: reduced response to pasta but no effect of fiber. *Diabetes Care* **6**, 155-159.
- Jenkins DJ, Wolever TM, Taylor RH, Barker H, Fielden H, Baldwin JM, Bowling AC, Newman HC, Jenkins AL & Goff DV (1981a) Glycemic index of foods: a physiological basis for carbohydrate exchange. *Am J Clin Nutr* **34**, 362-366.
- Jenkins DJ, Wolever TM, Taylor RH, Barker HM, Fielden H & Gassull MA (1981b) Lack of effect of refining on the glycemic response to cereals. *Diabetes Care* **4**, 509-513.
- Jiffry MT (1981) Analysis of particles produced at the end of mastication in subjects with normal dentition. *J Oral Rehabil* **8**, 113-119.
- Jiffry MT (1983) Variations in the particles produced at the end of mastication in subjects with different types of dentition. *J Oral Rehabil* **10**, 357-362.
- Joannic JL, Oppert JM, Lahlou N, Basdevant A, Auboiron S, Raison J, Bornet F & Guy-Grand B (1998) Plasma leptin and hunger ratings in healthy humans. *Appetite* **30**, 129-138.
- Juntunen KS, Niskanen LK, Liukkonen KH, Poutanen KS, Holst JJ & Mykkanen HM (2002) Postprandial glucose, insulin, and incretin responses to grain products in healthy subjects. *Am J Clin Nutr* **75**, 254-262.
- Kayode JK, Sola A, Adelani A, Adeyinka A, Kolawole O & Bashiru O (2009) The role of carbohydrate in diabetic nutrition: A review. *The internet Journal of Laboratory Medicine* **3**.

- Keim NL, Levin RJ & Havel PJ (2006) Carbohydrates. In *Modern Nutrition in Health and Disease* [ME Shils, M Shike, AC Ross, B Caballero and RJ Cousins, editors]. Baltimore: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- Kelley D, Mitrakou A, Marsh H, Schwenk F, Benn J, Sonnenberg G, Arcangeli M, Aoki T, Sorensen J, Berger M & et al. (1988) Skeletal muscle glycolysis, oxidation, and storage of an oral glucose load. J Clin Invest 81, 1563-1571.
- Kelley DE (2003) Sugars and starch in the nutritional management of diabetes mellitus. *Am J Clin Nutr* **78**, 858S-864S.
- Kemsley EK, Sprunt JC, Defernez M & Smith AC (2002) Multivariate analysis of electromyographic (EMG) frequency spectra to characterise mastication. *J Texture Stud* **33**, 15-34.
- Khani S & Tayek JA (2001) Cortisol increases gluconeogenesis in humans: its role in the metabolic syndrome. *Clin Sci (Lond)* **101**, 739-747.
- King NA (1998) The relationship between physical activity and food intake. *Proc Nutr Soc* **57**, 77-84.
- Kissileff HR (1985) Effects of physical state (liquid-solid) of foods on food intake: procedural and substantive contributions. *Am J Clin Nutr* **42**, 956-965.
- Kovacs EM, Westerterp-Plantenga MS, Saris WH, Melanson KJ, Goossens I, Geurten P & Brouns F (2002) Associations between spontaneous meal initiations and blood glucose dynamics in overweight men in negative energy balance. *Br J Nutr* **87**, 39-45.
- Lassauzay C, Peyron MA, Albuisson E, Dransfield E & Woda A (2000) Variability of the masticatory process during chewing of elastic model foods. *Eur J Oral Sci* **108**, 484-492.
- Lavin JH, French SJ, Ruxton CH & Read NW (2002) An investigation of the role of oro-sensory stimulation in sugar satiety? *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord* **26**, 384-388.
- Lavin JH, Wittert G, Sun WM, Horowitz M, Morley JE & Read NW (1996) Appetite regulation by carbohydrate: role of blood glucose and gastrointestinal hormones. *Am J Physiol* **271**, E209-214.
- Layer P, Chan AT, Go VL & DiMagno EP (1988) Human pancreatic secretion during phase II antral motility of the interdigestive cycle. *Am J Physiol* **254**, G249-253.
- Lee BM & Wolever TM (1998) Effect of glucose, sucrose and fructose on plasma glucose and insulin responses in normal humans: comparison with white bread. *Eur J Clin Nutr* **52**, 924-928.
- Levine JA (2005) Measurement of energy expenditure. *Public Health Nutr* **8**, 1123-1132.
- Levitsky DA (2002) Putting behavior back into feeding behavior: a tribute to George Collier. *Appetite* **38**, 143-148.
- Levitsky DA (2008) The control of food intake and the regulation of body weight in humans. In *Appetite and food intake: behavioral and physiological considerations* [RBS Harris and R Mattes, editors]. Boca Raton: CRC Press.
- Levitsky DA & Youn T (2004) The more food young adults are served, the more they overeat. *J Nutr* **134**, 2546-2549.
- Liljeberg H & Bjorck I (1998) Delayed gastric emptying rate may explain improved glycaemia in healthy subjects to a starchy meal with added vinegar. *Eur J Clin Nutr* **52**, 368-371.
- Lindsay H (1973) A colorimetric estimation of reducing sugars in potatoes with 3,5dinitrosalicylic acid *Potato Res* **16**, 176-179.

- Lissner L, Stevens J, Levitsky DA, Rasmussen KM & Strupp BJ (1988) Variation in energy intake during the menstrual cycle: implications for food-intake research. *Am J Clin Nutr* **48**, 956-962.
- Liu S, Willett WC, Stampfer MJ, Hu FB, Franz M, Sampson L, Hennekens CH & Manson JE (2000) A prospective study of dietary glycemic load, carbohydrate intake, and risk of coronary heart disease in US women. *Am J Clin Nutr* **71**, 1455-1461.
- Livingstone MBE, Robson PJ, Welch RW, Burns AA, Burrows MS & McCormack C (2000) Methodological issues in the assessment of satiety. *Scand J Nutr* **44**, 98-103.
- Low AG (1990) Nutritional regulation of gastric secretion, digestion and emptying. *Nutr Res Rev* **3**, 229-252.
- Lucas PW & Luke DA (1984) Optimum mouthful for food comminution in human mastication. *Arch Oral Biol* **29**, 205-210.
- Ludwig DS, Majzoub JA, Al-Zahrani A, Dallal GE, Blanco I & Roberts SB (1999) High glycemic index foods, overeating, and obesity. *Pediatrics* **103**, E26.
- Ludwig DS, Peterson KE & Gortmaker SL (2001) Relation between consumption of sugar-sweetened drinks and childhood obesity: a prospective, observational analysis. *Lancet* **357**, 505-508.
- Mackie DA & Pangborn RM (1990) Mastication and its influence on human salivary flow and alpha-amylase secretion. *Physiol Behav* **47**, 593-595.
- MAFF (1993) Food portion sizes, 2 ed. London: HMSO.
- Malik VS, Schulze MB & Hu FB (2006) Intake of sugar-sweetened beverages and weight gain: a systematic review. *Am J Clin Nutr* **84**, 274-288.
- Marchylo BA & Dexter JE (2001) Pasta production. In *Cereals processing technology* [WG Owens, editor]. London: CRC press.
- Marks JB & Raskin P (2000) Cardiovascular risk in diabetes: a brief review. J Diabetes Complications 14, 108-115.
- Mars M, Hogenkamp PS, Gosses AM, Stafleu A & De Graaf C (2009) Effect of viscosity on learned satiation. *Physiol Behav* **98**, 60-66.
- Mattes R (2006a) Fluid calories and energy balance: the good, the bad, and the uncertain. *Physiol Behav* **89**, 66-70.
- Mattes RD (1996) Dietary compensation by humans for supplemental energy provided as ethanol or carbohydrate in fluids. *Physiol Behav* **59**, 179-187.
- Mattes RD (2006b) Beverages and positive energy balance: the menace is in the medium. *International Journal of Obesity* **30**, S60-S65.
- Mattes RD & Rothacker D (2001) Beverage viscosity is inversely related to postprandial hunger in humans. *Physiol Behav* **74**, 551-557.
- Mayer J (1953) Glucostatic mechanism of regulation of food intake. *N Engl J Med* **249**, 13-16.
- McKiernan F & Mattes RD (2010) Effects of Peanut Processing on Masticatory Performance during Variable Appetitive States. *J Nutr Metab* **2010**.
- Melanson KJ, Westerterp-Plantenga MS, Campfield LA & Saris WH (1999a) Appetite and blood glucose profiles in humans after glycogen-depleting exercise. *J Appl Physiol* **87**, 947-954.
- Melanson KJ, Westerterp-Plantenga MS, Campfield LA & Saris WH (1999b) Blood glucose and meal patterns in time-blinded males, after aspartame,

carbohydrate, and fat consumption, in relation to sweetness perception. Br J Nutr 82, 437-446.

- Melanson KJ, Westerterp-Plantenga MS, Saris WH, Smith FJ & Campfield LA (1999c) Blood glucose patterns and appetite in time-blinded humans: carbohydrate versus fat. *Am J Physiol* **277**, R337-345.
- Merrill EP, Kramer FM, Cardello A & Schutz H (2002) A comparison of satiety measures. *Appetite* **39**, 181-183.
- Meyer B, Beglinger C, Neumayer M & Stalder GA (1989) Physical characteristics of indigestible solids affect emptying from the fasting human stomach. *Gut* **30**, 1526-1529.
- Meyer JH (1980) Gastric emptying of ordinary food: effect of antrum on particle size. *Am J Physiol* **239**, G133-135.
- Meyer JH, Elashoff J, Porter-Fink V, Dressman J & Amidon GL (1988) Human postprandial gastric emptying of 1-3-millimeter spheres. *Gastroenterology* **94**, 1315-1325.
- Meyer JH, Ohashi H, Jehn D & Thomson JB (1981) Size of liver particles emptied from the human stomach. *Gastroenterology* **80**, 1489-1496.
- Mioche L & Martin J-F (1998) Training and sensory judgement effects on mastication as studied by Electromyography. *J Food Sci* **63**, 1-5.
- Mishra S & Monro JA (2009) Digestibility of starch fractions in wholegrain rolled oats. *J Cereal Sci* **50**, 61-66.
- Mishra S, Monro JA & Heddeley D (2008) Effect of processing on slowly digestible starch and resistant starch in potato. *Starch* **60**, 500-507.
- Mitra A, Bhattacharya D & Roy S (2007) Role of resistant starches particularly rice containing resistant starches in type 2 diabetes. *J Hum Ecol* **21**, 47-51.
- Modigliani R & Bernier JJ (1971) Absorption of glucose, sodium, and water by the human jejunum studied by intestinal perfusion with a proximal occluding balloon and at variable flow rates. *Gut* **12**, 184-193.
- Monro JA, Mishra S & Venn B (2010) Baselines representing blood glucose clearance improve in vitro prediction of the glycaemic impact of customarily consumed food quantities. *Br J Nutr* **103**, 295-305.
- Moore MC, Cherrington AD & Wasserman DH (2003) Regulation of hepatic and peripheral glucose disposal. *Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab* **17**, 343-364.
- Moorehead SA, Welch RW, Livingstone BM, McCourt M, Burns AA & Dunne A (2006) The effects of the fibre content and physical structure of carrots on satiety and subsequent intakes when eaten as part of a mixed meal. *Br J Nutr* **96**, 587-595.
- Mourao DM, Bressan J, Campbell WW & Mattes RD (2007) Effects of food form on appetite and energy intake in lean and obese young adults. *Int J Obes (Lond)* **31**, 1688-1695.
- Mourot J, Thouvenot P, Couet C, Antoine JM, Krobicka A & Debry G (1988) Relationship between the rate of gastric emptying and glucose and insulin responses to starchy foods in young healthy adults. *Am J Clin Nutr* **48**, 1035-1040.
- Mrdjenovic G & Levitsky DA (2003) Nutritional and energetic consequences of sweetened drink consumption in 6- to 13-year-old children. *J Pediatr* **142**, 604-610.

- Must A, Spadano J, Coakley EH, Field AE, Colditz G & Dietz WH (1999) The disease burden associated with overweight and obesity. *Jama* **282**, 1523-1529.
- Naslund E, Bogefors J, Skogar S, Gryback P, Jacobsson H, Holst JJ & Hellstrom PM (1999) GLP-1 slows solid gastric emptying and inhibits insulin, glucagon, and PYY release in humans. *Am J Physiol* **277**, R910-916.
- Nesher R & Cerasi E (2002) Modeling phasic insulin release: immediate and timedependent effects of glucose. *Diabetes* **51 Suppl 1**, S53-59.
- NHS (2006) Statistics on Obesity, Physical Activity and Diet: England: National Health Service.
- NHS (2009) Statistics on obesity, physical activity and diet: England, February 2009. London: The National Health Service Information Centre.
- Nicklas TA, Yang SJ, Baranowski T, Zakeri I & Berenson G (2003) Eating patterns and obesity in children. The Bogalusa Heart Study. *Am J Prev Med* **25**, 9-16.
- Nielsen SJ & Popkin BM (2004) Changes in beverage intake between 1977 and 2001. Am J Prev Med 27, 205-210.
- Nordlie RC, Foster JD & Lange AJ (1999) Regulation of glucose production by the liver. *Annu Rev Nutr* **19**, 379-406.
- Normand S, Khalfallah Y, Louche-Pelissier C, Pachiaudi C, Antoine JM, Blanc S, Desage M, Riou JP & Laville M (2001) Influence of dietary fat on postprandial glucose metabolism (exogenous and endogenous) using intrinsically (13)Cenriched durum wheat. *Br J Nutr* **86**, 3-11.
- Norton GN, Anderson AS & Hetherington MM (2006) Volume and variety: relative effects on food intake. *Physiol Behav* 87, 714-722.
- O'Dea K, Nestel PJ & Antonoff L (1980) Physical factors influencing postprandial glucose and insulin responses to starch. *Am J Clin Nutr* **33**, 760-765.
- Obici S, Feng Z, Karkanias G, Baskin DG & Rossetti L (2002) Decreasing hypothalamic insulin receptors causes hyperphagia and insulin resistance in rats. *Nat Neurosci* **5**, 566-572.
- Oh IS, Shimizu H, Satoh T, Okada S, Adachi S, Inoue K, Eguchi H, Yamamoto M, Imaki T, Hashimoto K, Tsuchiya T, Monden T, Horiguchi K, Yamada M & Mori M (2006) Identification of nesfatin-1 as a satiety molecule in the hypothalamus. *Nature* **443**, 709-712.
- Panlasigui LN & Thompson LU (2006) Blood glucose lowering effects of brown rice in normal and diabetic subjects. *Int J Food Sci Nutr* **57**, 151-158.
- Panlasigui LN, Thompson LU, Juliano BO, Perez CM, Yiu SH & Greenberg GR (1991) Rice varieties with similar amylose content differ in starch digestibility and glycemic response in humans. *Am J Clin Nutr* **54**, 871-877.
- Pedersen AM, Bardow A, Jensen SB & Nauntofte B (2002) Saliva and gastrointestinal functions of taste, mastication, swallowing and digestion. *Oral Dis* **8**, 117-129.
- Peracchi M, Santangelo A, Conte D, Fraquelli M, Tagliabue R, Gebbia C & Porrini M (2000) The physical state of a meal affects hormone release and postprandial thermogenesis. *Br J Nutr* **83**, 623-628.
- Pereira MA (2006) The possible role of sugar sweetened beverages in obesity etiology: a review of the evidence *Int J Obes* **30**, S28--S36.
- Perfetti R & Merkel P (2000) Glucagon-like peptide-1: a major regulator of pancreatic beta-cell function. *Eur J Endocrinol* **143**, 717-725.
- Peyron MA, Mishellany A & Woda A (2004) Particle size distribution of food boluses after mastication of six natural foods. *J Dent Res* **83**, 578-582.

- Polivy J & Herman CP (1987) Diagnosis and treatment of normal eating. *J Consulting* and Clinical Psych **55**, 635-644.
- Polonsky KS, Given BD, Hirsch L, Shapiro ET, Tillil H, Beebe C, Galloway JA, Frank BH, Karrison T & Van Cauter E (1988a) Quantitative study of insulin secretion and clearance in normal and obese subjects. *J Clin Invest* **81**, 435-441.
- Polonsky KS, Given BD & Van Cauter E (1988b) Twenty-four-hour profiles and pulsatile patterns of insulin secretion in normal and obese subjects. *J Clin Invest* **81**, 442-448.
- Powley TL & Berthoud HR (1985) Diet and cephalic phase insulin responses. *Am J Clin Nutr* **42**, 991-1002.
- Raben A, Tagliabue A & Astrup A (1995) The reproducibility of subjective appetite scores. *Br J Nutr* **73**, 517-530.
- Ranawana DV, Henry CJ, Lightowler HJ & Wang D (2009) Glycaemic index of some commercially available rice and rice products in Great Britain. *Int J Food Sci Nutr* **60 Suppl 4**, 99-110.
- Read NW & Houghton LA (1989) Physiology of gastric emptying and pathophysiology of gastroparesis. *Gastroenterol Clin North Am* **18**, 359-373.
- Read NW, Welch IM, Austen CJ, Barnish C, Bartlett CE, Baxter AJ, Brown G, Compton ME, Hume KE, Storie I & et al. (1986) Swallowing food without chewing; a simple way to reduce postprandial glycaemia. *Br J Nutr* **55**, 43-47.
- Rennie KL & Jebb SA (2005) Prevalence of obesity in Great Britain. *Obes Rev* 6, 11-12.
- Roberts SB (2003) Glycemic index and satiety. Nutr Clin Care 6, 20-26.
- Rodin J (1990) Comparative effects of fructose, aspartame, glucose, and water preloads on calorie and macronutrient intake. *Am J Clin Nutr* **51**, 428-435.
- Rodin J, Reed D & Jamner L (1988) Metabolic effects of fructose and glucose: implications for food intake. *Am J Clin Nutr* **47**, 683-689.
- Rodin J, Wack J, Ferrannini E & DeFronzo RA (1985) Effect of insulin and glucose on feeding behavior. *Metabolism* **34**, 826-831.
- Rogers PJ & Blundell JE (1989) Separating the actions of sweetness and calories: effects of saccharin and carbohydrates on hunger and food intake in human subjects. *Physiol Behav* **45**, 1093-1099.
- Rogers PJ, Burley VJ, Alikhanizadeh LA & Blundell JE (1995) Postingestive inhibition of food intake by aspartame: importance of interval between aspartame administration and subsequent eating. *Physiol Behav* **57**, 489-493.
- Rogers PJ, Carlyle JA, Hill AJ & Blundell JE (1988) Uncoupling sweet taste and calories: comparison of the effects of glucose and three intense sweeteners on hunger and food intake. *Physiol Behav* **43**, 547-552.
- Rohleder N & Nater UM (2009) Determinants of salivary alpha-amylase in humans and methodological considerations. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* **34**, 469-485.
- Rohleder N, Wolf JM, Maldonado EF & Kirschbaum C (2006) The psychosocial stressinduced increase in salivary alpha-amylase is independent of saliva flow rate. *Psychophysiology* **43**, 645-652.
- Rolls BJ (2009) The relationship between dietary energy density and energy intake. *Physiol Behav* **97**, 609-615.
- Rolls BJ & Bell EA (1999) Intake of fat and carbohydrate: role of energy density. *Eur J Clin Nutr* **53 Suppl 1**, S166-173.

- Rolls BJ, Bell EA & Thorwart ML (1999) Water incorporated into a food but not served with a food decreases energy intake in lean women. *Am J Clin Nutr* **70**, 448-455.
- Rolls BJ, Castellanos VH, Halford JC, Kilara A, Panyam D, Pelkman CL, Smith GP & Thorwart ML (1998) Volume of food consumed affects satiety in men. *Am J Clin Nutr* **67**, 1170-1177.
- Rolls BJ, Fedoroff IC & Guthrie JF (1991) Gender differences in eating behavior and body weight regulation. *Health Psychol* **10**, 133-142.
- Rolls BJ, Kim S & Fedoroff IC (1990) Effects of drinks sweetened with sucrose or aspartame on hunger, thirst and food intake in men. *Physiol Behav* **48**, 19-26.
- Rolls BJ & McDermott TM (1991) Effects of age on sensory-specific satiety. *Am J Clin Nutr* **54**, 988-996.
- Rolls BJ, Roe LS, Meengs JS & Wall DE (2004) Increasing the portion size of a sandwich increases energy intake. *J Am Diet Assoc* **104**, 367-372.
- Rolls BJ, Rowe EA, Rolls ET, Kingston B, Megson A & Gunary R (1981) Variety in a meal enhances food intake in man. *Physiol Behav* **26**, 215-221.
- Ross SW, Brand JC, Thorburn AW & Truswell AS (1987) Glycemic index of processed wheat products. *Am J Clin Nutr* **46**, 631-635.
- Russell K & Delahunty C (2004) The effect of viscosity and volume on pleasantness and satiating power of rice milk. *Food Qual Pref* **15**, 743-750.
- Salmeron J, Ascherio A, Rimm EB, Colditz GA, Spiegelman D, Jenkins DJ, Stampfer MJ, Wing AL & Willett WC (1997a) Dietary fiber, glycemic load, and risk of NIDDM in men. *Diabetes Care* **20**, 545-550.
- Salmeron J, Manson JE, Stampfer MJ, Colditz GA, Wing AL & Willett WC (1997b) Dietary fiber, glycemic load, and risk of non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus in women. *Jama* **277**, 472-477.
- Santangelo A, Peracchi M, Conte D, Fraquelli M & Porrini M (1998) Physical state of meal affects gastric emptying, cholecystokinin release and satiety. *Br J Nutr* **80**, 521-527.
- Savage AP, Adrian TE, Carolan G, Chatterjee VK & Bloom SR (1987) Effects of peptide YY (PYY) on mouth to caecum intestinal transit time and on the rate of gastric emptying in healthy volunteers. *Gut* **28**, 166-170.
- Scannapieco FA, Torres G & Levine MJ (1993) Salivary alpha-amylase: role in dental plaque and caries formation. *Crit Rev Oral Biol Med* **4**, 301-307.
- Schauberger G, Brinck UC, Guldner G, Spaeth R, Niklas L & Otto H (1977) Exchange of carbohydrates according to their effect on blood glucose. *Diabetes* **26**, 415 (Abstract).
- Schommartz B, Ziegler D & Schadewaldt P (1998) Significance of diagnostic parameters in [13C]octanoic acid gastric emptying breath tests. *Isotopes Environ Health Stud* **34**, 135-143.
- Schulze MB, Manson JE, Ludwig DS, Colditz GA, Stampfer MJ, Willett WC & Hu FB (2004) Sugar-sweetened beverages, weight gain, and incidence of type 2 diabetes in young and middle-aged women. *Jama* **292**, 927-934.
- Schwartz MW, Boyko EJ, Kahn SE, Ravussin E & Bogardus C (1995) Reduced insulin secretion: an independent predictor of body weight gain. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* **80**, 1571-1576.
- Schwartz MW, Woods SC, Porte D, Jr., Seeley RJ & Baskin DG (2000) Central nervous system control of food intake. *Nature* **404**, 661-671.

- Sebastian-Gambaro MA, Liron-Hernandez FJ & Fuentes-Arderiu X (1997) Intra- and inter-individual biological variability data bank. *Eur J Clin Chem Clin Biochem* **35**, 845-852.
- Shide DJ, Caballero B, Reidelberger R & Rolls BJ (1995) Accurate energy compensation for intragastric and oral nutrients in lean males. *Am J Clin Nutr* **61**, 754-764.
- Shiiya T, Nakazato M, Mizuta M, Date Y, Mondal MS, Tanaka M, Nozoe S, Hosoda H, Kangawa K & Matsukura S (2002) Plasma ghrelin levels in lean and obese humans and the effect of glucose on ghrelin secretion. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* **87**, 240-244.
- Siegel JA, Urbain JL, Adler LP, Charkes ND, Maurer AH, Krevsky B, Knight LC, Fisher RS & Malmud LS (1988) Biphasic nature of gastric emptying. *Gut* **29**, 85-89.
- Siegel PS & Pilgrim FJ (1958) The effect of monotony on the acceptance of food. *Am J Psychol* **71**, 756-759.
- Sievenpiper JL, Vuksan V, Wong EY, Mendelson RA & Bruce-Thompson C (1998) Effect of meal dilution on the postprandial glycemic response. Implications for glycemic testing. *Diabetes Care* **21**, 711-716.
- Sjostrom L, Garellick G, Krotkiewski M & Luyckx A (1980) Peripheral insulin in response to the sight and smell of food. *Metabolism* **29**, 901-909.
- Sjostrom L, Smith U, Krotkiewski M & Bjorntorp P (1972) Cellularity in different regions of adipose tissue in young men and women. *Metabolism* **21**, 1143-1153.
- Smith FJ & Campfield LA (1993) Meal initiation occurs after experimental induction of transient declines in blood glucose. *Am J Physiol* **265**, R1423-1429.
- Snow P & O'Dea K (1981) Factors affecting the rate of hydrolysis of starch in food. *Am J Clin Nutr* **34**, 2721-2727.
- Soboleva U, Laurina L & Slaidina A (2005) The masticatory system--an overview. *Stomatologija* **7**, 77-80.
- Sokoloff L (1977) Relation between physiological function and energy metabolism in the central nervous system. *J Neurochem* **29**, 13-26.
- Sorensen LB, Moller P, Flint A, Martens M & Raben A (2003) Effect of sensory perception of foods on appetite and food intake: a review of studies on humans. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord* **27**, 1152-1166.
- Speechly DP & Buffenstein R (2000) Appetite dysfunction in obese males: evidence for role of hyperinsulinaemia in passive overconsumption with a high fat diet. *Eur J Clin Nutr* **54**, 225-233.
- Spence C, Levitan CA, Shankar MU & Zampini M (2010) Does Food Color Influence Taste and Flavor Perception in Humans? *Chem. Percept.* **3**, 68-84.
- Spiller GA, Jensen CD, Pattison TS, Chuck CS, Whittam JH & Scala J (1987) Effect of protein dose on serum glucose and insulin response to sugars. *Am J Clin Nutr* **46**, 474-480.
- Spitzer L & Rodin J (1987) Effects of fructose and glucose preloads on subsequent food intake. *Appetite* **8**, 135-145.
- St-Onge MP, Rubiano F, DeNino WF, Jones A, Jr., Greenfield D, Ferguson PW, Akrabawi S & Heymsfield SB (2004) Added thermogenic and satiety effects of a mixed nutrient vs a sugar-only beverage. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord* **28**, 248-253.
- Stanley S, Wynne K, McGowan B & Bloom S (2005) Hormonal regulation of food intake. *Physiol Rev* **85**, 1131-1158.

- Stork AD, Kemperman H, Erkelens DW & Veneman TF (2005) Comparison of the accuracy of the HemoCue glucose analyzer with the Yellow Springs Instrument glucose oxidase analyzer, particularly in hypoglycemia. *Eur J Endocrinol* **153**, 275-281.
- Strader AD & Woods SC (2005) Gastrointestinal hormones and food intake. *Gastroenterology* **128**, 175-191.
- Striegel-Moore RH, Thompson D, Affenito SG, Franko DL, Obarzanek E, Barton BA, Schreiber GB, Daniels SR, Schmidt M & Crawford PB (2006) Correlates of beverage intake in adolescent girls: the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Growth and Health Study. *J Pediatr* **148**, 183-187.
- Strubbe JH (1994) Regulation of food intake. In *Food intake and energy expenditure* [MS Westerterp-Plantenga, EWHM Fredrix and AB Steffens, editors]. Boca Raton: CRC Press.
- Stubbs RJ, Hughes DA, Johnstone AM, Rowley E, Reid C, Elia M, Stratton R, Delargy H, King N & Blundell JE (2000) The use of visual analogue scales to assess motivation to eat in human subjects: a review of their reliability and validity with an evaluation of new hand-held computerized systems for temporal tracking of appetite ratings. *Br J Nutr* **84**, 405-415.
- Stull AJ, Apolzan JW, Thalacker-Mercer AE, Iglay HB & Campbell WW (2008) Liquid and solid meal replacement products differentially affect postprandial appetite and food intake in older adults. *J Am Diet Assoc* **108**, 1226-1230.
- Stumvoll M, Chintalapudi U, Perriello G, Welle S, Gutierrez O & Gerich J (1995) Uptake and release of glucose by the human kidney. Postabsorptive rates and responses to epinephrine. *J Clin Invest* **96**, 2528-2533.
- Stumvoll M, Meyer C, Mitrakou A, Nadkarni V & Gerich JE (1997) Renal glucose production and utilization: new aspects in humans. *Diabetologia* **40**, 749-757.
- Stunkard AJ & Wolff HG (1956) Studies on the physiology of hunger. I. The effect of intravenous administration of glucose on gastric hunger contractions in man. *J Clin Invest* **35**, 954-963.
- Suzuki H, Fukushima M, Okamoto S, Takahashi O, Shimbo T, Kurose T, Yamada Y, Inagaki N, Seino Y & Fukui T (2005) Effects of thorough mastication on postprandial plasma glucose concentrations in nonobese Japanese subjects. *Metabolism* **54**, 1593-1599.
- Teff K (2000) Nutritional implications of the cephalic-phase reflexes: endocrine responses. *Appetite* **34**, 206-213.
- Teff KL & Kapadia C (2008) Role of postabsorptive endocrine factors on human feeding and regulation of body adiposity. In *Appetite and food intake: Behavioral and physiological considerations* [RBS Harris and RD mattes, editors]. Boca Raton: CRC Press.
- Thompson LU, Yoon JH, Jenkins DJ, Wolever TM & Jenkins AL (1984) Relationship between polyphenol intake and blood glucose response of normal and diabetic individuals. *Am J Clin Nutr* **39**, 745-751.
- Thorburn AW, Brand JC & Truswell AS (1986) Salt and the glycaemic response. Br Med J (Clin Res Ed) 292, 1697-1699.
- Thorne MJ, Thompson LU & Jenkins DJ (1983) Factors affecting starch digestibility and the glycemic response with special reference to legumes. *Am J Clin Nutr* **38**, 481-488.
- Tieken SM, Leidy HJ, Stull AJ, Mattes RD, Schuster RA & Campbell WW (2007) Effects of solid versus liquid meal-replacement products of similar energy

content on hunger, satiety, and appetite-regulating hormones in older adults. *Horm Metab Res* **39**, 389-394.

- Todesco T, Rao AV, Bosello O & Jenkins DJ (1991) Propionate lowers blood glucose and alters lipid metabolism in healthy subjects. *Am J Clin Nutr* **54**, 860-865.
- Torsdottir I, Alpsten M, Andersson D, Brummer RJ & Andersson H (1984) Effect of different starchy foods in composite meals on gastric emptying rate and glucose metabolism. I. Comparisons between potatoes, rice and white beans. *Hum Nutr Clin Nutr* **38**, 329-338.
- Tournier A & Louis-Sylvestre J (1991) Effect of the physical state of a food on subsequent intake in human subjects. *Appetite* **16**, 17-24.
- Tovar J, Granfeldt Y & Bjorck I (1992) Effect of Processing on Blood Glucose and Insulin Responses to Starch in Legumes. *J Agric Food Chem* **40**, 1846-1851.
- Trayhurn P & Bing C (2006) Appetite and energy balance signals from adipocytes. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci* **361**, 1237-1249.
- UKSA (2008) Household food consumption in Great Britain: United Kingdom Statistics Authority.
- Urbain JL & Charkes ND (1995) Recent advances in gastric emptying scintigraphy. *Semin Nucl Med* 25, 318-325.
- Van den Berghe G, Schetz M, Vlasselaers D, Hermans G, Wilmer A, Bouillon R & Mesotten D (2009) Clinical review: Intensive insulin therapy in critically ill patients: NICE-SUGAR or Leuven blood glucose target? J Clin Endocrinol Metab 94, 3163-3170.
- Van Den Driessche M, Van Malderen N, Geypens B, Ghoos Y & Veereman-Wauters G (2000) Lactose-[13C]ureide breath test: a new, noninvasive technique to determine orocecal transit time in children. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr* **31**, 433-438.
- van der Bilt A, Engelen L, Pereira LJ, van der Glas HW & Abbink JH (2006) Oral physiology and mastication. *Physiol Behav* **89**, 22-27.
- Van Itallie TB (1990) The glucostatic theory 1953-1988: roots and branches. Int J Obes 14, 1-10.
- Van Strien T, Frijters JER, Bergers GPA & Defares PB (1986) The Dutch Eating Behavior Questionnaire (DEBQ) for assessment of restrained, emotional and external eating behavior. *Int J Eating Disord* **5**, 747-755.
- Vandeputte GE & Delcour JE (2004) From sucrose to starch granule to starch physical behavior: a focus on rice starch. *Carb Polymers* **58**, 245-266.
- VanderWeele DA (1994) Insulin is a prandial satiety hormone. *Physiol Behav* **56**, 619-622.
- Vansteelandt J & Delcour JA (1999) Characterisation of Starch from Durum Wheat (Triticum durum). *Stärke* **51**, 73-80.
- Vega-Lopez S, Ausman LM, Griffith JL & Lichtenstein AH (2007) Interindividual variability and intra-individual reproducibility of glycemic index values for commercial white bread. *Diabetes Care* **30**, 1412-1417.
- Verdich C, Toubro S, Buemann B, Lysgard Madsen J, Juul Holst J & Astrup A (2001) The role of postprandial releases of insulin and incretin hormones in mealinduced satiety--effect of obesity and weight reduction. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord* **25**, 1206-1214.
- Vermunt SH, Pasman WJ, Schaafsma G & Kardinaal AF (2003) Effects of sugar intake on body weight: a review. *Obes Rev* **4**, 91-99.

- Villar HV, Wangenteen SL, Burks TF & Patton DD (1981) Mechanisms of satiety and gastric emptying after gastric partitioning and bypass. *Surgery* **90**, 229-236.
- Vincent R, Roberts A, Frier M, Perkins AC, MacDonald IA & Spiller RC (1995) Effect of bran particle size on gastric emptying and small bowel transit in humans: a scintigraphic study. *Gut* **37**, 216-219.
- Vosloo MC (2005) Some factors affecting the digestion of glycaemic carbohydrates and the blood glucose response. *J Family Ecol Consumer Sciences* **33**, 1-9.
- Watanabe S & Dawes C (1988) A comparison of the effects of tasting and chewing foods on the flow rate of whole saliva in man. *Arch Oral Biol* **33**, 761-764.
- Westerterp KR (1994) Energy from food. In *Food intake and energy expenditure* [MS Westerterp-Plantenga, EWHM Fredrix and AB Steffens, editors]. Boca Raton: CRC Press.
- WHO (2000) Obesity: preventing and managing the global epidemic. Report of a WHO consultation. *World Health Organ Tech Rep Ser* **894**, i-xii, 1-253.
- WHO (2003) Diet, nutrition and the prevention of chronic disease: Report of a joint WHO/FAO Expert consultation. WHO Technical Report series 916. In WHO Technical Report [WH Organisation, editor. Geneva: World Health Organisation.
- WHO (2006) Obesity and overweight: Fact sheet No. 311. Geneva: World Health Organisation.
- Woda A, Foster K, Mishellany A & Peyron MA (2006a) Adaptation of healthy mastication to factors pertaining to the individual or to the food. *Physiol Behav* **89**, 28-35.
- Woda A, Mishellany A & Peyron MA (2006b) The regulation of masticatory function and food bolus formation. *J Oral Rehabil* **33**, 840-849.
- Woerle HJ, Meyer C, Dostou JM, Gosmanov NR, Islam N, Popa E, Wittlin SD, Welle SL & Gerich JE (2003) Pathways for glucose disposal after meal ingestion in humans. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 284, E716-725.
- Wolever TM & Bolognesi C (1996) Source and amount of carbohydrate affect postprandial glucose and insulin in normal subjects. *J Nutr* **126**, 2798-2806.
- Wolever TM, Brand-Miller JC, Abernethy J, Astrup A, Atkinson F, Axelsen M, Bjorck I, Brighenti F, Brown R, Brynes A, Casiraghi MC, Cazaubiel M, Dahlqvist L, Delport E, Denyer GS, Erba D, Frost G, Granfeldt Y, Hampton S, Hart VA, Hatonen KA, Henry CJ, Hertzler S, Hull S, Jerling J, Johnston KL, Lightowler H, Mann N, Morgan L, Panlasigui LN, Pelkman C, Perry T, Pfeiffer AF, Pieters M, Ramdath DD, Ramsingh RT, Robert SD, Robinson C, Sarkkinen E, Scazzina F, Sison DC, Sloth B, Staniforth J, Tapola N, Valsta LM, Verkooijen I, Weickert MO, Weseler AR, Wilkie P & Zhang J (2008) Measuring the glycemic index of foods: interlaboratory study. *Am J Clin Nutr* 87, 247S-257S.
- Wolever TM, Ip B & Moghaddam E (2006) Measuring glycaemic responses: duplicate fasting samples or duplicate measures of one fasting sample? *Br J Nutr* **96**, 799-802.
- Wolever TM & Jenkins DJ (1985) Application of glycaemic index to mixed meals. Lancet 2, 944.
- Wolever TM, Jenkins DJ, Vuksan V, Josse RG, Wong GS & Jenkins AL (1990) Glycemic index of foods in individual subjects. *Diabetes Care* **13**, 126-132.
- Wolever TM & Miller JB (1995) Sugars and blood glucose control. *Am J Clin Nutr* **62**, 212S-221S; discussion 221S-227S.

- Wolever TM, Vorster HH, Bjorck I, Brand-Miller J, Brighenti F, Mann JI, Ramdath DD, Granfeldt Y, Holt S, Perry TL, Venter C & Xiaomei W (2003) Determination of the glycaemic index of foods: interlaboratory study. *Eur J Clin Nutr* 57, 475-482.
- Wolever TMS (2006) *The Glycemic Index: A physiological classification of dietary carbohydrate.* Wallingford: CABI.
- Woodend DM & Anderson GH (2001) Effect of sucrose and safflower oil preloads on short term appetite and food intake of young men. *Appetite* **37**, 185-195.
- Woods SC (2009) The control of food intake: behavioral versus molecular perspectives. *Cell Metab* **9**, 489-498.
- Woods SC, Gotoh K & Clegg DJ (2003) Gender differences in the control of energy homeostasis. *Exp Biol Med (Maywood)* **228**, 1175-1180.
- Woods SC, Lutz TA, Geary N & Langhans W (2006) Pancreatic signals controlling food intake; insulin, glucagon and amylin. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci* 361, 1219-1235.
- Woolnough JW, Monro JA, Brennan CS & Bird AR (2008) Simulating human carbohydrate digestion in vitro: A review of methods and the need for standardisation. *Int J Food Sci Tech* **43**, 2245-2256.
- Yeomans MR & Bertenshaw EJ (2008) Appetite and food intake: A human experimental perspective. In *Appetite and Food Intake: Behavioral and physiological considerations* [RBS Harris and RD Mattes, editors]. Boca Raton: CRC Press.
- Yoon JH, Thompson LU & Jenkins DJ (1983) The effect of phytic acid on in vitro rate of starch digestibility and blood glucose response. *Am J Clin Nutr* **38**, 835-842.
- YoungHee L & SeungHo OH (2004) Effect of resistant starch on human glycaemic response. *Kor J Commun Nutr* **9**, 528-535.
- Zafra MA, Molina F & Puerto A (2006) The neural/cephalic phase reflexes in the physiology of nutrition. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* **30**, 1032-1044.
- Zhang JV, Ren P-G, Avsian-Kretchmer O, Luo C-W, Rauch R, Klein C & Hsueh AJW (2005) Obestatin, a Peptide Encoded by the Ghrelin Gene, Opposes Ghrelin's Effects on Food Intake. *Science* **310**, 996-999.
- Zijlstra N, de Wijk RA, Mars M, Stafleu A & de Graaf C (2009) Effect of bite size and oral processing time of a semisolid food on satiation. *Am J Clin Nutr* **90**, 269-275.
- Zijlstra N, Mars M, de Wijk RA, Westerterp-Plantenga MS & de Graaf C (2008) The effect of viscosity on ad libitum food intake. *Int J Obes (Lond)* **32**, 676-683.